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HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. is an international specialty insurance

holding company headquartered in Houston, Texas.

HCC'’s operations consist of life, property and casualty insurance companies
which are rated A+ (Superior) by A.M. Best Company and AA (Very

Strong) by Standard & Poor's, underwriting agencies and intermediaries.

HCC specializes in group life, accident and health; aviation; property,

marine and offshore energy; and other specialty insurance and reinsurance.

HCC figs achieved an outstanding record of growth and profitability since
its formation in 1974, through creative but disciplined underwriting, the
prudent use of reinsurance to protect shareholders’ equity, opportunistic

expansion of existing lines of business and strategic acquisitions.

HCC has assets of over S3 billion and shareholders’ equity of over S750
million. With its common stock trading on the NYSE (symbol: HCC) and
a market capitalization of over S1.5 billion, the Company is well positioned

for continued success.

HCC. specializes..in. group
life, - accident-and. health:
aviation; ~property, marine

and offshore “energy; and

other specialty -insurance

and reinsurance:




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Gross written premium ..o, $1,010,075000 S 967,457,000 S 568,331,000
Net written premium ..o, 372,958,000 283,788,000 139,924,000
Net earned premium ..., 342,787,000 267,647,000 141,362,000
Management fees ... 61,795,000 96,058,000 90,713,000
Commission INCOME ..., 43,412,000 49,886,000 58,233,000
Net investment iNCOME...........ccocoeiiiieiies 39,638,000 39,836,000 30,946,000
Total reVeNUE ... 505,461,000 473,603,000 345,565,000
Net €arnings......c.ocooo oo 30,197,000 55,468,000 26,572,000
Earnings per share (diluted)............................ 0.51 1.07 052
Operating earnings ..., 60,079,000 64,279,000 60,839,000
Operating earnings per share (diluted) ... 1.01 1.25 1.20
Cash provided by operating activities............... 105,740,000 137,824,000 43,174,000
Average shares outstanding (diluted).................. 59,619,000 51,619,000 50,646,000
Total investMeNts. ... S 888,466,000 S 711,113,000 S 581,322,000
TOtal @SSELS ..oviiioiiiic 3,219,120,000 2,790,755,000 2,679,737,000
Shareholders equity ... 763,453,000 530,930,000 458,439,000
Book value pershare ..., S 1240 S 1029 S 9.12
GAAP combined ratio............................ 103.7% 95.2% 98.6%*
Statutory combined ratio................o 101.8% 98.1% 104.1%*

*excluding the effect of the provision for reinsurance
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Despite such a tumultuous
year, our Company has
emerged in as good a
condition as it has ever been;
financially strong, highly
rated and in a position to
take advantage of the
opportunities  that now

present themselves.

CHAIRMANY'S LETTER

April, 2002
To Our Shareholders:

2001 was a year that contained everything including three huge losses,
two successful capital offerings and three acquisitions. Despite such a
tumultuous year, our Company has emerged in as good a condition as it
has ever been; financially strong, highly rated and in a position to take
advantage of the opportunities that now present themselves.

Balance sheet integrity is now more important than ever to shareholders,
rating agencies and regulatory authorities. Without many of the industry
issues such as Asbestos and Environmental exposures, derivatives or
finite reinsurance, our Company has very visible assets. In March 2001,
we raised $152.4 million in an equity offering and $172.5 million in a
convertible debt offering in August of the same year. We used these
funds to retire debt, fund acquisitions and contribute capital to our
insurance company subsidiaries in order to keep pace with their growth.
Unlike many of our peer group, none of the funds were used to pay for
catastrophe losses or loss reserve development from prior years.

Liquidity also remains very strong, with cash flow continuing to cover
more than our normal operational needs. In addition, we have an
unfunded $200 million revolving line of credit from our bank group at
very competitive terms, as well as an effective shelf registration for
§750.0 million. At year end 2001, our debt to total capital ratio was 19%.

During 2001, the number and magnitude of catastrophic losses that
impacted our Company were the worst in our history as an insurer,
Major individual claims on Petrobas and Total were easily exceeded by
the horrific events of September 11th. Qur total gross claims from these
three catastrophes were in excess of $245.0 million, but were
substantially reinsured by our catastrophe program and facultative
reinsurance. Net losses from these events had a material impact on our
2001 earnings, but had no effect on the Company's capital. Our
Company continues to conservatively assess its catastrophe exposures
and purchase protection to mitigate all anticipated situations.

Acquisitions remain an important part of our philosophy and 2001 did
not disappoint. The year started with our acquisition of Schanen
Consulting, which provided great synergy with our specialty benefits
agency, HCC Employee Benefits. In the fourth quarter, we completed the
acquisitions of two specialty underwriting agencies, Professional
Indemnity Agency (PIA) and ASU International (ASU). Both companies
provided us with new specialty lines of business on which to help build
our future and we will continue to look for new opportunities.




CHAIRMAN'S LETTER [continued)

Net earnings for the full year 2001 were $30.2 million, or $0.51 per share compared to $55.5
million, or $1.07 per share in the previous year. Earnings were affected by $22.8 million, or
50.38 per share for losses incurred from the September 11th disaster and $29.6 million, or $0.50
per share from discontinued lines of business, which included a $15 million charge for goodwill.

Total revenue increased 7% to $505.5 million for the full year 2001, but is expected to rise
dramatically during 2002 from strong growth in earned premium in all lines of business. We
continue to make our transition to risk bearing revenue as underwriting profitability returns, but a
balanced revenue mix, that includes fees and commissions, is still a part of our long term strategy.

in 2001, our insurance company subsidiaries achieved record premium levels, with net written
premium rising 31% to $373.0 million and net earned premium increasing 28% to $342.8 million,
both compared to the previous year. This growth came from our group life, accident and health
segment, particularly medical stop-loss business, our aviation segment and our London based
property, marine and offshore energy segment. Gross written premium exceeded S1.0 billion for
the first time in our history, but growth slowed as we concentrated more on quality than volume.
As the insurance cycle continues to turn and rates rise, underwriting results should benefit from
the improved market conditions. Qur success will come from our ability to be more selective in
underwriting, not just from charging higher rates or writing more business. Qur emphasis is now
on profitable net premium growth. We expect all underwriting segments to show improvement
in 2002, particularly our Houston Casualty Company branch office in London (HCL). We have
exercised strong underwriting discipline at HCL for the past few years and enter 2002 with no
negative run-off and the personnel to deliver improving results.

Our underwriting agencies have been redefined over the past two years by the integration of
several subsidiaries into our insurance companies, in order to provide more operating efficiency.
The resulting decrease in revenue to the underwriting agency segment will be substantially offset
over time by the increased revenue in the insurance company segment. Our current
underwriting agency operations include HCC Benefits Corporation specializing in medical stop-
loss and our two recent acquisitions, PIA and ASU. PIA located in New York, has several
specialty lines of insurance including professional indemnity, kidnap and ransom and directors
and officers for non-profit organizations. ASU located in Massachusetts, specializes in sports
and other high profile individual disability insurance and contingency insurance, including event
cancellation, contest indemnification, and weather related products. We anticipate our
underwriting agency revenue to rise substantially in 2002.

Our intermediary cperations produced a mediocre result in 2001 as a result of decreased ceded
reinsurance from our insurance company subsidiaries and a general deterioration of gross
margins as the hardening market produced overall reductions in commissions paid.
Commission income for 2001 was $43.4 million down from $49.9 million in 2000. Looking
forward to 2003, we anticipate some increase in revenue due to organic growth from new
business and as increased premiums produce higher commissions, all despite a further
reduction in the amount of our ceded reinsurance.

(continued on next page)
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Shareholders equity and
book value per share have
grown every year since our
Company was founded in
1974, notwithstanding the
effect of catastrophe losses

or other extraordinary events.

CRAIRMAN'S LETTER (continped)

Investment income in 2001 was flat at $39.6 million compared to the
previous year, despite extremely positive cash flow and substantially
increased investment assets, which were offset by the dramatic drop in
yields. 2002 will be a challenging vear for us as we wil] experience lower
rates for the entire year, but this should be somewhat offset by continued
positive cash flow and increasing investment assets. We have a very
conservative investment portfolio with little Or no equities, no
derivatives or high vield securities and a short duration on our fixed
income securities. We are particularly short term at this time as we
perceive higher rates of return are forthcoming later in 2002 and into
2003. This will have a negative effect on our investment income in the
near term, but we believe that it is the best policy for the long term, By
being very liquid as rates rise again, we will be able to extend our
investments at higher rates and also protect the value of our portfolio.

As of December 31, 2001 total assets increased to $3.2 billion, total

investments increased 25% to $888.5 million, shareholders equity

increased 44% to $763.5 million and book value per share increased 21%

to $12.40 all compared to December 3 I, 2000. Shareholders equity and

book value per share have grown every year since our Company was

founded in 1974, notwithstanding the effect of catastrophe
losses, or other extraordinary events.

Without the tragic events of September 11th, our
underwriting result was substantially improved over the
previous year and we €xpect continued success in 2002
and beyond. | am pleased to report that market
conditions are allowing our underwriting staff to once
again become selective, charge an appropriate
premium, improve conditions and fully expect to
achieve an underwriting profit in the business that they
write. Al companies are not created equal and we
continue to strive to excel in our specialty lines of business

Thank you for your loyalty and support and we will do our utmost to
deliver you superior results.

e /.1y

Stephen L. Way
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below has been derived from the Consolidated
Financial Statements. All information contained herein should be read in conjunction with the

Consolidated Financial Statements, the related notes thereto and Management's Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Report.

Statement of Earnings Data

For the years ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)!

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Revenue
Net earned premium .................... $342,787 $267,647  $141,362 S143,100 $162,571
Management fees.................._. 61,795 96,058 90,713 74,045 51,039
Commission income................... 43,412 49,886 58,233 40,804 25,375
Net investment income............... 39,638 39,836 30,946 29,342 27,588
Net realized investment gain (loss) 393 (5321) (4.164) 845 (328)
Other operating income............... 17,436 25,497 28 475 22,268 15,239
Total revenue.................. 505,461 473,603 345 565 310,404 281,484
Expense
Lossand LAE ... 267,390 198,470 109,650 91,302 96,514
Operating expense
Policy acquisition costs, net ... 27,923 23,743 8177 10,978 13,580
Compensation expense........... 69,762 83,086 79,196 57,227 51,994
Provision for reinsurance ........ — — 43 462 — —
Other operating expense......... 71,119 53,274 53,273 36,451 31,935
Merger expense ....................... — — — 107 8,069
Total operating expense ... 168,804 160,103 184,108 104,763 105,578
Interest expense ... 8,884 20,347 12,964 6,021 6,004
Total expense ... 445,078 378,920 306,722 202,086 208,096
Earnings before income
tax provision ..................... 60,383 94,683 38,843 108,318 73,388
Income tax provision................... 30,186 37,202 12,271 35,208 23,305
‘Net earnings before
accounting change ....... 30,197 57,481 26,572 73,110 50,083
Cumulative effect of
accounting change?................. — (2,013) — — —
Net earnings................. S 30,197 S 55468 S 26572 S 73,110 S 50,083




Eamings Per Share Data

For the years ended December 31,
{amounts in thousands, except per share data)’
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Basic Earnings Per Share Data:
Earnings before
accounting change............... S 052 S 113§ 053 S 149 S 1.04

Cumulative effect of
accounting change*............ — (0.04) — — —

Net  arnings .....cococvevves e S 052 § 109 § 053 S 149 S 1.04

Weighted average shares
outstanding ... 58,321 50,742 50,058 48917 47,992

Diluted Earnings Per Share Data:
Earnings before
accounting change ... S 051 S 111§ 052 S 1.46 S 1.02

Cumulative effect of
accounting change ... — (0.04) — — —

Net €arnings ...ococoveeeeeeeeeee S 051 § 107 § 052 S 146 S 1.02

Weighted average shares
outstanding....................... 59,619 51,619 50,646 49,933 49,206

i Cash dividends declared, pershare.... $  0.245 § 022 S 020 S 016 S 0.12

Balance Sheet Data

Total investments S 888,466 S 7i1,113 S 581,322 §525646 S 518,772
Premium, claims and

other receivables 665,965 609,716 636,671 382,885 252,759
Reinsurance recoverables 899,128 789,412 736,485 372,672 176,965
Ceded unearned premium 71,140 114,469 133,657 149,568 84,610
Goodwill and intangible assets 328,815 266,015 263,687 88,043 34,758
Total assets 3,219,120 2,790,755 2,679,737 1,709,643 1,198,353
Loss and LAE payable 1,130,748 944,117 871,104 460,511 275,008
Unearned premium 179,530 190,550 188,524 201,050 152,094
Notes payable 181,928 212,133 242 546 121,600 80,750
Shareholders’ equity 763,453 530,930 458,439 440,430 365,779
Book value per share s 12.40 10.29 9.12 8.94 7.50

1 Certain amounts in the 2000, 1999, 1998, and 1997 selected consolidated financial data have
been reclassified to conform to the 2001 presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on
our net earnings, shareholders' equity, or cash flows.

2 During 2000, we changed certain of our revenue recognition methods for our agencies and
intermediaries to agree to guidance contained in Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff
Accounting Bulletin Number 101 entitled 'Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”. See
Note (1) in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

s Book value per share is calculated by dividing the sum of shares outstanding plus contractually
issuable shares into total shareholders’ equity.




UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
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This report on Form 10-K contains certain ‘forward-looking statements” within the meaning of
Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which are
intended to be covered by the safe harbors created by those laws. We have based these forward-looking
statements on our current expectations and projections about future events. These forward-looking statements
include information about possible or assumed future results of our operations. All statements, other than
statements of historical facts, included or incorporated by reference in this report that address activities, events
or developments that we expect or anticipate may occur in the future, including such things as future capital
expenditures, business strategy, competitive strengths, goals, growth of our business and operations, plans and
references to future successes may be considered forward-looking statements. Also, when we use words such as
“anticipate,” “‘believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “probably” or similar expressions, we are
making forward-looking statements. Many risks and uncertainties may impact the matters addressed in these
forward-looking statements.

FERNT

Many possible events or factors could affect our future financial results and performance. These could
cause our results or performance to differ materially from those we express in our forward-looking statements.
Although we believe that the assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are reasonable, any of
these assumptions, and therefore also the forward-looking statements based on these assumptions, could
themselves prove to be inaccurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking
statements which are included in this report, our inclusion of this information is not a representation by us or
any other person that our objectives and plans will be achieved.

Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made and we will not update these forward-
looking statements unless the securities laws require us to do so. In light of these risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, any forward-looking events discussed in this report may not occur.




PART I

Item 1. Business

Terminology

R ANYY

As used in this report, unless otherwise required by the context, the terms “we,” “us” and “our” refer to
HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, and the term “HCC” refers only to HCC
Insurance Holdings, Inc. All trade names or trademarks appearing in this report are the property of their
respective holders.

Risk Factors
The following factors as well as other information contained in this report should be considered.

If we cannot obtain adequate reinsurance protection for the risks we have underwritten, we will either be
exposed to greater losses from these risks or we will reduce the level of business we underwrite, which will
reduce our revenues.

We purchase reinsurance for significant amounts of risk underwritten by our insurance companies,
especially catastrophe risks. We also purchase reinsurance on risks underwritten by others which we reinsure
through a retrocession agreement. Market conditions beyond our control determine the availability and cost of
the reinsurance protection we purchase, which may affect the level of our business and profitability. For
instance, the natural attrition of reinsurers who exit lines of business, or who curtail their writings, for
economic or other reasons, reduces the capacity of the reinsurance market, causing rates to rise. In addition,
the historical results of reinsurance programs and the availability of capital also affect the availability of
reinsurance. Our reinsurance facilities are generally subject to annual renewal. We cannot assure you that we
can maintain our current reinsurance facilities or that we can obtain other reinsurance facilities in adequate
amounts and at favorable rates. Further, we cannot determine at this time what the present and longer term
effects of the September 11, 2001 attacks or other future possible terrorist attacks which result in catastrophic
losses will have on the reinsurance market in general and on our ability to obtain reinsurance in adequate
amounts and at favorable rates in particular. If we are unable to renew our expiring facilities or to obtain new
reinsurance facilities, either our net exposures would increase or, if we are unwilling to bear an increase in net
exposures, we would have to reduce the level of our underwriting commitments, especially catastrophe
exposed risks. Either of these potential developments could have a material adverse effect on our business. The
lack of available reinsurance may also adversely affect our ability to generate fee and commission income in
our underwriting agency and reinsurance intermediary operations. A reinsurance intermediary structures and
arranges reinsurance between insurers seeking to cede insurance risks and reinsurers willing to assume such
risks.

If the companies that provide our reinsurance do not pay all of our claims, we could incur severe [osses.

We purchase reinsurance by transferring, or ceding, part of the risk we have assumed to a reinsurance
company in exchange for part of the premium we receive in connection with the risk. Although reinsurance
makes the reinsurer liable to us to the extent the risk is transferred or ceded to the reinsurer, it does not relieve
us, the reinsured, of our liability to our policyholders. Accordingly, we bear credit risk with respect to our
reinsurers. We cannot assure you that our reinsurers will pay all of our reinsurance claims, or that they will pay
our claims on a timely basis.

It is presently unclear what effect the attacks of September 11, 2001 will ultimately have on the financial
position of our reinsurers. At present, we can neither determine the extent to which we will be liable, as a
result of the terrorist attacks of September 11, for risks we have ceded to reinsurers, nor can we determine the
extent to which our credit risk with respect to our reinsurers may have increased because the reinsurers are in
a weakened financial position as a result of the September 11 attacks. If we become liable for risks we have
ceded with respect to the September 11 attacks or if our reinsurers cease to meet their obligations to us,
whether because they are in a weakened position as a result of the September 11 attacks or otherwise, our
results of operations and financial position could be materially adversely affected.
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IT we are unsuccessful in competing against larger or more well-established business rivals, our results of
operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.

In our specialty insurance operations, we compete in narrowly-defined niche classes of business such as
the insurance of private aircraft (aviation), and employer sponsored, self-insured medical plans (medical stop-
loss), as distinguished from such general lines of business as automobile or homeowners insurance. We
compete with a large number of other companies in our selected lines of business, including: American
International Group and U.S. Aviation Insurance Group (a subsidiary of Berkshire Hathaway, Inc.) in our
aviation line of business; SAFECO Corporation and Hartford Life, Inc. in our medical stop-loss line of
business; and Underwriters at Lloyd’s, ACE Limited and XL Capital Ltd. in our accident and health line of
business. We face competition both from specialty insurance companies, underwriting agencies and in-
termediaries as well as from diversified financial services companies that are significantly larger than we are
and that have significantly greater financial, marketing and other resources than we do. Some of these
competitors also have longer experience and more market recognition than we do. In addition to competition
in the operation of our business, we face competition from a variety of sources in attracting and retaining
qualified employees.

We cannot assure you that we will maintain our current competitive position in the markets in which we
operate, or that we will be able to expand our operations into new markets. If we fail to do so, our business
could be materially adversely affected.

Because we are a property and casualty insurer, unforeseen catastrophic losses may adversely affect our
results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.

Property and casualty insurers are subject to claims arising out of catastrophes that may have a significant
effect on their results of operations, liquidity and financial condition. Catastrophic losses have had a significant
impact on our results. Catastrophes can be caused by various events, including hurricanes, windstorms,
earthquakes, hailstorms, explosions, severe winter weather and fires and may include man-made events, such
as the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks on the World Trade Center. The incidence, frequency and severity
of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable. The extent of losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the
total amount of insured exposure in the area affected by the event and the severity of the event. Most
catastrophes are restricted to small geographic areas; however, hurricanes, earthquakes and terrorist attacks
may produce significant damage in large, heavily populated areas. Catastrophes can cause losses in a variety of
our property and casualty lines, and most of our past catastrophe-related claims have resulted from hurricanes
and earthquakes; however, as a result of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, we experienced the largest
single loss to our insurance company operations in our history. Insurance companies are not permitted to
reserve for a catastrophe until it has occurred. In 2002, we expect that approximately 10% of our current
business may be affected by catastrophes. It is therefore possible that a catastrophic event or multiple
catastrophic events could have material adverse effect upon our results of operations, liquidity and financial
condition.

Because we operate internationally, Auctuations in currency exchange rates may affect our receivable and
payable balances and our reserves, which may adversely affect our results of operations and financial
condition.

We underwrite insurance coverages which are denominated in a number of foreign currencies, and we
establish and maintain our loss reserves with respect to these policies in their respective currencies. Our net
earnings could be adversely affected by exchange rate fluctuations, which would adversely affect receivable
and payable balances and reserves. Our principal area of exposure relates to fluctuations in exchange rates
between the major European currencies (particularly the British pound sterling) and the U.S. dollar.
Consequently, a change in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the British pound sterling could have
an adverse effect on our net earnings.

On a limited basis, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts as a hedge against foreign currency
fluctuations. The foreign currency forward contracts are used to convert currency at a known rate in an amount
that approximates average monthly expenses. Thus, the effect of these transactions is to limit the foreign
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currency exchange risk of the recurring monthly expenses. We use these foreign currency forward contracts
strictly as a hedge against existing exposure to foreign currency fluctuations rather than as a form of
speculative or trading investment.

If we fail to comply with extensive state, federal and foreign regulations, we will be subject to penalties,
which may include fines and suspension and which may adversely affect our results of operatiens and
financial condition.

We are subject to extensive governmental regulation and supervision. Most insurance regulations are
designed to protect the interests of policyholders rather than shareholders and other investors. This regulation,
generally administered by a department of insurance in each state in which we do business, relates to, among
other things:

> approval of policy forms and premium rates;

o standards of solvency, including risk-based capital measurements (which are a measure developed by
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and used by state insurance regulators to
identify insurance companies that potentially are inadequately capitalized);

¢ licensing of insurers and their agents;

o restrictions on the nature, quality and concentration of investments;

e restrictions on the ability of our insurance companies to pay dividends to us;

= restrictions on transactions between insurance companies and their affiliates;

e restrictions on the size of risks insurable under a single policy;

o requiring deposits for the benefit of policyholders;

o requiring certain methods of accounting;

 periodic examinations of our operations and finances;

o prescribing the form and content of records of financial condition required to be filed; and
o requiring reserves for unearned premium, losses and other purposes.

State insurance departments also conduct periodic examinations of the affairs of insurance companies and
require the filing of annual and other reports relating to the financial condition of insurance companies, holding
company issues and other matters.

Recently adopted federal financial services modernization legislation is expected to lead to additional
federal regulation of the insurance industry in the coming years. Also, foreign governments regulate our
international operations. Qur business depends on compliance with applicable laws and regulations and our
ability to maintain valid licenses and approvals for our operations.

Some regulatory authorities have relatively broad discretion to grant, renew, or revoke licenses and
approvals. Regulatory authorities may deny or revoke licenses for various reasons, including the violation of
regulations. In some instances, we follow practices based on our interpretations of regulations, or those that we
believe to be generally followed by the industry, which may be different from the requirements or
interpretations of regulatory authorities. If we do not have the requisite licenses and approvals and do not
comply with applicable regulatory requirements, the insurance regulatory authorities could preclude or
temporarily suspend us from carrying on some or all of our activities or otherwise penalize us. That type of
action could have a material adverse effect on our business. Also, changes in the level of regulation of the
insurance industry (whether federal, state or foreign), or changes in laws or regulations themselves or
interpretations by regulatory authorities, could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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If the rating agencies downgrade our company or our insurance companies, our results of operations and
competitive position in the industry may suffer.

Ratings have become an increasingly important factor in establishing the competitive position of
insurance companies. Qur insurance companies are rated by A.M. Best Company, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s
Corporation. A.M. Best Company, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Corporation ratings reflect their opinions of an
insurance company’s and insurance holding company’s financial strength, operating performance, strategic
position, and ability to meet its obligations to policyholders, and are not evaluations directed to investors. Our
ratings are subject to periodic review by A.M. Best Company, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Corporation and the
continued retention of those ratings cannot be assured. If our ratings are reduced from their current levels by
A.M. Best Company, Inc. and/or Standard & Poor’s Corporation, our results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Our loss reserves are based on an estimate of our future liability. If actual claims prove to be greater than our
reserves, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

We maintain loss reserves to cover our estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses,
including legal and other fees as well as a portion of our general expenses, for reported and unreported claims
incurred as of the end of each accounting period. Reserves do not represent an exact calculation of liability.
Rather, reserves represent an estimate of what we expect the ultimate settlement and administration of claims
will cost. These estimates, which generally involve actuarial projections, are based on our assessment of facts
and circumstances then known, as well as estimates of future trends in claims severity, frequency, judicial
theories of liability and other factors. These variables are affected by both internal and external events, such as
changes in claims handling procedures, inflation, judicial trends and legislative changes. Many of these items
are not directly quantifiable in advance. Additionally, there may be a significant reporting lag between the
occurrence of the insured event and the time it is reported to us. The inherent uncertainties of estimating
reserves are greater for certain types of liabilities, particularly those in which the various considerations
affecting the type of claim are subject to change and in which long periods of time may elapse before a
definitive determination of liability is made. Reserve estimates are continually refined in a regular and ongoing
process as experience develops and further claims are reported and settled. Adjustments to reserves are
reflected in the results of the periods in which such estimates are changed. Because setting reserves is
inherently uncertain, there can be no assurance that current reserves will prove adequate in light of subsequent
events.

We have recorded a pre-tax gross loss related to the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 of
$141.0 million and a pre-tax net loss of $35.0 million. We believe our estimates of gross and net losses to be
reasonable, but they may be subject to adjustment as we receive additional information from our clients and
producers. It is difficult to fully estimate our losses from the September 11, 2001 attacks given the uncertain
nature of the damage theories related to insurance claims made in connection with the attacks.

We invest a significant amount of our assets in fixed income securities that have experiemced market
Auctuations. Fluctuations in the fair market value of fixed income securities may greatly reduce the value of
our investment portfelio, and as a result, our financial condition may suffer.

As of December 31, 2001, $525.4 million of our $888.5 million investment portfolio was invested in fixed
income securities. The fair market value of these fixed income securities and the investment income from
these fixed income securities fluctuate depending on general economic and market conditions. With respect to
our investments in fixed income securities, the fair market value of these investments generally increases or
decreases in an inverse relationship with fluctuations in interest rates, while net investment income realized by
us from future investments in fixed income securities will generally increase or decrease with interest rates. In
addition, actual net investment income and/or cash flows from investments that carry prepayment risk (such
as mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities) may differ from those anticipated at the time of
investment as a result of interest rate fluctuations. An investment has prepayment risk when there is a risk that
the timing of cash flows that result from the repayment of principal might occur earlier than anticipated
because of declining interest rates or later than anticipated because of rising interest rates. Historically, the
impact of market fluctuations has affected our financial statements. Because all of our fixed income securities
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are classified as available for sale, changes in the fair market value of our securities are reflected in our other
comprehensive income. Similar treatment is not available for liabilities. Therefore, interest rate fluctuations
could adversely affect our generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, shareholders’ equity, total
comprehensive income and/or our cash flows. Historically, the impact of market fluctuations has affected our
financial statements. Unrealized pre-tax net investment gains (losses) on investments in fixed-income
securities were $0.7 million, $11.9 million and ($19.0) million for the years ended 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.

If states drastically increase the assessment our insurance cempanies are required to pay, our results of
operations and financial condition will suffer.

Our insurance companies are subject to assessments in most states where we are licensed for the
provision of funds necessary for the settlement of covered claims under certain policies provided by impaired,
insolvent or failed insurance companies. Maximum contributions required by law in any one year vary by state
and have historically been between 1% and 2% of annual premiums written. We cannot predict with certainty
the amount of future assessments. Significant assessments could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations.

If we are unable to obtain dividends in needed amounts from our insuramce compamies as a result of
regulatory restrictions, we may not be able to meet our debt, dividend, and expense obligations.

Our principal assets are the shares of capital stock of our insurance companies. We may rely on dividends
from our insurance companies to meet our obligations for paying principal and interest on outstanding debt
obligations, dividends to shareholders and corporate expenses. The payment of dividends by our insurance
companies is subject to regulatory restrictions and will depend on the surplus and future earnings of these
subsidiaries, as well as the regulatory restrictions. As a result, should our other sources of funds prove to be
inadequate, we may not be able to receive dividends from our insurance companies at times and in amounts
necessary to meet our obligations.

Business Overview

We provide life, accident and health and property and casualty insurance coverages, underwriting agency
and intermediary services both to commercial customers and individuals. We concentrate our activities in
selected narrowly defined specialty lines of business. We operate primarily in the United States and the United
Kingdom, although some of our operations have a broader international scope. We underwrite insurance both
on a direct basis, where we insure a risk in exchange for a premium, and on a reinsurance basis, where we
insure all or a portion of another insurance company’s risk in exchange for all or a portion of the premium. We
market our insurance products both directly to customers and through a network of independent or affiliated
agents and brokers.

HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. is a Delaware corporation, which was formed in 1991. Its predecessor
corporation was formed in 1974. Our principal executive offices are located at 13403 Northwest Freeway,
Houston, Texas 77040 and our telephone number is (713) 690-7300. We maintain a World Wide Web-site at
www.hcch.com. The reference to our World Wide Web address does not constitute the incorporation by
reference of the information contained at this site in this report.

Since our founding, we have been consistently profitable, generally reporting annual increases in gross
written premium and total revenue. During the period 1997 through 2001, we had an average statutory
combined ratio of 98.3% versus the less favorable 106.3% (1997-2000) recorded by the U.S. property and
casualty insurance industry overall. During the same period, our gross written premium increased from
$346.4 million to $1.0 billion, an increase of 192% while net written premium increased 161% from
$142.9 million to $373.0 million. During this period, our revenue increased from $281.5 million to
$505.5 million, an increase of 80%.

During the period December 31, 1997 through December 31, 2001, our shareholders’ equity increased
from $365.8 million to $763.5 million, a 109% increase. During the same period, our assets increased from
$1.2 billion to $3.2 billion, a 169% increase.




Cur insurance companies are risk-bearing and focus their underwriting activities on providing insurance
and/or reinsurance in the following lines of business:

> life, accident and health ° marine, energy and property
° aviation o other specialty lines

In the United States, Avemco Insurance Company, U.S. Specialty Insurance Company and HCC Life
Insurance Company operate on an admitted, or licensed, basis. Houston Casualty Company operates on a
surplus lines basis as a non-admitted, or unlicensed, insurer offering insurance coverage not otherwise available
from an admitted insurer in the relevant state.

Our operating property and casualty insurance companies are rated “A+ (Superior)” (2nd of 16 ratings)
by A.M. Best Company, Inc. and “AA (Very Strong)” (3rd of 22 ratings) by Standard and Poor’s
Corporation, two nationally recognized independent rating agencies. Our life insurance company is rated “A
(Excellent)” (3rd of 16 ratings) by A.M. Best Company, Inc. These ratings are intended to provide an
independent opinion of an insurer’s ability to meet its obligations to policyholders and are not evaluations
directed at investors.

Our underwriting agencies underwrite on behalf of our insurance companies and other insurance
companies. They receive fees for these services and do not bear any of the insurance risk of the companies for
which they underwrite. Qur underwriting agencies generate revenues based entirely on management fees and
profit commissions and specialize in life, accident and health, contingency (including contest indemnification,
event cancellation, and weather coverages), directors and officers liability, individual disability (for athletes
and other high profile individuals), kidnap and ransom, professional liability insurance and other specialty
lines of business. Qur principal underwriting agencies, ASU International, LLC, HCC Benefits Corporation
and Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc.

In 2001 and 2002 we consolidated the operations of several of our agencies with certain of our insurance
companies to improve operational efficiencies.

Our combined gross written premium in 2001 was over $1.3 billion, after intercompany eliminations. Our
insurance companies wrote $1.0 billion of gross premium and our underwriting agencies wrote $308.1 million
of premium, before intercompany eliminations.

Cur intermediaries provide insurance and reinsurance brokerage services for our insurance companies and
our clients, and receive fees for their services. Our intermediaries do not bear any of the insurance risks of their
client companies. They earn commission income and to a lesser extent fees for certain services, generally paid
by the insurance and reinsurance companies with whom the business is placed. These operations consist of:

o consulting on risks by providing information to clients about insurance coverage;
o marketing risks by providing information and assistance on pricing a particular insurance risk;
e placing risks by negotiating with insurers and reinsurers to accept an insurance risk; and

o servicing risks by facilitating the collection of premiums and resolution of claims on behalf of their
clients. ’

Our intermediaries specialize in developing and marketing employee benefit plans on a retail basis and in
placing reinsurance for life, accident and health, and property and casualty lines of business. Cur principal
intermediaries are HCC Intermediaries, [nc., HCC Employee Benefits, Inc. and Rattner Mackenzie Limited.

QOur Strategy

Our business philosophy as an insurer is to maximize underwriting profits while limiting risk in order to
preserve shareholders’ equity and maximize earnings. We concentrate our insurance writings in selected,
narrowly defined lines of business where we believe we can achieve an underwriting profit. We focus on lines of
business that have relatively short lead times between the occurrence of an insured event and the reporting of
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claims. We market our insurance products both directly to customers and through independent or affiliated
agents and brokers.

The property and casualty insurance industry and individual lines of business within the industry are
cyclical in that there are times when a large number of companies offer insurance on certain lines of business,
and the premiums tend to go down, and other times where insurance companies decide to limit their writings
in certain lines of business or suffer from excessive losses, which tends to increase the premiums for those
companies that continue to write insurance in those lines of business. In our insurance company operations, we
believe our operational flexibility, which permits us to shift the focus of our insurance underwriting activity
among our various lines of business and also to shift the emphasis from our insurance risk-bearing business to
our non-insurance fee-based business, as well as our experienced underwriting personnel and access to, and
expertise in, the reinsurance marketplace allow us to implement a strategy of emphasizing more profitable
lines of business during periods of increased premium rates and de-emphasizing less profitable lines of
business during periods of severe competition. In addition, we believe that our underwriting agencies and
intermediaries complement our insurance underwriting activities. Our ability to utilize affiliated insurers,
underwriting agencies and intermediaries permits us to retain a greater portion of the gross revenue derived
from written premium.

Reinsurance enables us to transfer part of the risk we have underwritten through the process of ceding
this risk to a reinsurance company in exchange for part of the premium we receive in connection with the risk.
We purchase reinsurance to limit the net loss from both individual and catastrophic risks to our insurance
companies. The amount of reinsurance we purchase varies by, among other things, the particular risks
inherent in the policies underwritten, the pricing of reinsurance and the competitive conditions within the
relevant line of business.

In 2001, due to a continuing hardening of the respective markets, premium rates in the life, accident and
health, aviation and marine, energy and property lines of business increased. We anticipate continued
improvements in these markets and in all of our lines of business during 2002. In response to these changing
market conditions, we plan to continue to expand the underwriting activities in our insurance
company operations.

We also acquire or make strategic investments in companies that present an opportunity for future profits
or for enhancement of our business. We expect to continue to seek to acquire complementary businesses with
established management and established reputations in the insurance industry. We believe that we can
enhance acquired businesses through the synergies created by our underwriting capabilities and our other
operations. However, our business plan is shaped by our underlying business philosophy, which is to maximize
underwriting profit, while preserving sharcholders’ equity. As a result, our primary objective is to increase net
earnings rather than market share or gross written premium.

In our ongoing operations, we will continue to:

o emphasize the underwriting of lines of business in which premium rates, the availability and cost of
reinsurance, and market conditions warrant; '

o limit our net loss exposure to our insurance companies from a catastrophe loss through the use of
reinsurance; and

o review the potential acquisition of specialty insurance operations and other strategic investments.

Industry Segment Information

Financial information concerning our operations by industry segment is set forth in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Notes thereto.




Major Acquisitions

We have made a series of strategic acquisitions that have furthered our overall business strategy. Cur
recent larger transactions are described below:

On January 31, 1999, we acquired PEPYS Holdings Limited. PEPYS is a holding company for Rattner
Mackenzie Limited. The initial consideration was $54.8 million in cash and deferred payments of $8.3 million
in cash and 414,207 shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2001, we have accrued $0.7 million and
may pay additional amounts in the future based upon the attainment of certain earnings benchmarks through
December 31, 2003. Rattner Mackenzie Limited provides intermediary services for reinsurance business
placed by our insurance companies as well as other insurance and reinsurance companies and underwriting
agencies, primarily in the accident and health area.

On December 20, 1999, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of the publicly traded The Centris
Group, Inc. following a tender offer at a price of $12.50 per share in cash. We paid $149.5 million for The
Ceniris Group, Inc.’s acquisition. The Centris Group, Inc. was the parent corporation of a group of insurance
companies and underwriting agencies principally operating in the medical stop-loss line of business. The
Centris Group, Inc.’s primary insurance company subsidiary was the entity now known as HCC Life
Insurance Company. HCC Life Insurance Company’s operations were relocated to Houston, and it has
become a subsidiary of Houston Casualty Company. The medical stop-loss underwriting agency operations of
The Centris Group, Inc. have been combined with HCC Benefits’ Corporation operations.

On January 19, 2001, we issued 996,805 shares of our common stock to acquire the Schanen Consulting
Corporation and its operating subsidiary, The Schanen Consulting Group, LLC. The Schanen Consulting
Group, LLC provides employee benefit consulting and retail insurance intermediary services and has been
consolidated with HCC Employee Benefits, Inc.’s operations.

On October 22, 2001, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Marshall Rattner, Inc. Marshall
Rattner, Inc. is a holding company for Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. and its related companies. We
paid $63.0 miilion in cash and 300,000 shares of our common stock for the Marshall Rattner, Inc./
Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. acquisition. Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. is an underwriting
agency specializing in the errors and omissions, kidnap and ransom and professional liability areas.

On QOctober 30, 2001, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of ASU International, Inc. and the
membership interests in its affiliate, ASU International, LLC. We paid $29.2 million for the ASU
International, LLC acquisition. ASU International, LLC is an underwriting agency specializing in contin-
gency and disability insurance. We may pay additional amounts in the future based upon the attainment of
certain earnings benchmarks through December 31, 2004.

We continue to evaluate possible acquisition candidates and we may complete additional acquisitions
during 2002. Any future acquisitions will be designed to expand and strengthen our existing lines of business
and perhaps provide access to additional specialty sectors, which we expect to contribute to our overall growth.

Dispositions

In March, 2000, we sold Trafalgar Insurance Company, an Oklahoma domiciled insurance company
subsidiary, for a price which approximated its shareholder’s equity determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP.

In September, 2000, we sold a substantial portion of the assets of The Wheatley Group, Ltd., a subsidiary
of Avemco Corporation.

In September, 2001, we sold substantially all of the assets of Universal Loss Management, Inc., our
aviation claims administration services company for $5.6 million plus an additional amount based on future
revenue of the operation. '




In September, 2001, we sold USF Insurance Company, a Pennsylvania domiciled insurance company and
former subsidiary of The Centris Group, Inc. for approximately $2.0 million in excess of its shareholder’s
equity in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

None of these operations were material to our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Insurance Company Operations
Lines of Business
This table shows our insurance companies’ total premium written, otherwise known as gross written

premium, by line of business and the percentage of each line to total gross written premium for the years
indicated (dollars in thousands):

2001 2000 1999
Life, accident and health .............. $ 629,228 62% $546,702 56% $217,659 38%
Aviation...........oo i 198,015 20 191,089 20 210,029 37
Marine, energy and property............ 83,068 8 64,352 7 82,003 15
Other specialty lines .................. 15,602 2 29281 3 17,962 3

925913 92 831,424 86 527,653 93

Exited and discontinued lines of
business . ...... . 84,162 8 136,033 14 40,678

Total gross written premjum. ... $1,010,075 100% $967,457 100% $568,331 100%

.

This table shows our insurance companies’ actual premium retained, otherwise known as net written
premium, by line of business and the percentage of each line to total net written premium for the years
indicated (dollars in thousands}:

2001 2000 1999
Life, accident and health ............. $188,3580 51% $148,100 52% $ 48,899 35%
Aviation ...... ... ... 98,249 26 79,794 28 68,513 49
Marine, energy and property .......... 34,750 9 16,256 6 9,561 7
Other specialty lines ................. 14,390 4 14,552 3 8,730 6

335,969 90 258,702 91 135,703 97
Exited and discontinued lines of

business ........... ... . 36,989 10 2508 9 4221 3
Total net written premium . ... $372,958  100% $283,788 100% $139,924  100%
Underwriting
Direct

We underwrite direct business produced through independent agents and brokers, affiliated in-
termediaries, and by direct marketing efforts. Our direct underwriting includes general aviation, medical stop-
loss and professional liability business.

Reinsurance

In 2001 and prior years, our insurance companies participated in certain insurance and reinsurance
underwriting pools managed by our underwriting agencies, in the life, accident and health line of business. Our
insurance companies also write facultative, or individual account, reinsurance, particularly in the aviation and
marine, energy and property lines of business. Our facultative underwriting is typically on international
business in order to comply with local licensing requirements or as reinsurance of captive insurance companies
controlled by others, and can be considered direct business for most purposes, since we maintain underwriting
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and claims control. However, we record all of this business under the caption of “Reinsurance Assumed” in
our financial statements.

Life, Accident and Health

We began writing accident and health reinsurance risks through Houston Casualty Company in 1996
through its participation in reinsurance facilities managed by LDG Reinsurance Corporation. Our gross
written premium increased from $114.8 million in 1998 to $128.2 million in 2001. Net written premium in this
area increased because Houston Casualty Company retained a larger percentage of the increased gross
premium. During 2001, we began to produce and underwrite this business directly through Houston Casualty
Company and at the beginning of 2002, we completed the consolidation of LDG Reinsurance Corporation’s
new business operations into Houston Casualty Company. We maintain reinsurance on an excess of loss basis,
where we transfer liability, premium and loss on a non-proportional basis above our net retention of risk to
reinsurers, to protect us against severe losses on individual risks and catastrophe exposures.

We write medical stop-loss business for employer-sponsored, self-insured health plans. Our medical stop-
loss insurance provides coverages to companies, associations and public entities that elect to self-insure their
employee’s medical coverage for losses within specified levels, allowing them to manage the risk of excessive
health insurance exposure by limiting aggregate and specific losses to a predetermined amount. When
measured on a gross written premium basis, medical stop-loss was our largest single line of business in 2001.
We also underwrite a limited program of group life insurance offered to our insureds as complement to our
medical stop-loss products. Group life gross premium in 2001 amounted to $0.7 million. Qur underwriting
agency, HCC Benefits Corporation, produces and underwrites this business on behalf of our insurance
companies. We first began writing this business in our insurance companies in 1997 and gross written premium
and net written premium have increased as a result of greater participation by our insurance companies,
primarily HCC Life Insurance Company and Avemco Insurance Company. HCC Benefits Corporation’s
business has grown both internally and through acquisitions, most notably of The Centris Group, Inc. HCC
Benefits Corporation began underwriting this business in 1980. The 2001 gross written premium in our
medical stop-loss line of business underwritten in our insurance companies was $426.6 million and net written
premium was $140.9 million. We maintain reinsurance on a proportional basis, where we share a proportional
part of the original premium and losses with reinsurers, and believe that these risks carry a relatively low level
of catastrophe exposure.

We began writing alternative workers’ compensation and occupational accident insurance to independent
truckers in 1996. This business is currently written through U.S. Specialty Insurance Company. We maintain
reinsurance on an excess of loss basis. We believe there is a relatively low level of catastrophe exposure in our
alternative workers’ compensation line of business.

Aviation

We have grown into a market leader in the aviation insurance industry. We insure general aviation risks,
both domestically and internationally, including:

° antique and vintage military aircraft o fixed base operations

° cargo operations ¢ military and law enforcement aircraft
o commuter airlines o private aircraft owners and pilots

o corporate aircraft o rotor wing aircraft

We offer coverages that include hulls, engines, avionics and other systems, liabilities, war, cargo and other
ancillary coverages. At this time, we do not generally insure major airlines, major manufacturers or satellites.
Insurance claims related to general aviation business tend to be seasonal, with the majority of the claims being
incurred during the spring and summer months.

We have been underwriting aviation risks through Houston Casualty Company since 1981. Avemco
Insurance Company has been insuring aviation risks since 1959. Our gross written premium has remained
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relatively flat during the period 1998 to 2001. During this period we have successfully re-underwritten our
book of business, removing under-performing classes of business where premium rates were insufficient and
focusing on areas where increasing rates were able to generate profitable business. Our aviation net written
premium increased during the period because we increased our retentions, i.e., the portion of risk that we
retain for our own account.

We maintain reinsurance on both a proportional and excess of loss basis. We believe that the aviation
risks we underwrite carry a relatively low level of catastrophe exposures.
Marine, Energy and Property

We underwrite marine risks for oceangoing vessels as well as inland, coastal trading and fishing vessels.
The marine risks we write include:

o hull and machinery - » marine cargo
o liabilities, including protection and  various ancillary coverages
indemnity

We have underwritten marine risks since 1984, primarily in Houston Casualty Company. Competition
has created downward pressure on premium rates since 1996, causing a reduction in our gross written
premium since 1997 and a corresponding decrease in net written premium. During 2001 we have seen rate
increases that are encouraging and we expect this trend to continue in 2002.

We maintain marine reinsurance on both a facultative and an excess of loss basis. We believe that the
marine risks we underwrite carry a relatively low level of catastrophe exposure.

We have been underwriting energy risks since 1988, primarily in Houston Casualty Company. The energy
risks we write include:

o drilling rigs ° pipelines
° natural gas facilities o production and gathering platforms
> petrochemical plants o refineries

We underwrite physical damage, liabilities, business interruption and various ancillary coverages.-

Rates have been relatively low during the past few years at levels where underwriting profitability has
been difficult to obtain. As a result, we have underwritten offshore energy risks on a very selective basis,
striving for quality rather than quantity. During 2001 we have seen rate increases that are encouraging and we
expect this trend to continue in 2002. '

We maintain energy reinsurance on both a facultative basis and an excess of loss basis to protect us
against severe losses on individual risks and the catastrophe exposure that exists, for example, from a hurricane
or a major platform explosion.

In the property area, we specialize in writing risks of large, often multinational, corporations, covering a
variety of commercial risks including:

o factories o office buildings
< hotels . o retail locations
o industrial plants o utilities

The insurance we offer includes business interruption, physical damage and catastrophe risks including
flood and earthquake.

We have written property business since 1986, primarily through Houston Casualty Company. Gross
written premium declined from $106.5 million in 1998 to $45.0 million in 2001 as premium rates were soft due
in a large part to excess capacity and the absence of significant catastrophe losses. Net written premium
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increased slightly from $8.4 million to $9.5 million in the same period. Cur property gross written premium
exceeds our net written premium by a substantial amount due to the amount of facultative reinsurance, which
is the separately negotiated reinsurance of all or part of the coverage provided by a single policy, and other
reinsurance purchased in order to protect us from catastrophe losses. During 2001 we have seen rate increases
that are encouraging and we expect this trend to continue in 2002.

We maintain reinsurance on both a proportional basis and an excess of loss basis in an effort to ensure
adequate reinsurance protection, particularly against catastrophe exposures. We estimate our aggregate
probable maximum loss in any individual catastrophe zone and maintain catastrophe reinsurance in an amount
we believe will cover such exposure to any one occurrence.

Other Specialty Lines

In addition to the above, we underwrite insurance in a variety of other specialty lines of business, but the
specific lines of business included in this caption are too small at this time to break out separately.

Exited and Discontinued Lines of Business

Our exited and discontinued lines of business include provider excess, lender’s single interest, program
property and casualty and primary statutory workers’ compensation business.

Principal Insurance Comparnies

Houston Casualty Company

Houston Casualty Company is our principal insurance company subsidiary. It is rated “A+ (Superior),
IX (policyholders’ surplus between $250.0 million and $500.0 million)” by A.M. Best Company, Inc. and
“AA (Very Strong)” by Standard & Poor’s Corporation. Houston Casualty Company operates worldwide and
is domiciled and licensed in Texas and operates on a surplus lines basis in 47 states. Houston Casualty
Company receives business through independent agents and brokers, our underwriting agencies and in-
termediaries, and other insurance and reinsurance companies. Houston Casualty Company has a highly
experienced staff of underwriters trained to deal with the high value, complicated exposures prevailing in many
of the lines of business in which we specialize. It is our intention to utilize Houston Casualty Company as an
issuing carrier for certain business underwritten by ASU International, LLC and Professional Indemnity
Agency, Inc. and in 2002 Houston Casualty Company began writing directors and officers liability and
professional liability. As of December 31, 2001, Houston Casualty Company’s policyholders’ surplus was
$285.4 million, which is its total admitted assets less total liabilities determined in accordance with statutory
accounting principles. Houston Casualty Company’s shareholder’s equity in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles was $379.3 million as of December 31, 2001.

In 2001 and 2002, we consolidated the new business operations of our accident and health reinsurance
underwriting agency, LDG Reinsurance Corporation, with those of Houston Casualty Company.

Houston Casualty Company — London

Houston Casualty Company operates a full branch office in the United Kingdom. Houston Casualty
Company established its London branch operation in order to more closely align its underwriting operations
with the London market, a historical focal point for much of the business that Houston Casualty Company
underwrites. Houston Casualty Company - London underwrites accident and health reinsurance, marine,
energy and property business.

HCC Life Insurance Company

HCC Life Insurance Company is an Indiana-domiciled life insurance company which became a direct
subsidiary of Houston Casualty Company in December, 1999 following The Centris Group, Inc. acquisition.
HCC Life Insurance Company is rated “A (Excellent), VII (policyholders’ surplus between $50.0 million
and $100.0 million)” by A.M. Best Company, Inc. and operates as a life, accident and health insurer on an
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admitted basis in 41 states and the District of Columbia. HCC Life Insurance Company is an issuing carrier
for medical stop-loss products produced and underwritten by HCC Benefits Corporation. As of December 31,
2001, HCC Life Insurance Company had statutory policyholders” surplus of $77.1 million and shareholder’s
equity in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles of $88.4 million.

US. Specialty Insurance Company

U.S. Specialty Insurance Company is a Texas-domiciled property and casualty insurance company. It is a
direct subsidiary of Houston Casualty Company. U.S. Specialty Insurance Company is rated “A+ (Superior),
VIII (policyholders’ surplus between $100.0 million and $250.0 million)” by A.M. Best Company, Inc. and
“AA (Very Strong)” by Standard & Poor’s Corporation. U.S. Specialty Insurance Company operates on an
admitted basis throughout the United States, primarily writing general aviation, occupational accident and
alternative workers’ compensation insurance. In September, 2001, we decided that U.S. Specialty Insurance
Company would exit the statutory workers’ compensation market. It is our intention to utilize U.S. Specialty
Insurance Company as an issuing carrier for certain business underwritten by ASU International, LLC and
Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc., and in 2002 U.S. Specialty Insurance Company began writing directors
and officers liability and professional liability business produced by Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. As of
December 31, 2001, U.S. Specialty Insurance Company had statutory policyholders’ surplus of $105.9 million
and shareholder’s equity in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles of $116.3 million.

Avemco Insurance Company

Avemco Insurance Company is a Maryland-domiciled property and casualty insurer, is rated “A+
(Superior), VIII (policyholders’ surplus between $100.0 million and $250.0 million)” by A.M. Best
Company, Inc. and “AA (Very Strong)” by Standard & Poor’s Corporation, and is operating as a direct
market underwriter of general aviation business on an admitted basis throughout the United States and
Canada (except Quebec). In addition, Avemco Insurance Company is an issuing carrier for medical stop-loss
products produced and underwritten by HCC Benefits Corporation and for indemnity accident and health
business produced by an unaffiliated agency. The latter business is fully reinsured. As of December 31, 2001,
Avemco Insurance Company had statutory policyholders” surplus of $107.1 million and shareholder’s equity in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles of $117.2 million.

Underwriting Agency Operations

Our underwriting agencies act on behalf of our insurance companies and those of other firms, and provide
insurance underwriting management and claims administration services. Our underwriting agencies do not
assume any insurance or reinsurance risk themselves and generate revenues based entirely on management
fees and profit commissions. These subsidiaries are in a position to direct and control business that they
produce. Our insurance companies serve as policy issuing companies for the majority of the business written
by our underwriting agencies. Our insurance companies may retain a portion of the risk and reinsure the
remainder with unaffiliated insurance companies or reinsure all of the risk. In instances where our insurance
companies are not the policy issuing company, our insurance companies may reinsure the business written by
the underwriting agencies. Management fees generated by our underwriting agencies in 2001 amounted to
$61.8 million.

Lines of Business

This table shows our underwriting agencies’ revenue by line of business for the years indicated (dollars in
thousands):

2001 2000 1995
Life, accident and health ................ $47857  77% $70,536  73% $66,127  73%
Property and casualty ................... 13938 23 25,822 27 24,586 27
Total management fees ......... $61,795 100% $96,058  100% $90,713  100%
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HCC Benefits Corporation

HCC Benefits Corporation, with its home office in Atlanta, Georgia and regional offices in Costa Mesa,
California; Wakefield, Massachusetts; Minneapolis, Minnesota; and Dallas, Texas, acts as an underwriting
manager writing medical stop-loss.products for employer sponsored self-insured health plans. In 2001, HCC
Benefits Corporation generated approximately $51.4 million in management fees. Substantially all of the
business was underwritten on behalf of HCC Life Insurance Company and Avemco Insurance Company.

Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc.

We acquired Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. in October, 2001. Professional Indemnity Agency,
Inc., with its home office in Mount Kisco, New York and branch offices in San Francisco, California and Palm
Beach Gardens, Florida, acts as an underwriting manager writing directors and officers liability, kidnap and
ransom and professional liability insurance coverages. For the full year 2001, Professional Indemnity Agency,
Inc. generated $20.4 million in management fees on premium written on behalf of unaffiliated insurers.
Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. will underwrite some of the above lines of business on behalf of our
insurance companies in 2002,

ASU International, LLC

We acquired ASU International, LLC in October, 2001. ASU International, LLC, with its home office in
Woburn, Massachusetts and a branch office in London, England acts as an underwriting manager of specialty
insurance for the sports, entertainment and promotion marketing industries. ASU International, LLC offers
contingency insurance (including contest indemnity, event cancellation and weather coverages) and individual
disability insurance for athletes and other high profile individuals. For the full year 2001, ASU International,
LLC generated $13.8 million in management fees on premium written on behalf of unaffiliated insurers. ASU
International, LLC will underwrite selected risks in some of the above lines of business on behalf of our
insurance companies in 2002,

Other Agency Operations

We have consolidated certain of our other underwriting agencies with certain of our insurance companies
for the purpose of improving the operational efficiencies of our business. We have consolidated the operations
of our domestic general aviation underwriting agency, HCC Aviation Insurance Group, Inc., and our
occupational accident and alternative workers’ compensation underwriting agency, HCC Employer Services,
Inc. into U.S. Specialty Insurance Company. We have also consolidated both offices of our accident and
health reinsurance underwriting agency, LDG Reinsurance Corporation, into Houston Casualty Company.

Intermediary Operations

Our intermediaries provide a variety of services, including marketing, placing, consulting on and servicing
insurance risks for their clients, which include medium to large corporations, insurance and reinsurance
companies and other risk taking entities. The intermediaries earn commission income and to a lesser extent
fees for certain services, generally paid by the underwriters with whom the business is placed. Some of these
risks may be initially underwritten by our insurance companies, which may retain a portion of the risk.
Commission income generated by our intermediaries in 2001 amounted to $43.4 million.

This table shows our intermediaries’ revenue by line of business for the years indicated (dollars in
thousands):

2001 2000 1999
Life, accident and health ................ $33,739 78% $36,795 74% $39,354 68%
Property and casualty ................... 9,673 22 13,091 26 18,879 32
Total commission income. ....... $43,412 g% $49,886 g% $58,233 l_g%
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Rattner Mackenzie Limited

Rattner Mackenzie Limited is an intermediary based in London, England. Rattner Mackenzie Limited is
a Lloyd’s broker specializing in accident and health reinsurance and some specialty property and casualty lines
of business. Rattner Mackenzie Limited is considered a market leader in its core businesses. Rattner
Mackenzie Limited serves as an intermediary for reinsurance business placed by unaffiliated and affiliated
insurance companies and reinsurance companies and underwriting agencies.

HCC Employee Benéefits, Inc.

HCC Employee Benefits, Inc., with operations in Houston, Texas and Atlanta, Georgia, is a retail
insurance agency and consulting firm specializing in life, accident and health insurance for employee benefit
plans of medium and large commercial customers throughout the United States. We acquired Schanen
Consulting Corporation of Atlanta, Georgia in January 2001 and consolidated its operations with those of
HCC Employee Benefits, Inc.

HCC Intermediaries, Inc.

HCC Intermediaries, Inc., based in Houston, Texas, is an intermediary specializing in marketing and
servicing large, complicated insurance and reinsurance programs placed on behalf of multinational clients
operating in our lines of business. This business is placed with domestic and international insurance
companies, including our insurance companies, on a direct basis and through other intermediaries. In addition,
HCC Intermediaries, Inc. acts as a reinsurance intermediary on behalf of affiliated and non-affiliated
insurance companies. '

Other Operations

Our other operations historically consisted of insurance related services offered to our subsidiaries, our
reinsurers and unaffiliated entities. The revenue earned from these services primarily consisted of fees or
commissions. The primary operating entities in this segment provided insurance claims adjusting services.
During 2001, we sold the last of our service operations, which will result in a decrease in other operating
income in future years. Additionally, other operating income may be in the form of equity in the earnings of a
company in which we invest, or dividends or gains or losses from the disposition of these investments. Other
operating income was $17.4 million in 2001. Revenue and earnings can vary considerably from period to
period depending on investment or disposition activity.

Reinsurance Ceded

We purchase reinsurance to reduce our net liability on individual risks, to protect against catastrophe
losses and to achieve a desired ratioc of net written premium to policyholders’ surplus. We purchase
reinsurance on both a proportional and an excess of loss basis. We believe that we reinsure our risks to a
greater extent than most of our competitors and most other insurance companies. We use this strategy to
protect our shareholders’ equity.

The type, cost and limits of reinsurance we purchase can vary from year to year based upon our desired
retention levels and the availability of quality reinsurance at an acceptable price. Cur reinsurance programs
renew throughout the year and during 2001 some of those renewed contained price increases which are not
material to our underwriting results. Additionally, we retained higher percentages of our business in
connection with certain lines of business which are reinsured on a proportional basis. We plan to continue to
increase our retentions as underwriting conditions improve in many of our lines of business.

We consider the maintenance of reinsurance protection to be an important part of our business plan,
protecting shareholders’ equity from catastrophe losses and fluctuations in the insurance market cycles of the
insurance industry. We have built important relationships over the years with many core reinsurers. We intend
to continue to share our business with these partners as underwriting profitability returns in an improving
market in order to build even stronger relationships for the future. We believe that increased retentions during
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profitable periods are made possible not at the sacrifice of core reinsurers but through reduction of facultative
reinsurance and the natural attrition of certain reinsurers who exit lines of business or curtail their writings for
other reasons. This reduction in reinsurance market capacity causes rates to rise but the increased rates
historically have been passed on to the original insureds.

We structure a specific reinsurance program for each line of business we underwrite. We place this
reinsurance in order to protect our insurance companies from exposure to foreseeable events. We place
reinsurance proportionally to cover loss frequency and catastrophe exposure. We obtain additional reinsurance
on an excess of loss basis to cover individual risk severity of loss and on a catastrophe basis to cover exposure
from occurrences involving multiple risks, such as those resulting from a hurricane, an earthquake or a man-
made event, such as a terrorist attack. Additionally, we may also obtain facultative reinsurance protection on
an excess of loss or proportionate basis on any single risk. We do not intend to expose our assets to any net loss
in excess of our reinsurance protection.

Certain of our lines of business are exposed to catastrophe losses in a greater degree than others. We have
exposures to this type of loss primarily in our accident and health reinsurance, energy and property lines of
business. We carefully assess our overall exposure to a single catastrophic event and apply procedures that we
believe are more conservative than are typically used by the industry to ascertain our probable maximum loss
from any single event.

Subsequent to the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, where possible, we canceled all terrorist
coverage under the terms of existing in-force policies, primarily in the property and energy lines of business.
All new and renewal policies are written with an appropriate terrorist exclusion except for lines of business,
such as aviation, where reinsurance for acts of terrorism is available at an economic cost or where we feel
comfortable with the net exposure.

At January 1, 2002, and February 1, 2002, respectively, our onshore energy and property reinsurance
protections were renewed without coverage for acts of terrorism. Therefore, to the extent that certain existing,
in-force policies contain such coverage, then we would have a net exposure to any applicable losses. The actual
amount of this exposure is not determinable but could represent a catastrophic loss, a risk for which we would
usually purchase reinsurance protection. We do not believe that any loss would severely impact our capital. As
each month goes by, existing in-force policies will expire and the overall exposure continues to reduce
substantially.

In general, we receive an overriding (ceding) commission on the premium ceded to reinsurers. This
compensates our insurance companies for the direct costs associated with the production of the business, the
servicing of the business during the term of the policies ceded and the costs associated with the placement of
the related reinsurance. In addition, certain of our reinsurance treaties allow us to share with the reinsurers in
any net profits generated under such treaties.

Various intermediaries, including HCC Intermediaries, Inc. and Rattner Mackenzie Limited, arrange for
the placement of this reinsurance coverage on our behalf and are compensated, directly or indirectly, by the
reinsurers.
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The table below shows property and casualty reinsurance balances relating to our reinsurers with net
recoverable balances greater than $15.0 million as of December 31, 2001. The total recoverables column
includes paid loss recoverable, outstanding loss recoverable, incurred but not reported recoverables and ceded

unearned premium (in thousands).
Letters of Credit,
Cash Deposits

Current Total and Other

Reinsurer Rating Location Recoverables Payables Net
December 31, 2001:

Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 1101 .......... NR United Kingdom $40,913 $1,532 $39,381
Canada Life Assurance Company ......... A+ Canada 28,956 — 28,956
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 1206 .......... C+ United Kingdom 27,251 351 26,900
AXA Corporate Solutions Reinsurance Co. A+ Delaware 26,582 680 25,902
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 2488 . ......... A— United Kingdom 25,813 1,187 24,626
American Re-Insurance Company ........ A++ Delaware 24,674 1,697 22,977
SCOR Reinsurance Company ............ A New York 21,883 — 21,883
American Fidelity Assurance Company .... A+ Oklahoma 19,881 12 19,869
Transatlantic Reinsurance Company....... A++ New York 20,543 849 19,694
Federal Insurance Company ............. A++ Indiana 26,902 8,971 17,931
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 0957 .......... NR United Kingdom 17,653 —_ 17,653
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 0510 .......... A— United Kingdom 17,647 1,500 16,147
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 0055 .......... NR United Kingdom 16,168 305 15,863

Ratings for companies are published by A.M. Best Company, Inc. Ratings for individual syndicates are
published by Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. “NR” indicates that the indicated Lloyd’s syndicate had not
been rated. Lloyd’s of London is an insurance and reinsurance marketplace composed of many independent
underwriting syndicates financially supported by a central trust fund.

HCC Life Insurance Company previously sold its entire block of life insurance and annuity business to
Life Reassurance Corporation of America (rated A+—+ by A.M. Best Company, Inc.) in the form of an
indemnity reinsurance contract. Ceded life and annuity benefits amounted to $83.0 million as of
December 31, 2001.

We have a reserve of $5.2 million as of December 31, 2001 for potential collectibility issues related to
reinsurance recoverables and associated expenses. The adverse economic environment in the worldwide
insurance industry and the terrorist attacks on September 11 have placed great pressure on reinsurers and the
results of their operations. Ultimately, these conditions could affect reinsurers’ solvency. Historically, there
have been insolvencies following a period of competitive pricing in the industry, such as the marketplace has
experienced for the last several years. While we believe that the reserve is adequate based on currently
available information, conditions may change or additional information might be obtained that would affect
our estimate of the adequacy of the level of the reserve and which may result in a future change in the reserve.
We continually review our financial exposure to the reinsurance market and continue to take actions to
mitigate our position.

A number of reinsurers have delayed or suspended the payment of amounts recoverable under certain
reinsurance contracts to which we are a party. Such delays have affected, aithough not materially to date, the
investment income of our insurance companies, but not to any extent their liquidity. We limit our liquidity
exposure by holding funds, letters of credit or other security such that net balances due are significantly less
than the gross balances shown in our consolidated balance sheets. In some instances, the reinsurers have
withheld payment without reference to a substantive basis for the delay or suspension. In other cases, the
reinsurers have claimed they are not liable to for payment to us of all or part of the amounts due under the
applicable reinsurance agreement. We believe these claims are without merit and expect to collect the full
amounts recoverable. We are currently in negotiations with most of these parties, but if such negotiations do
not result in a satisfactory resolution of the matters in question, we may seek or be involved in a judicial or
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arbitral determination of these matters. In some cases, the final resolution of such disputes through arbitration
or litigation may extend over several years.

In this regard, as of December 31, 2001, our insurance companies had initiated litigation or arbitration
proceedings against five reinsurers and were involved in one arbitration proceeding initiated by a reinsurer.
These proceedings primarily concern the collection of amounts owing under reinsurance agreements. As of
such date, our insurance companies had an aggregate amount of $15.3 million which had not been paid to us
under the disputed agreements and we estimate that there could be an additional $31.2 million of incurred
losses and loss expenses under the subject agreements. In addition, because our insurance companies,
principally Houston Casualty Company, participated in facilities which were managed by one of our
underwriting agencies, they are indirectly involved in any reinsurance disputes which affect the applicable
facilities. As of December 31, 2001, Houston Casualty Company’s allocated portion of aggregate amounts
which had not been reimbursed to the applicable facilities under the disputed agreements was $4.8 million and
we estimate that there could be an additional $4.0 millicn of incurred losses and loss expenses under the
subject agreements allocated to Houston Casualty Company. Houston Casualty Company has no net exposure
on disputed amounts due to the non-affiliated companies who also participated in the applicable facilities.

During 1999, we recorded a provision for reinsurance totaling $29.5 million in connection with the
insolvency of a reinsurer. We continue to expect this provision to be sufficient. We also recorded a
$14.0 million provision following a commutation (the contractual settlement of outstanding and future
liabilities) with another reinsurer, the majority of which represents the present value discount of ceded losses.

Operating Ratios
Premium to Surplus Ratio
This table shows, for the years indicated, the ratio of statutory gross written premium and net written

premium to statutory policyholders’ surplus for our property and casualty insurance companies (dollars in
thousands):

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Gross written premium .......... $1,014,833  $972,154  $576,184  $500,962  $346,094
Net written premium. ........... 371,409 283,947 150,261 123,315 143,068
Policyholders’ surplus ........... 401,393 326,249 315,474 369,401 331,922
Gross written premium ratio ... .. 252.8% 298.0% 182.6% 135.6% 104.3%
Gross written premium industry

average(l) .................. * 174.1% 154.1% 147.9% 154.7%
Net written premium ratio ....... 92.5% 87.0% 47.6% 33.4% 43.1%
Net written premium industry

average(l) .................. * 94.4% 85.5% 84.3% 89.7%

(1) Source: A.M. Best Company, Inc.

* Not available

While there is no statutory requirement regarding a permissible premium to policyholders’ surplus ratio,
guidelines established by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners provide that a property and
casualty insurer’s annual statutory gross written premium should not exceed 900% and net written premium
should not exceed 300% of its policyholders’ surplus. However, industry standards and rating agency criteria
place these ratios at 300% and 200%, respectively. In the past, our property and casualty insurance companies
have maintained premium to surplus ratios generally lower than such guidelines and below industry norms.
The gross written premium ratio increased during 2000 with the acquisition of The Centris Group, Inc.’s book
of medical stop-loss business in December, 1999 and the increasing use of our insurance companies as the
issuing company for business written by our underwriting agencies. This ratio is expected to slowly decrease
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from its current level as statutory policyholders’ surplus increases due to the retention of earnings and other
increases in policyholders’ surplus.

Combined Ratio In Accordance With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

The underwriting experience of a property and casualty insurance company is indicated by its combined
ratio. Under generally accepted accounting principles, the combined ratio is a combination of the loss ratio in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or the ratio of incurred losses and loss adjustment
expenses to net earned premium, and the expense ratio in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, which is the ratio of policy acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses, net of ceding
commissions, to net earned premium. Cur insurance companies’ loss ratios, expense ratios and combined
ratios in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles are shown in the following table for the
years indicated:

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Loss ratio . ..ot 78.0% 742% 71.6% 63.8% 59.4%
EXpense ratio. . .....ovuunnin i 257 21.0 517215 220
Combined ratio ....... ..ot 103.7% 95.2% 129.3% 85.3% 81.4%

Combined ratio excluding the effects of the provision
for reinsurance in 1999 ........... ... .o 98.6%

Combined Ratio In Accordance with Statutory Accounting Principles

The combined ratio in accordance with statutory accounting principles is a combination of the loss ratio
in accordance with statutory accounting principles, or the ratio of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses
to net earned premium, and the expense ratio in accordance with statutory accounting principles, which is the
ratio of policy acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses, net of ceding commissions, to net written
premium. OGur insurance companies’ loss ratios, expense ratios and combined ratios in accordance with
statutory accounting principles are shown in the following table for the years indicated:

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Lossratio. ... oo 78.0% 71.1% 107.1% 67.2% 61.6%
Expense ratio . .........coviiiiiniii 23.8 27.0 22.8 15.7 17.2
Combined ratio .. ... 101.8% 98.1% 129.9% 82.9% 78.8%
Combined ratio excluding the effects of the provision

for reinsurance in 1999. ... .. ... . ... ... L. 104.1%
Industry average(l) ........ ... .. i * 110.1% 107.8% 105.6% 101.6%

*  Not available

The ratio data in accordance with statutory accounting principles is not intended to be a substitute for
results of operations in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The differences between
statutory accounting principles and generally accepted accounting principles are described in Note (15) of our
consolidated financial statements included in this report. Including this information on the basis of statutory
accounting principles is meaningful and useful to allow a comparison of our operating results with those of
other companies in the insurance industry. The source of the industry average is A.M. Best Company Inc.
A.M. Best Company Inc. reports on insurer performance on the basis of statutory accounting principles to
provide for more standardized comparisons among individual companies, as well as overall industry
performance.
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Reserves

Applicable insurance laws require us to maintain reserves to cover our estimated ultimate lability for
reported and incurred but not reported losses under insurance and reinsurance policies that we wrote and for
loss adjustment expenses relating to the investigation and settlement of policy claims. In most cases, we
estimate such losses and claims costs through an evaluation of individual claims. However, for some types of
claims, we use an average reserving method until more information becomes available to permit an evaluation
of individual claims.

We establish loss reserves for individual claims by evaluating reported claims on the basis of:
o jurisdiction of the occurrence;

» our experience with the insured and the line of business and policy provisions relating to the particular
type of claim;

o our knowledge of the circumstances surrounding the claim;

° the information and reports received from ceding insurance companies where applicable;
o the potential for ultimate exposure;

o the severity of injury or damage; and

o the type of loss.

We establish loss reserves for incurred but not reported losses based in part on statistical information and
in part on industry experience with respect to the probable number and nature of claims arising from
occurrences that have not been reported. We also establish our reserves based on predictions of future events,
our estimates of future trends in claims severity, and other subjective factors. Insurance companies are not
permitted to reserve for a catastrophe until it has occurred. Reserves are recorded on an undiscounted basis,
except for an immaterial amount of reserves acquired in a transaction recorded using the purchase method of
accounting. The net reserves of each of our insurance companies are established in conjunction with and
reviewed by our in-house actuarial staff, and our reserves in accordance with statutory accounting principles
are certified annually by our independent actuaries. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP certified the reserves of our
insurance companies in accordance with statutory accounting principles as of December 31, 2001.

With respect to some classes of risks, the period of time between the occurrence of an insured event and
the final settlement of a claim may be many years, and during this period it often becomes necessary to adjust
the claim estimates either upward or downward. Certain classes of marine and offshore energy and workers’
compensation insurance which are or were underwritten by our insurance companies have historically had
longer lead times between the occurrence of an insured event, reporting of the claim, and final settlement. In
such cases, we are forced to estimate reserves over long periods of time with the possibility of several
adjustments to reserves. Other classes of insurance that we underwrite, such as most aviation, property and
medical stop-loss, historically have shorter lead times between the occurrence of an insured event, reporting of
the claim and final settlement. Reserves with respect to these classes are, therefore, less likely to be adjusted.
The majority of the risks currently underwritten by our insurance companies tend to have shorter lead times.

The reserving process is intended to reflect the impact of inflation and other factors affecting loss
payments by taking into account changes in historical payment patterns and perceived trends. However, there
is no precise method for the subsequent evaluation of the adequacy of the consideration given to inflation, or to
any other specific factor, or to the way one factor may impact another.

We underwrite, directly and through reinsurance, risks which are denominated in a number of foreign
currencies, and therefore maintain loss reserves with respect to these policies in the respective currencies.
These reserves are subject to exchange rate fluctuations, which may have an effect on our earnings. We may
attempt to limit our exposure to future currency fluctuations through the use of foreign currency forward
contracts.
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The loss development triangles below show changes in our GAAP reserves in subsequent years from the
prior loss estimates based on experience as of the end of each succeeding year on the basis of generally
accepted accounting principles. The estimate is increased or decreased as more information becomes known
about the frequency and severity of losses for individual years. A redundancy means the original estimate was
higher than the current estimate; a deficiency means that the current estimate is higher than the original
estimate.

The first line of each loss development triangle presents, for the years indicated, our gross or net reserve
liability including the reserve for incurred but not reported losses. The first section of each table shows, by
year, the cumulative amounts of loss and loss adjustment expense paid as of the end of each succeeding year.
The second section sets forth the re-estimates in later years of incurred losses, including payments, for the
years indicated. The “cumulative redundancy (deficiency)” represents, as of the date indicated, the difference
between the latest re-estimated liability and the reserves as originally estimated.

This loss development triangle shows development in loss reserves on a gross basis (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992
Balance sheet reserves:......... $1,130,748 $944,117 $871,104 $460,511 $275,008 $229,049 $200,756 $170,957 $144,178 $ 129,503
Reserve adjustments from
acquisition and disposition of
subsidiaries ................ —  (66,571) (32,437) (136) — — — — — —
Adjusted reserves ......... 1,130,748 877,546 838,667 460,375 275,008 229,049 200,756 170,957 144,178 129,503
Cumulative paid as of:
One year later . ............. 400,279 424,379 229,746 160,324 119,453 118,656 97,580 82,538 83,574
Two years later . ............ 561,246 367,512 209,724 179,117 167,459 143,114 126,290 130,379
Three years later............ 419,209 241,523 193,872 207,191 166,541 157,509 158,973
Four years later............. 259,067 212,097 214,046 192,540 176,472 182,193
Five years later ............. 223,701 226,762 195930 195,269 192,512
Six years later . ............. 233,831 202,844 197,147 213,052
Seven years later. ........... : 208,112 203,075 215,280
Eight years later ............ 207,474 221,403
Nine years later ............ 225,706
Re-estimated liability as of:
Endof year ................ 1,130,748 877,546 838,667 460,375 275,008 229,049 200,756 170,957 144,178 129,503
One year later .. ............ 922,080 836,775 550,409 308,501 252,236 243,259 186,898 163,967 162,827
Two years later ............. 868,438 545,955 316,250 249,013 248372 207,511 183,015 176,817
Three years later............ 547,179 304,281 250,817 247,053 214,738 203,137 194,419
Four years later............. 305,022 247,245 248,687 220,695 211,546 215,531
Five years later ............. 249,853 248,559 217,892 218,182 222,746
Six years later . ............. 250,176 219,196 214,498 234,115
Seven years later............ 219,002 216,820 231,269
Eight years later ............ 216,627 233,995
Nine years later ............ 233,865
Cumulative redundancy
(deficiency) ................ $(44,534) $(29,771) $(86,804) $(30,014) $(20,804) $(49,420) $(48,045) $(72,449) $(104,362)

The gross deficiencies reflected in the table for 2000 and 1999 result from late reported loss information
received during 2001. These losses primarily came from assumed reinsurance business written by one of our
insurance companies. However, as these policies were substantially reinsured, there was no material effect to
our net earnings.
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The gross deficiencies reflected in the table for the years prior to 1999 result from three principal‘
conditions:

= The development of large claims on individual policies which were either reported late or for which
reserves were increased as subsequent information became available. However, as these policies were
substantially reinsured, there was no material effect to our net earnings.

o During 1999, in connection with the insolvency of one of our reinsurers and the commutation of all
liabilities with another, we re-evaluated all loss reserves and incurred but not reported loss reserves
related to business placed with these reinsurers to determine the ultimate losses we might conserva-
tively expect. These reserves were then used as the basis for the determination of the provision for
reinsurance recorded in 1999.

o For the years prior to 1997, the runoff of the retrocessional excess of loss business, which we
underwrote between 1988 and 1991, experienced gross development. This development was due
primarily to the delay in reporting of losses by the London insurance market, coupled with the
unprecedented number of catastrophe losses during that period. This business was substantially
reinsured and there was no material effect to our net earnings.

(I
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This loss development triangle shows development in loss reserves on a net basis (in thousands):

Gross reserves

Less reinsurance recoverables. . . ...

Reserves, net of reinsurance . ..

Reserve adjustments from
acquisition and disposition of
subsidiaries ...................

Effect on loss reserves of 1999 write

off of reinsurance recoverables . . .
Adjusted reserves, net of

Teinsurance .. .............

Cumulative paid, net of reinsurance,
as of:

One year later ................
Two years later ...............
Three years later ..............
Four years later ...............
Five years later................
Six years later ................
Seven years later ..............
Eight years later...............
Nine years later . ..............
Ten yearslater................

Re-estimated liability, net of
reinsurance, as of:

Endofyear...................

One year later

Two years later
Three years later ..............
Four years later ...............
Five years later. .. .............
Six years later ................
Seven years later . .............
Eight years later. . .............
Nine years later .. .............
Ten years later ................

Cumulative redundancy
(deficiency)

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992

1991

$1,130,748 $944,117 $871,104 $460,511 $275,008

$229,049 $200,756 $170,957 $144,178 $129,503 $123,248

817,651 694,245 597.498 341,599 155374 111,766 101,497 95279 82,289 81,075 83,727
313,097 249,872 273,606 118912 119,634 117,283 99,259 75678 61,889 48428 39,521
—  (6048) (3,343) (410)  — - — - - — -
— — — 63851 15008 2,636 1,442 51 — — —
313,097 243824 270263 182,353 134,642 119919 100,701 75729 61,889 48428 39,52
102,244 145993 56052 48,775 47,874 41,947 36500 29,258 18978 18,416
174,534 103,580 64,213 66,030 56,803 49,283 41207 32,733 23057

113,762 80,227 72,863 64798 56919 46576 36,536 31,903

81,845 81,620 67,355 60441 51,536 38,480 33875

81,968 72,627 61,781 53,110 40,327 34970

73,501 66,591 53879 40,550 36,203

64,410 58353 41,133 35413

58,713 45,552 35,960

45837 39,770

39,976

313097 243824 270,263 182,353 134,642 119919 100,701 75729 61,889 48428 39,521
233,111 260,678 186967 120,049 116,145 95764 72,963 59,659 45812 38,575
254373 175339 116,745 101,595 94,992 74887 60,079 44964 38,656

171,165 110,673 97,353 85484 76474 62,224 46,129 39,176

107,138 95,118 80,890 73,660 64,377 48993 40,407

93,528 79,626 69,528 64,103 50,785 43,418

79968 70,642 59,408 50,585 45,142

' 70278 60,960 46,071 43,924

60,729 47,629 39,858

47407 41513

41,368

$ 10,713 $ 15890 $ 11,188 $ 27,504 $ 26,391 $ 20,733 § 5451 §

1,160 $

We believe that our loss reserves are adequate to provide for all material net incurred losses.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the gross liability of loss and loss adjustment expenses on
the basis of generally accepted accounting principles for the three years ended December 31, 2001 (in
thousands):

2001 2000 1999

Reserves for loss and loss adjustment expense at beginning of year § 944,117  $871,104  $460,511
Reserve adjustments from acquisition and disposition of

SUBSIAIAMIES « . o (69,725) 1,709 146,233
Provision for loss and loss adjustment expense for claims occurring

In the current year . ... ...ttt 1,019,311 775,538 595,425
Increase (decrease) in estimated loss and loss adjustment expense

for claims occurring in prior years (1) ...................... 44,534 (1,892) 90,034
Incurred loss and loss adjustment expense ..................... 1,063,845 773,646 685,459
Loss and loss adjustment expense payments for claims occurring

during:

i CUTTENT YRAT L ottt ettt ettt e e 407,210 277,963 191,353

PriOT Years ..o 400,279 424,379 229,746

Loss and loss adjustment expense payments ................... 807,489 702,342 421,099

Reserves for loss and loss adjustment expense at end of the year .. $1,130,748  $944,117  $871,104

(1) Changes in loss and loss adjustment expense reserves (on the basis of generally accepted accounting
principles) for losses occurring in prior years reflect the gross effect of the resolution of losses for other
than the reserve value and the subsequent adjustments of loss reserves.

This table provides a reconciliation of the liability for loss and loss adjustment expense, net of reinsurance
ceded, on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles for the three years ended December 31, 2001
(in thousands):

2001 2000 1999

Reserves for loss and loss adjustment expense at beginning of year.. $249,872  $273,606 $118,912
Reserve adjustments from acquisition and disposition of subsidiaries 285 514 55,523
Effect on loss reserves of write off of ceded outstanding and incurred

but not reported reinsurance recoverables ..................... — — 82,343
Provision for loss and loss adjustment expense for claims occurring

inthe CUITent Year . ... ... . oottt 278,103 208,055 105,036
Increase (decrease) in estimated loss and loss adjustment expense :

for claims occurring in prior years (2)....... ..o, (10,713) (9,585) 4,614
Incurred loss and loss adjustment expense ...................... 267,390 198,470 109,650
Loss and loss adjustment expense payments for claims occurring

during:

CUITENT YEAT . oottt et et et et e e 102,206 76,725 36,770

PriOT YEArS . o oottt e 102,244 145,993 56,052
Loss and loss adjustment expense payments . .............c....... 204,450 222,718 92,822

Reserves for loss and loss adjustment expense at end of the year ... $313,097 $249,872  $273,606

(2) Changes in loss and loss adjustment expense reserves (on the basis of generally accepted accounting
principles) for losses occurring in prior years reflect the net effect of the resolution of losses for other than
the reserve value and the subsequent adjustments of loss reserves.

Although we experienced gross loss deficiencies during 2001 and 1999, the business was substantially
reinsured and, therefore, there was no material effect to our insurance companies on a net loss basis.
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During 2001, we had net loss and loss adjustment expense redundancy of $10.7 million relating to prior
year losses compared to a redundancy of $9.6 million in 2000 and a deficiency of $4.6 million in 1999. The
deficiencies and redundancies in the net reserves result from our continued review with our actuaries of our
loss reserves and the increase or reduction of reserves as losses are finally settled and claims exposures are
reduced. We believe we have provided for all material net incurred losses.

We have no material exposure to environmental pollution losses, because Houston Casualty Company
only began writing business in 1981 and its policies normally contain pollution exclusion clauses which limit
pollution coverage to “sudden and accidental” losses only, thus excluding intentional (dumping) and seepage
claims. Policies issued by HCC Life Insurance Company, Avemco Insurance Company and U.S. Specialty
Insurance Company, because of the types of risks covered, are not considered to have significant environmen-
tal exposures. We do not expect to experience any material development in reserves for environmental
pollution claims.

Investments

Insurance company investments must comply with applicable regulations which prescribe the type,
quality and concentration of investments. These regulations permit investments, within specified limits and
subject to certain qualifications, in federal, state and municipal obligations, corporate bonds, and preferred and
common equity securities. As of December 31, 2001, we had $888.5 million of investment assets. The majority
of our investment assets are held by our insurance companies. All of our securities are classified as available
for sale and are recorded at market value.

Our investment policy is determined by our Board of Directors and our Investment and Finance
Committee and is reviewed on a regular basis. We continue to engage a nationally prominent investment
advisor, New England Asset Management, a subsidiary of Berkshire Hathaway, Inc., to oversee our
investments and to make recommendations to our Board’s Investment and Finance Committee. Although we
generally intend to hold fixed income securities to maturity, we regularly re-evaluate our position based upon
market conditions. As of December 31, 2001, our fixed income securities have a weighted average maturity of
five years and a weighted average duration of four years. Our financial statements reflect an unrealized gain on
fixed income securities available for sale as of December 31, 2001, of $11.8 million.

We have maintained a substantial level of cash and liquid short-term instruments in our insurance
companies in order to maintain the ability to fund losses of our insureds. Qur underwriting agencies and
intermediaries typically have short-term investments, which are fiduciary funds held on behalf of others. As of
December 31, 2001, we had cash and short-term investments of approximately $355.8 million, of which
$220.6 million were in our agencies and intermediaries.

This table shows a profile of our investments. The table shows the average amount of investments, income
earned, and the yield thereon for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

2001 2000 1999
Average investments, at CoSt ......... .. ... $789,860  $643,721  $545,876
Net investment income(l) ........... .. ... ............ 39,638 39,836 30,946
Average short-term yield(1) .......... ... .. ... ... .. ... 4.3% 6.6% 5.6%
Average long-term yield(1) ........ ... ... . L. 5.6% 6.1% 5.6%
Average long-term tax equivalent yield(1) ................ 6.4% 7.4% 7.5%
Weighted average combined tax equivalent yield(1) ........ 5.6% 7.1% 7.1%

(1) Excluding realized and unrealized capital gains and losses.
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This table summarizes, by type, the estimated market value of our investments as of December 31, 2001
{dollars in thousands):

Amount Percent of total

Short-term INVeStMENTS. . . ..o\ttt et $338,904 38%
U.S. Treasury SECUITIES .. ..o vt vvi ettt et aan e e 71,368 8
Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions........ 53,918 6
Special revenue fixed income securities ......... ... . ... ... ... 151,740 17
Corporate fixed income securities ...............oooviii ... 145,285 16
B Structured SECURTIES .« . . vt vttt e e e e 98,628 11
Foreign government securities .. ....... .o, 4,489 1
Marketable equity securities. . ...t e 16,569 2
Other INVESTMENTS . . oottt e e e e e e e i 7,565 1

Total IMveStments .. ........oirttit i $888,466 100%

This table summarizes, by rating, the market value of our investments in fixed income securities as of
December 31, 2001 (dollars in thousands):

Amount Percent of total
A A A e $258,724 49%
A A e e e 93,773 17
A e e e 162,241 31
BB . 10,500 2
C o 190 1
Total fixed income securities. .......................... $525,428 100%

The table set forth below indicates the expected maturity distribution of the estimated market value of
our fixed income securities as of December 31, 2001 (dollars in thousands):

Amount Percent of total

ONE YEAT OF 1858 . . o\ ot e $ 18,416 3%
One year to five years . ... ..ot e 194,022 37
Five vears t0 18N YEAS . ... vttne it ie et et ie e 94,184 18
Ten years to fifteen years .. ... i 76,721 15
More than fifteen years. . ... .o i e 43,457 _ 8
Securities with fixed maturities ... ...t 426,800 81
Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities .. ....... ... ... 98,628 19

Total fixed income securities........................... $525,428 100%

The weighted average life of our structured securities is five years. The value of our portfolio of fixed
income securities is inversely correlated to changes in market interest rates. In addition, some of our fixed
income securities have call or prepayment options. This could subject us to a reinvestment risk should interest
rates fall or issuers call their securities and we are forced to invest the proceeds at lower interest rates. We
mitigate this risk by investing in securities with varied maturity dates, so that only a portion of the portfolio
will mature at any point in time. Some of our asset-backed securities are subject to re-evaluation and
additional specialized impairment tests. Under this guidance, these securities have to be written down in value
if certain tests are met. Any write down is recouped prospectively through net investment income. The total
amount of securities held by us as of December 31, 2001 that would be subject to these tests and potential
write downs is immaterial.
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2% Convertible Notes and Bank Loan

On August 23, 2001, we issued an aggregate $172.5 million principal amount of 2% Convertible Notes
due 2021 in a public offering. Each $1,000 principal amount of notes is convertible into 31.25 shares of our
common stock, which represents an initial conversion price of $32.00 per share. The initial conversion price is
subject to change under certain conditions. Interest is to be paid by us on March 1 and September 1 each year.
Holders may surrender notes for conversion into shares of our common stock in any calendar quarter if, as of
the last day of the preceding calendar quarter, the closing sale price of our common stock for at least 20
trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the quarter is more
than 120% (currently $38.40 per share) of the conversion price per share of our common stock on the last
trading day of the quarter. We can redeem the notes for cash at any time on or after September 1, 2006.
Holders of the notes may require us to repurchase the notes on September 1, 2002, 2004, 2006, 2008, 2011 and
2016. If the holders exercise this option, we may choose to pay the purchase price in cash, in shares of our
common stock, or a combination thereof. We used the proceeds from this offering to repay our remaining
indebtedness under the bank facility described below, assist in financing the recent acquisitions, make a
$60.0 million capital contribution to our principal insurance company subsidiary and for general corporate
purposes.

On December 17, 1999, we entered into a $300.0 million Revolving Loan Facility with a group of banks.
At our request, the amount available under the facility was reduced to $200.0 million by an amendment on
June 6, 2001. Interest expense for 2001 includes a charge of $0.6 million related to the write off of prepaid loan
fees in connection with the amendment. We can borrow up to the maximum allowed by the facility on a
revolving basis until the facility expires on December 17, 2004. Outstanding advances under the facility bear
interest at agreed upon rates, which ranged between 2.6% and 3.1% at December 31, 2001. The facility is
collateralized in part by the pledge of the stock of two of our principal insurance companies, Houston Casualty
Company and Avemco Insurance Company, and by the stock of and guarantees entered into by our principal
underwriting agencies and intermediaries. The facility agreement contains certain restrictive covenants,
including minimum net worth requirements for us and certain of our subsidiaries, restrictions on certain
extraordinary corporate actions, notice requirements for certain material occurrences and required mainte-
nance of specified financial ratios. We believe that the restrictive covenants and our obligations that are
contained in the facility agreement are typical for financing arrangements comparable to our facility. As of
December 31, 2001, there was no outstanding balance on this facility.

Regulation

The business of insurance is extensively regulated by the government. At this time, the insurance business
in the United States is regulated primarily by the individual states. However, a form of federal financial
services modernization legislation enacted in 1999 is expected to result in additional federal regulation of the
insurance industry. In addition, some insurance industry trade groups are actively lobbying for legislation that
would allow an option for a separate federal charter for insurance companies. The full extent to which the
federal government will determine to directly regulate the business of insurance has not been determined by
lawmakers. Also, various foreign governments regulate our international operations.

QOur business depends on our compliance with applicable laws and regulations and our ability to maintain
valid licenses and approvals for our operations. We devote a significant effort toward obtaining and
maintaining our licenses and compliance with a diverse and complex regulatory structure. In all jurisdictions,
the applicable laws and regulations are subject to amendment or interpretation by regulatory authorities.
Generally, regulatory authorities are vested with broad discretion to grant, renew and revoke licenses and
approvals and to implement regulations governing the business and operations of insurers and insurance
agents.

Insurance Companies

Our insurance companies, in common with other insurers, are subject to regulation and supervision by the
states and by other jurisdictions in which they do business. Regulation by the states varies, but generally
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involves regulatory and supervisory powers of a state insurance official. The regulation and supervision of our
insurance operations relates primarily to:

o approval of policy forms and premium rates;

o licensing of insurers and their agents;

¢ periodic examinations of our operations and finances;

» prescribing the form and content of records of financial condition required to be filed;
e requiring deposits for the benefit of policyholders;

° requiring certain methods of accounting;

o requiring reserves for unearned premium, losses and other purposes;

o restrictions on the ability of our insurance companies to pay dividends to us;
o restrictions on the nature, quality and concentration of investments;

o restrictions on transactions between insurance companies and their affiliates;
o restrictions on the size of risks insurable under a single policy; and

o standards of solvency, including risk-based capital measurements (which is a measure developed by
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and used by state insurance regulators to
identify insurance companies that potentially are inadequately capitalized.)

In general, state insurance regulations are intended primarily for the protection of policyholders rather
than shareholders. The state insurance departments monitor compliance with regulations through periodic
reporting procedures and examinations. The quarterly and annual financial reports to the state insurance
regulators utilize accounting principles which are different from the generally accepted accounting principles
we use in our reports to shareholders. Statutory accounting principles, in keeping with the intent to assure the
protection of policyholders, are generally based on a liquidation concept while generally accepted accounting
principles are based on a going-concern concept.

Houston Casualty Company is domiciled in Texas. It operates on an admitted basis in Texas and may
write reinsurance on all lines of business that it may write on a direct basis. Houston Casualty Company is an
accredited reinsurer in 35 states and an approved surplus lines insurer or is otherwise permitted to write
surplus lines insurance in 47 states, three United States territories and the District of Columbia. When a
reinsurer obtains accreditation from a particular state, insurers within that state are permitted to obtain
statutory credit for risks ceded to the reinsurer. Surplus lines insurance is offered by non-admitted companies
on risks which are not insured by admitted companies. All surplus lines insurance is required to be written
through licensed surplus lines insurance brokers, who are required to be knowledgeable of and follow specific
state laws prior to placing a risk with a surplus lines insurer,

Houston Casualty Company’s branch office in London, England is subject to regulation by regulatory
authorities in the United Kingdom. Avemco Insurance Company is domiciled in Maryland and operates as a
licensed admitted insurer in all states, the District of Columbia, and all Canadian provinces except Quebec.
U.S. Specialty Insurance Company is domiciled in Texas and operates as a licensed admitted insurer in all
states and the District of Columbia. HCC Life Insurance Company is domiciled in Indiana, and operates as a
licensed admitted insurer in 41 states and the District of Columbia.

State insurance regulations also affect the payment of dividends and other distributions by insurance
companies to their shareholders. Generally, insurance companies are limited by these regulations to the
payment of dividends above a specified level. Dividends in excess of those thresholds are “extraordinary
dividends” and subject to prior regulatory approval.

29




Underwriting Agencies and Intermediaries

In addition to the regulation of insurance companies, the states impose licensing and other requirements
on the insurance agency and service operations of our other subsidiaries. These regulations relate primarily to:

° advertising and business practice rules;

» contractual requirements;

o financial security;

» licensing as agents, brokers, intermediaries, managing general agents or third party administrators;
= limitations on authority; and

o recordkeeping requirements.

The manner of operating our underwriting agency and intermediary activities in particular states may vary
according to the licensing requirements of the particular state, which may require, among other things, that we
operate in the state through a local corporation. In a few states, licenses are issued only to individual residents
or locally-owned business entities. In such cases, we may have arrangements with residents or business entities
licensed to act in the state. The majority of states, however, have recently enacted legislation in response to the
Federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act that streamlines and makes more uniform the licensing requirements.

Statutory Accounting Principles

The principal differences between statutory accounting principles and generally accepted accounting
principles, the method by which we report our financial results to our shareholders are:

o a liability is recorded for certain reinsurance recoverables under statutory accounting principles,
whereas under generally accepted accounting principles there is no such provision unless the
recoverables are deemed to be doubtful of collectibility;

o under statutory accounting principles, life insurance companies record investment related liabilities, the
asset valuation reserve and interest maintenance reserve, whereas there is not such liability under
generally accepted accounting principles;

o certain assets which are considered “non-admitted assets” are eliminated from a balance sheet
prepared in accordance with statutory accounting principles but are included in a balance sheet
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

o only some of the deferred tax assets are recognized under statutory accounting principles;

» fixed-income investments classified as available for sale are recorded at market value for generally
accepted accounting principles and at amortized cost under statutory accounting principles;

» outstanding losses and unearned premium are recorded on a gross basis under generally accepted
accounting principles and on a net basis under statutory accounting principles; and

o under statutory accounting principles, policy acquisition costs are expensed as incurred and under
generally accepted accounting principles such costs are deferred and amortized to expense as the
related premium is earned.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners adopted Statements of Statutory Accounting
Principles in March, 1998, which became effective on January 1, 2001, through their adoption by the
individual states. The adoption of these principles by the states is referred to as codification. The cumulative
effect of codification increased the statutory policyholders’ surplus of our insurance companies by approxi-
mately $8.9 million. Our use of statutory accounting practices prescribed by state regulatory authorities caused
a $3.2 million reduction in our insurance companies’ aggregate statutory policyholders’ surplus compared to
amounts that would have been recorded under the National Association of Insurance Commissioners
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codification rules. The statutory policyholders’ surplus of each of our insurance companies is significantly in
excess of regulatory risk-based capital requirements.

Insurance Holding Company Acts

Because we are an insurance holding company, we are subject to the insurance holding company system
regulatory requirements of the states of Arkansas, Indiana, Maryland, and Texas. Under these regulations, we
are required to report information regarding our capital structure, financial condition and management. We are
also required to provide prior notice to, or seek the prior approval of insurance regulatory authorities of certain
agreements and transactions between our affiliated companies. These agreements and transactions must satisfy
certain regulatory requirements.

Risk-Based Capital

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners has developed a formula for analyzing insurance
companies called risk-based capital. The risk-based capital formula is intended to establish minimum capital
thresholds that vary with the size and mix of a company’s business and assets. It is designed to identify
companies with capital levels that may require regulatory attention. As of December 31, 2001, each of our
domestic insurance companies’ total adjusted capital is significantly in excess of the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners authorized control level risk-based capital.

Insurance Regulatory Information System

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners has also developed a rating system, the Insurance
Regulatory Information System, primarily intended to assist state insurance departments in overseeing the
financial condition of all insurance companies operating within their respective states. The Insurance
Regulatory Information System consists of eleven key financial ratios that address various aspects of each
insurer’s financial condition and stability. Our insurance companies’ Insurance Regulatory Information
System ratios generally fall within the usual prescribed ranges except in satisfactorily explainable circum-
stances such as when there is a large reinsurance transaction, capital change, merger or planned growth.

Pending or Proposed Legislation

In recent years, state legislatures have considered or enacted laws that modify and, in many cases,
increase state authority to regulate insurance companies and insurance holding company systems. State
insurance regulators are members of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, which seeks to
promote uniformity of, and to enhance the state regulation of, insurance. In addition, the National Association
of Insurance Commissioners and state insurance regulators, as part of the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners’ state insurance department accreditation program and in response to new federal laws, have
re-examined existing state laws and regulations, specifically focusing on insurance company investments,
issues relating to the solvency of insurance companies, licensing and market conduct issues, streamlining agent
licensing and policy form approvals, adoption of privacy rules for handling policyholder information,
interpretations of existing laws, the development of new laws, and the definition of extraordinary dividends.

In recent years, a variety of measures have been proposed at the federal level to reform the current
process of federal and state regulation of the financial services industries in the United States, which include
the banking, insurance and securities industries. These measures, which are often referred to as financial
services modernization, have as a principal objective the elimination or meodification of current regulatory
barriers to cross-industry combinations involving banks, securities firms and insurance companies. A form of
financial services modernization legislation was enacted at the federal level in 1999 through the Gramm-
Leach-Bliley Act. That federal legislation was expected to have significant implications on the banking,
insurance and securities industries and to result in more cross-industry consolidations among banks, insurance
companies and securities firms and increased competition in many of the areas of our operations. Such wide-
spread cross-industry consolidation has not occurred to date. It also mandated the adoption of laws allowing
reciprocity among the states in the licensing of agents and, along with other federal laws, mandated the
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adoption of laws and regulations dealing with the protection of the privacy of policyholder information. Also,
the federal government has conducted investigations of the current condition of the insurance industry in the
United States to determine whether to impose overall federal regulation of insurers. In the past several years
there have been a number of recommendations that the industry’s anti-trust exemption be removed and the
industry placed under federal regulation. If so, we believe state regulation of the insurance business would
likely continue. This could result in an additional layer of federal regulation.

We do not know at this time the full extent to which these federal or state legislative or regulatory
initiatives will or may affect our operations, and no assurance can be given that they would not, if adopted,
have a material adverse effect on our business or its results of operations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2001, we had 997 employees. The employees include seven executive officers, 18
senior management, 95 management and 877 other personnel. Of this number, 366 are employed by our
insurance companies, 389 are employed by our underwriting agencies, 127 are employed by our intermediaries,
and 115 are employed at the corporate headquarters and elsewhere. We are not a party to any collective
bargaining agreement and have not experienced work stoppages or strikes as a result of labor disputes. We
consider our employee relations to be good.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal and executive offices are located in Houston, Texas, in an approximately 51,000 square foot
building owned by Houston Casualty Company. Houston Casualty Company also owns a 77,000 square foot
building adjacent to its home office building. We also maintain offices in over 20 locations elsewhere in the
United States and England. The majority of these additional locations are in leased facilities.

Besides our home office, our principal office facilities are as follows:

Subsidiary Location Sq. Ft.  Lease Termination Date
Avemco Insurance Company Frederick, Maryland 40,000 Owned
U.S. Specialty Insurance Company

Aviation Division Dallas, Texas 40,000 March 31, 2004
Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. Mount Kisco, New York 38,000 Owned
Houston Casualty Company Accident and

Health Division Wakefield, Massachusetts 28,000 October 31, 2006
HCC Benefits Corporation Costa Mesa, California 22,000 March 31, 2007

Kennesaw, Georgia 21,000 January 31, 2006

HCC Employee Benefits, Inc. Houston, Texas 20,000 August 31, 2006
Rattner Mackenzie Limited London, England 15,000 September 29, 2003
ASU International, LLC Woburn, Massachusetts 12,000 January 31, 2005

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In addition to the matters discussed in the Reinsurance Ceded section contained in Item 1, Business, we
are party to numerous lawsuits and other proceedings that arise in the normal course of our business. Many of
such lawsuits and other proceedings involve claims under policies that we underwrite as an insurer or reinsurer,
the liabilities for which, we believe have been adequately included in our loss reserves. Also, from time to
time, we are a party to lawsuits and other proceedings which relate to disputes over contractual relationships
with third parties, or which involve alleged errors and omissions on the part of our subsidiaries. We believe the
resolution of any such lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2001.

PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Price Range of Common Stock
Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “HCC”.

The intra-day high and low sales prices for quarterly periods during the period January 1, 2000 through
December 31, 2001, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange were as follows:

2001 2000
High Low High Low
First quarter . ... $26.88  $20.50 $15.00 $11.50
Second quAarter . ... o 29.65 23.26 19.69 10.94
Third quarter ......... .. . ... 26.67 21.21 22.94 18.69
Fourth quarter ....... ... ... .. . i 29.20 25.15 27.19 17.63

On March 15 2002, the last reported sales price of our common stock as reported by the New York Stock
Exchange was $28.13 per share.

Shareholders

We have one class of authorized capital stock: 250.0 million shares of common stock, par value $1.00 per
share. As of March 15, 2002, there were 62.0 million shares of issued and outstanding common stock heid by
954 shareholders of record; however, we believe there are in excess of 15,000 beneficial owners.

Dividend Policy

Beginning in June, 1996, we announced a planned quarterly program of paying cash dividends to
shareholders. We paid a cash dividend of $0.02 per share in July, 1996 and in each succeeding quarter through
the first quarter of 1997. We have increased the quarterly cash dividend in each year and beginning in
September, 2001, our quarterly dividend was $0.0625 per share. Our Board of Directors may review our
dividend policy from time to time, and any determination with respect to future dividends will be made in light
of regulatory and other conditions at that time, including our earnings, financial condition, capital require-
ments, loan covenants, and other related factors. Under the terms of our bank loan, we are prohibited from
paying dividends in excess of an agreed upon maximum amount in any fiscal year. That limitation should not
affect our ability to pay dividends in a manner consistent with our past practice and current expectations.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below has been derived from the Consolidated Financial
Statements. All information contained herein should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the related notes thereto and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Report.
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For the years ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data) (1)

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Statement of earnings data
Revenue
Net earned premium. . ..............viivieenneenan., $342,787 $267,647 $141,362 $143,100 $162,571
Management fees .......... 61,795 96,058 90,713 74,045 51,039
Commission INCOME .. ..ottt it 43,412 49,886 58,233 40,804 25,375
Net investment INCOME . . ... .ottt 39,638 39,836 30,946 29,342 27,588
Net realized investment gain (loss) ..................... 393 (5,321)  (4,164) 845 (328)
Other operating income ..o 17,436 25,497 28,475 22,268 15,239
Total revenue . ...t 505,461 473,603 345565 310,404 281,484
Expense
Loss and loss adjustment expense, net ................... 267,390 198,470 109,650 91,302 96,514
Operating expense
Policy acquisition costs, net ..., 27,923 23,743 8,177 10,978 13,580
Compensation eXPense . ... .......ouvrurruenreennn. 69,762 83,086 79,196 57,227 51,994
Provision for reinsurance .................c.ccuuoie.. — — 43,462 — —
Other operating eXpense .. .........oovuneeennnenn... 71,119 53,274 53,273 36,451 31,935
Merger eXpense .. ...t — — — 107 8,069
Total operating €Xpense ...............cccoeun... 168,804 160,103 184,108 104,763 105,578
Interest €Xpense . ......ovviiii i 8,884 20,347 12,964 6,021 6,004
Total €XPENSe . . .o v ittt e 445,078 378,920 306,722 202,086 208,096
Earnings before income tax provision .............. 60,383 94,683 38,843 108,318 73,388
Income tax provision. ......... ... .o iiiiiiiiii .. 30,186 37,202 12,271 35,208 23,305
Net earnings before accounting change ............ 30,197 57,481 26,572 73,110 50,083
Cumulative effect of accounting change(2) ................. — (2,013) — — —
Net @armings. .« oo e $ 30,197 $ 55468 $ 26,572 $ 73,110 $ 50,083
Basic earnings per share data:
Earnings before accounting change ................. ... $ 052 $ 113 § 053 $ 149 § 104
Cumulative effect of accounting change (2) ............ — (0.04) — — —
Net earnings......... e $§ 052§ 109 § 053 § 149 § 104
Weighted average shares outstanding . ................. 58,321 50,742 50,058 48,917 47,992
Diluted earnings per share data:
Earnings before accounting change . ................... $ 051 $§ 11l 052 $ 146 $ 1.02
Cumulative effect of accounting change (2) ............ — (0.04) — — —
NEt €arnINES. . .o oottt e e § 051 $ 107 $§ 052 $ 146 $ 1.02
Weighted average shares outstanding .................. 59,619 51,619 50,646 49,933 49,206
Cash dividends declared, pershare ........................ $ 0245 § 022 $ 020 $ 016 § 0.12
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December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Balance sheet data:

Total investments ...............ccovivn.... $ 888,466 $ 711,113 § 581,322 § 525,646 § 518,772
Premium, claims and other receivables ......... 665,965 609,716 636,671 382,885 252,759
Reinsurance recoverables. .................... 899,128 789,412 736,485 372,672 176,965
Ceded unearned premium .................... 71,140 114,469 133,657 149,568 84,610
Goodwill and intangible assets ................ 328,815 266,015 263,687 88,043 34,758
Total @ssets ..o ovvin 3,219,120 2,790,755 2,679,737 1,709,643 1,198,353
Loss and loss adjustment expense payable ... ... 1,130,748 944,117 871,104 460,511 275,008
Unearned premium ..............oovvinn... 179,530 190,550 188,524 201,050 152,094
Notes payable . ............. ... ... iiin... 181,928 212,133 242,546 121,600 80,750
Shareholders’ equity......................... 763,453 530,930 458,439 440,430 365,779

Book value per share(3) ..................... 12.40 10.29 9.12 8.94 7.50

(1) Certain amounts in the 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997 selected consolidated financial data have been
reclassified to conform to the 2001 presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on our net earnings,
shareholders’ equity, or cash flows.

(2) During 2000, we changed certain of our revenue recognition methods for our agencies and intermediaries
to agree to guidance contained in Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin
Number 101 entitled “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”. See Note (1) in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) Book value per share is calculated by dividing the sum of shares outstanding plus contractually issuable
shares into total shareholders’ equity.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We primarily receive our revenue from earned premium derived from our insurance company operations,
management fees generated by our underwriting agency operations, commission income produced by our
intermediary operations, investment income from all of our operations and capital and other operating income.
Our core underwriting activities involve providing life, accident and health; aviation; marine, energy and
property; and other specialty lines of insurance and reinsurance, each of which is marketed by our insurance
companies and our underwriting agencies either directly to customers or through a network of independent or
affiliated agents and brokers.

During the past several years, we have substantially increased our shareholders’ equity through the
issuance of equity securities and through our retaining of earnings, thereby enabling us to increase the
underwriting capacity of our insurance companies. With this additional equity, we increased underwriting
activity across many of our core lines of business, emphasizing lines of business and individual opportunities
with the most favorable underwriting characteristics at a particular point in the insurance cycle. As an insurer,
we also purchase reinsurance for each of our lines of business. We purchase different types of reinsurance in
amounts we consider appropriate for each of our lines of business based upon market conditions and the level
of risk we wish to retain.

Currently, our underwriting agencies underwrite life, accident and health, contingency (including contest
indemnification, event cancellation, and weather coverages), directors and officers liability, individual
disability (for athletes and other high profile individuals), kidnap and ransom and professional liability
insurance and other specialty lines of business on behalf of our insurance companies and unaffiliated insurance
companies. Our underwriting agency activities are fee based and non-risk bearing.

In conjunction with the expansion of underwriting activities by our insurance companies and in an effort
to increase the efficiency of certain of our operations, we consolidated the operations of certain of our agency
operations with those of certain of our insurance companies in 2001 and 2002. These consolidations will result
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in a reduction in management fee income and the net earnings from our underwriting agency segment, but
such reduction should be more than offset over time by increases in net earnings of our insurance company
segment.

Cur intermediaries are fee based, non-risk bearing and place reinsurance for our insurance companies and
underwriting agencies and for other non-affiliated insurance companies and risk taking entities, as well as
insurance on behalf of medium and large corporate clients.

Other operating income has been generated through our insurance services operations, which supported
our own operations as well as provided services for other clients. Additionally, other operating income may
include the equity in the earnings of a company in which we invest, dividends or gains or losses from the
disposition of these investments. In 2001, we sold the last of our service operations, which will result in a
decrease in other operating income in future years.

From 1999 through 2001, in response to adverse market conditions, we focused our acquisition activities
on expanding our underwriting agency and intermediary operations for three principal reasons:

o to provide a future source of premium revenue to our insurance companies in existing and new
specialty lines of business and greater control of premium distribution channels;

> to insulate us from a decline in our revenue growth rate as insurance premium rates became more
competitive in our specialty lines of business and we became more selective in our underwriting,
resulting in reduced earned premium;

= to increase the management fees and commission income components of our total revenue, which we
believed were a more predictable and stable source of revenue than the potential underwriting gain
from insurance company operations during periods of overly competitive pricing.

Late in 1999, primarily due to a reduction in reinsurance capacity, rates began to increase, particularly in
our life, accident and health, and aviation lines of business. These market conditions continued to improve
during 2000 and 2001 and also in our marine, energy and property line of business. This improvement
accelerated after the September 11 terrorist attacks and we expect this to continue in 2002. In response to
these changing market conditions, we plan to continue to expand our underwriting activities.

During December, 1999, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of The Centris Group, Inc. in a
transaction recorded using the purchase method of accounting. During October, 2001, we acquired all of the
outstanding shares of ASU International, LLC and Marshall Rattner, Inc. and its operating subsidiary,
Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc., which were also transactions recorded for using the purchase method of
accounting. The results of operations and cash flows of these three companies are included in our consolidated
results beginning on the effective date of each transaction.

During January, 2001, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of The Schanen Consulting Group, LLC.
This business combination has been recorded using the pooling-of-interests method of accounting. Our
consolidated financial statements have been restated to include the accounts and operations of The Schanen
Consulting Group, LLC for all periods presented.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain premium revenue information for the three years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 (in thousands):

2001 2000 1599

Direct ..o $ 783,124 $ 676,730 $ 291,513
Reinsurance assumed. .. ...ttt 226,951 290,727 276,818

Gross WIitten Premium ... .oovvetiinnnnneeennn.. 1,010,075 967,457 568,331
Reinsurance ceded . ........... ... i, (637,117) (683,669)  (428,407)

Net Written premitm . ..o ove et ennn 372,958 283,788 139,924
Change in unearned premium ....................... (30,171) (16,141) 1,438

Net earned premium .. ........oooveiiien... $ 342,787 $ 267,647 § 141,362

The following table sets forth the relationships of certain income statement items as a percent of total
revenue for the three years ended December 31, 2001:

2001 2000 1959

Net earned premilm .. ...ttt i 67.8% 56.5% 40.9%
Management fees . ... 12.2 20.3 26.2
Commission INCOME . . ... ..ttt e e e 8.6 10.5 16.9
Net Investment INCOME . .. v vttt et e e, 7.8 8.4 9.0
Net realized investment gain (loss) ........... . v, 0.1 (L.1)  (1.2)
Other operating income .. .........ouuiiiurtnee ... 3.5 5.4 8.2
Total revenue . ... ..ottt 100.0 100.0 100.0
Loss and loss adjustment expense, net .............. ... ... v.... 52.9 41.9 31.7
Net Operating eXpPensSe .« ..o v vttt 334 33.8 533
InteTeSt BXPEMSE . o v\ vttt et e e 1.7 4.3 3.8
Earnings before income tax provision . ..................... 12.0 20.0 11.2
Income tax ProviSion .. .........uuiuunnetuun e, 6.0 7.9 3.5
Net earnings before accounting change .................... 6.0% 121% 7.7%

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Versus Year Ended December 31, 2000

Total revenue increased 7% to $505.5 million for 2001 compared to 2000. The increase in the insurance
company segment revenue resulting from increased business, greater retention levels and higher investment
income was offset primarily by a reduction in the underwriting agency segment revenue as we consolidated the
operations of three of our underwriting agencies into the operations of our insurance companies on January 1,
2001. We anticipate that total revenue will continue to increase in 2002 as earned premium continues to grow
and revenue from recent acquisitions is included in our consolidated financial statements.

Net investment income was $39.6 million for 2001 compared to $39.8 million in 2000. The positive effect
on investment income of our higher level of invested assets was offset by a significant decrease in interest rates
in 2001. We expect positive operating cash flow to continue in 2002, thereby increasing invested assets and
investment income, but the increase could again be substantially offset by the effect of continued low interest
rates. During 2001, we recorded a net realized investment gain of $0.4 million, compared to a loss of
$5.3 million in 2000. During 2001 we recognized a $2.4 million realized loss from the write down of five
investments to their estimated fair market value compared to a similar write down of $5.1 million from one
equity investment during 2000. The loss from write downs during 2001 was offset by other gains recorded on
investments sold.
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During 2001, we experienced three significant gross losses. The largest loss was as a result of the terrorist
attacks on September 11, which produced the biggest loss to our insurance company operations in our history.
Although we had no involvement in the insurance coverages of the airlines involved, we had significant
exposure in our accident and health reinsurance account. Cur estimates of ultimate exposure were developed
through a review of policy coverages, consideration of the effect on the estimate if the attacks were considered
multiple events rather than a single event, and communications from our clients and producers. We also have
participations in property coverage on the World Trade Center and some of the surrounding buildings. In
addition, we anticipate some claims from other business written in the New York City area. We also received
some reported claims and estimates of losses for others. We have utilized this information together with
known coverage and reinstatement premium information to establish our gross and net losses reserve of
$141.0 million and $35.0 million, respectively. A charge for the net amount has been included in our 2001
consolidated financial statements. We continue to monitor the reserve and believe our estimates to be
reasonable, but they may be subject to adjustment as we receive additional information, which could take
several years to finalize. In addition, we have reviewed the estimated reinsurance recoverables related to this
loss and believe that they are collectible in the normal course of business. Over 95% of the total amount of
reinsurance recoverables from this loss are due from 38 companies and Lloyds’ syndicates, each of which is
rated “A—" or better by either A.M. Best Company, Inc. or Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. The other two
losses were the Petrobras (Brazilian offshore energy production platform) and Total (chemical factory near
Toulouse, France) incidents, which produced gross losses of $35.0 million and $49.0 million, respectively.
Because these policies were substantially reinsured, the net losses were not material to our results of
operations. The Petrobras loss was paid during the third quarter of 2001 and all reinsurance recoverables
related to it have been collected. We expect the reinsurance recoverables related to the Total loss to be
collected in due course once the original claim is settled.

During 2001, we recorded a charge totaling $37.3 million related to lines of business that we are exiting,
mainly our primary workers’ compensation line of business. The composition of this charge is $18.8 million for
loss and loss adjustment expense, $2.2 million for net policy acquisition costs and $16.3 million for other
operating expense. Included in other operating expense is $15.0 million related to the impairment of goodwill
associated with the primary workers’ compensation line of business. The fair value of this line of business was
calculated based upon the present value of future expected cash flows.

Compensation expense decreased to $69.8 million for 2001 from $83.1 million in 2000. The decrease is
due principally to the disposition of non-core subsidiaries, the subsequent closing or reduction of some
operations of an acquired company and efficiencies gained from the consolidation of some of our underwriting
agency operations with those of our insurance companies.

Other operating expense for 2001 included $16.3 million from charges related to lines of business being
exited. Excluding these charges, other operating expense in 2001 was somewhat reduced for the same reasons
as compensation expense, but to a much lesser extent, and the decrease was offset by a general increase in
expenses in our operating subsidiaries as business grew. In addition, guarantee fund and other assessments
increased $3.5 million in 2001 compared to 2000. Other operating expenses for 2000 also included a credit of
$789,000 reflecting the reversal of some restructuring charges recorded during the previous year, whereas
during 2001 we recorded $176,000 in merger expense resulting from an acquisition. Currency conversion gains
amounted to $324,000 in 200], compared to losses of $330,000 in 2000.

Interest expense was $8.9 million for 2001 down from $20.3 million in 2000. This decrease resulted from
our use of the proceeds from our March, 2001 public offering of common stock and part of our August, 2001
offering of 2% convertible notes to pay off our debt under the bank facility, lower interest rates and the low
interest rate on our newly issued convertible notes.

Income tax expense on earnings before the change in accounting was $30.2 million for 2001 down from
$37.2 million for 2000 primarily due to the reduction in pre tax income. The unusual effective tax rate for 2001
of 50% compared to 39% for 2000, primarily results from the charge for the impairment of goodwill related to
our exit from the primary workers’ compensation line of business. That charge was not deductible for income
tax purposes. ’

38



Net earnings before the change in accounting was $30.2 million, or $0.51 per diluted share, for 2001
compared to $57.5 million, or $1.11 per diluted share, in 2000. This decrease primarily results from the after
tax loss from the September 11 terrorist attacks of $22.8 million, or $0.38 per diluted share, and the after tax
charge for lines of business being exited of $29.6 million, or $0.50 per diluted share.

Our book value per share was $12.40 as of December 31, 2001, up substantially from $10.29 as of
December 31, 2000.

Segments

Insurance Companies

Gross written premium increased to $1.0 billion for 2001 from $967.5 million in 2000 with strong growth
in the life, accident and health line of business and, to a lesser extent, in the marine, energy and property line
of business, as rates continue to rise, offset by a planned decrease from exited lines. Gross written premium
growth is not our focus in 2002, as we are able to grow our revenue simply by retaining more of the business we
currently write. Net written premium for 2001 increased 31% to $373.0 mitlion compared to the previous year,
as our insurance companies have increased retentions on many of their lines of business as underwriting
profitability improves. Net earned premium increased 28% to $342.8 million for the same reason. The increase
in net written premium and net earned premium is expected to continue in 2002,

Loss and loss adjustment expense increased to $267.4 million for 2001 compared to $198.5 million in
2000 substantially due to losses and expenses arising from the September 11 loss and the charge related to
lines of business being exited. The net loss ratio in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
was 78.0% (62.3% excluding the September 11 loss and the charge related to lines of business being exited)
for 2001 compared to 74.2% in 2000. The medical stop-loss line of business continues to have significantly
improved underwriting results. The gross loss ratio in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles was 105.5% (77.6% excluding the September 11, Petrobras and Total losses and the charge related
to lines of business being exited) in 2001 compared to 79.4% for 2000. The Petrobras and Total claims were
substantially reinsured and did not have a material effect on our net loss ratio or net earnings. The combined
ratio in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles was 103.7% (87.1% excluding the
September 11 loss and the charge related to lines of business being exited) in 2001 compared to 95.2% for
2000.

During 2001, we had net loss and loss adjustment expense redundancy of $10.7 million relating to prior
year losses compared to a redundancy of $9.6 million in 2000 and we had gross loss and loss adjustment
expense deficiency of $44.5 million compared to a redundancy of $1.9 million in 2000. The gross deficiency for
2001 resulted from rate reported loss information received during 2001. These losses primarily came from
assumed reinsurance business written by one of our insurance companies. The other deficiencies and
redundancies result from our continued review with our actuaries of loss reserves and the increase or reduction
of such reserves as losses are finally settled and claims exposures are reduced. We continue to believe we have
provided for all material net incurred losses.

Policy acquisition costs, which are net of ceding commissions on reinsurance ceded, increased somewhat
to $27.9 million during 2001 compared to 2000. During 2001, our insurance companies charged higher policy
issuance fees on certain lines of business which are recorded as a reduction in acquisition costs. This reduction
in costs is offset by the increase in policy acquisition costs resulting from higher earned premium and part of
the charge from lines of business being exited.

The net loss of our insurance companies was $2.9 million in 2001 compared to net income of
$24.2 million for 2000. The 2001 results include after tax losses from September 11 of $22.8 million and
expenses of $29.4 million.

Underwriting Agencies

Management fees decreased to $61.8 million for 2001 compared to $96.1 million in 2000. Much of the
decrease is the result of our consolidation of the operations of three of our underwriting agencies into the
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operations of our insurance companies effective January 1, 2001. Additional decreases are due to lines of
business either sold or exited and increased retentions of our insurance companies. Net earnings of our
underwriting agencies decreased to $17.2 million for 2001 from $21.4 million in 2000 for the same reasons. We
expect management fees (before eliminations) and net earnings of our underwriting agency segment to grow
in 2002 due to organic growth and recent acquisitions.

Intermediaries

Commission income was $43.4 million for 2001 compared to $49.9 million in 2000. Commission income
decreased due to general market conditions and less ceded reinsurance being placed on behalf of our insurance
companies as they increased their retentions. Net earnings of our intermediaries decreased to $8.7 million for
2001 compared to $11.2 million in 2000. The decrease in net earnings was partly caused by our acquisition of
The Schanen Consulting Group, LLC who was not subject to income taxes during 2000 prior to our
ownership, but reflected in our historical results due to pooling-of-interest accounting and less commission
income as a result of the mix of business, which had a lower gross margin during the current year, somewhat
offset by a lower effective tax rate.

Other Operations

The decrease in other operating revenue to $17.4 million for 2001 from $25.5 million in 2000 results
principally from the disposition or closure of certain non-core operations. During 2001, we recorded gains of
$8.2 million from the sale of other operating investments compared to $5.7 miltion for 2000. The increase in
gains was somewhat offset by loss of revenue included in the 2000 period related to operations that have since
been closed or disposed of. Net earnings of other operations were $7.1 million in 2001 up from $6.0 million in
2000 for the same reasons. Period to period comparisons may vary substantially depending on other operating
investments, or dispositions of such investments, in any given period. As of December 31, 2001, all operating
entities included in this segment had been sold or closed so revenue is expected to decrease substantially in
2002.

Corporate

The net loss of the corporate segment was $1.0 million for 2001 compared to a net loss of $4.7 million in
2000. This improvement resulted from the reduction of interest expense as we paid off our debt under the bank
facility by using the proceeds from the March, 2001 public offering of common stock and the August, 2001
offering of 2% convertible notes, lower bank interest rates and the low interest rate on our newly issued 2%
convertible notes. Also included in the amounts for 2000 were the costs of the closing of some operations of an
acquired company. :

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Versus Year Ended December 31, 1999

Our total revenue increased 37% to $473.6 million in 2000 compared to 1999. This revenue increase
resulted from the higher retention of premium underwritten by our insurance companies, particularly in the
medical stop-loss line of business, and increased investment income.

Our net investment income increased 29% to $39.8 million in 2000 compared to 1999. This increase was
primarily due to a higher level of invested assets which resulted from the greater retentions of premium
underwritten by our insurance companies, the investment of cash received during the first quarter of 2000 from
our commutation with a reinsurer and cash flow from operations.

In 2000, we engaged General Re New England Asset Management, a subsidiary of Berkshire Hathaway,
Inc. and a nationally prominent investment advisor, particularly to insurance companies, and undertook an in-
depth review and restructuring of our investment portfolio. As a part of this restructuring, we shortened our
investment portfolio’s duration but did not significantly change the average credit rating. Cur net realized
investment losses from sales or write downs of equity securities was $5.6 million in 2000, compared to losses of
$3.9 million in 1999. In 2000, we recognized a $5.1 million realized loss from the write down of an equity
investment to its estimated fair market value based upon market quotations compared to a similar write down
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of $4.3 million in 1999. Our net realized investment gains from the disposition of fixed income securities were
$203,000 in 2000, compared to losses of $164,000 in 1999.

Cur compensation expense increased to $83.1 million during 2000 from $79.2 million in 1999. This
increase reflects a normal progressional increase due to business growth plus the increase due to The Centris
Group, Inc. acquisition, offset by the savings resulting from the 1999 fourth quarter restructuring and the sale
of non-core subsidiaries. Other than the restructuring expenses discussed below, other operating expenses
increased to $52.5 million from $47.7 million for similar reasons. Included in other operating expense are
restructuring expenses of $761,000 in 2000 and $5.5 million in 1999. Currency conversion losses amounted to
$330,000 in 2000, compared to gains of $442,000 in 1999.

Our interest expense was $20.3 million in 2000 compared to $13.0 million in 1999. This increase is a
result of higher interest rates and increased debt outstanding, principally as a result of funding The Centris
Group, Inc. acquisition.

Our income tax expense was $35.9 million in 2000 compared to $12.3 million in 1999. Qur effective tax
rate was 39% in the 2000 period compared to 32% in 1999. Most of the increase in the effective tax rate was
due to non-deductible goodwill amortization relating to The Centris Group, Inc. acquisition, a shift of fixed
income investments to taxable instruments from tax exempt instruments and increased underwriting agency
income which is subject to state income taxes.

Our net earnings in 2000 increased 109% to $55.5 million or $1.07 per diluted share from $26.6 million or
$0.52 per diluted share in 1999. These increases result principally from improved underwriting results, an
increase in investment income and the effects of the provision for reinsurance and a larger restructuring
expense recorded during 1999. In 2000, we incurred a $2.0 million after-tax charge for a change in accounting
principles to conform our agency and intermediary revenue recognition principles to those required by the
guidance in Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin Number 101 entitled “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements”. The change was not material to earnings before cumulative effect of
accounting change for 2000.

Our book value per share was $10.29 as of December 31, 2000, up from $9.12 as of December 31, 1999.

Segments

Insurance Companies

Gross written premium generated by our insurance companies increased 70% to $967.5 million in 2000
compared to 1999 due to new business, rate increases, increased participation by our insurance companies in
the business underwritten by our underwriting agencies and the acquisition of The Centris Group, Inc. Net
written premium generated by our insurance companies in 2000 increased 103% to $283.8 million compared to
1999, as our insurance companies have increased retentions in many of their lines of business as underwriting
results showed improvement. Net earned premium increased 89% to $267.6 million during 2000 for the same
reasons.

Loss and loss adjustment expense incurred by our insurance companies increased to $198.5 million in
2000 from $109.7 million in 1999. The increase in net loss and loss adjustment expense is due to the higher
level of net retained premium, net of the effect of improved underwriting results. The net loss ratio in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles decreased to 74.2% in 2000 from 77.6% in 1999. In
2000, we also recorded a $4.4 million increase in reserves for exited lines of business acquired with our 1999
acquisition of The Centris Group, Inc. This increase represents 1.6% of the 2000 net loss ratio. The gross loss
ratio in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles decreased to 79.4% in 2000 from 116.5% in
1999. The general improvement in our loss ratios results from the effects of increased premium rates in certain
lines of business, reduced writings in other unprofitable lines of business and a general improvement in market
conditions, particularly in the domestic aviation and medical stop-loss lines of business. The combined ratio in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles of our insurance companies was 95.2% for 2000
compared to 129.3% (98.6% excluding effects of the provision for reinsurance) in 1999.
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During 2000, we had net loss and loss adjustment expense redundancy of $9.6 million relating to prior
year losses compared to a deficiency of $4.6 million in 1999 and we had gross loss and loss adjustment expense
redundancy of $1.9 million compared to a deficiency of $90.0 million in 1999. The 1999 gross deficiency
results from two principal conditions. The first is the development of large claims on individual policies which
were either reported late or for which reserves were increased as subsequent information became available,
However, as these policies were substantially reinsured, there was no material effect to our net earnings.
Secondly, during 1999 in connection with the insolvency of one of the our reinsurers and with the
commutation, finalized subsequent to year end, of all liabilities with another, we re-evaluated all loss reserves
and incurred but not reported loss reserves related to business placed with these reinsurers to determine the
ultimate losses we might conservatively expect. These reserves were then used as the basis for the
determination of the provision for reinsurance recorded in 1999. The other deficiencies and redundancies in
the reserves result from our continued review with our actuaries of loss reserves and the increase or reduction
of such reserves as losses are finally settled and claims exposures are reduced. We continue to believe we have
provided for all material net incurred losses.

Policy acquisition costs, which are net of commissions on ceded reinsurance, increased to $23.7 million
during 2000 from $8.2 miltion for 1999. This increase in costs results from higher retained premium and the
resulting reduced ceding commissions.

Net earnings of our insurance companies increased to $24.2 million in 2000 from a loss of $10.7 million in
1999, primarily as a result of improved underwriting results, the effect of the provision for reinsurance
recorded in 1999 and the increase in investment income.

Underwriting Agencies

Management fees generated by our underwriting agencies increased 6% to $96.1 million in 2000
compared to 1999. This increase resulted primarily from the increased premium volume in the medical stop-
loss line of business, which was due to rate increases and The Centris Group, Inc. acquisition. The increase in
management fees was disproportionate to the increase in premium as a result of higher policy issuance fees
and increased retentions by our insurance companies which reduced management fees earned by our
underwriting agencies. These reductions are offset by an equal reduction in net policy acquisition costs of our
insurance companies. Net earnings of our underwriting agencies increased 25% to $21.4 million in 2000 from
$17.2 million in 1999 due to increased revenue, a smaller restructuring charge in 2000 than in 1999 and higher
pretax margins primarily as a result of the successful integration of The Centris Group, Inc. acquisition.

Intermediaries

Commission income decreased to $49.9 million in 2000 from $58.2 million in 1999. Net earnings of our
intermediaries decreased to $11.2 million in 2000 from $15.1 million in 1999. These decreases were due to a
significant reduction in the amount of ceded reinsurance placed on behalf of our insurance companies as a
result of their planned increase in retentions.

Other Operations

Other operating revenué decreased td $25.5 million during 2000 from $28.5 million for the same period in
1999. Net earnings of our other operations decreased to $6.0 million in 2000 from $7.6 million in 1999.
Revenue and earnings can vary considerably from period to period depending on investment or disposition
activity.

Corporate

The net loss of the corporate segment was $4.7 million in 2000 compared to a net loss of $2.3 million in
1999. This resulted from the increase of interest expense not allocated to the operating segments during 2000
as well as costs of the closing of some operations of a company acquired in late 1999.
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Restructuring

As of December 31, 1999, we accrued a restructuring liability of $4.0 million related to our ongoing
operations. As of December 31, 2000, all restructuring costs had been paid or adjusted with the exception of a
remaining liability of $105,000. During 2000, we determined that one of the leased offices scheduled to be
closed would be retained. Therefore, we reversed $789,000 (included as a credit in other operating expenses in
the consolidated financial statements) of the restructuring expense recorded during the fourth quarter of 1999,
of which $514,000 was the reversal of the accrual for future lease payments and $275,000 was the reversal of
the write-off of certain assets.

As of December 31, 1999, we had also accrued a restructuring liability related to our acquisition of The
Centris Group, Inc. Changes in the accrual between December 31, 1999 and December 31, 2000 are shown in
the table below (in thousands):

Accrued at Paid In 2000 Accrued at

12/31/99 2000 Adjustments 12/31/00

Contractual executive severance accruals. ...... $5,866 $6,027 $ 166 $ 5
QOther severance accruals .................... 397 541 258 114
Lease obligation accruals . ................... 848 1,004 1,196 1,040
Total ... .. . $7,111 $7,572 $1,620 M_Sg

The adjustments in 2000 were recorded as management decided to take additional steps to integrate parts
of The Centris Group, Inc. operations. As of December 31, 2001, all amounts have been paid except for a
$0.3 million lease obligation.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, we also recorded a restructuring charge and associated expenses of
$1.5 million. A total of 26 employees were terminated as a result of our restructuring of certain underwriting
agency operations and their integration into our insurance company operations. The charges affected both
segments and consisted of $557,000 accrued severance pay to be paid at various times throughout 2001 and
$992,000 for the write down or write off of various impaired assets, primarily redundant computer software.

Ligquidity and Capital Resources

We receive substantial cash from premiums, reinsurance recoverables, and management fee and
commission income and, to a lesser extent, investment income, and proceeds from sales and redemptions of
investments and other assets. Our principal cash outflows are for the payment of claims and loss adjustment
expenses, payment of premiums to reinsurers, purchase of investments, debt service, and payment of policy
acquisition costs, operating expenses, income and other taxes and dividends. Variations in operating cash flows
can occur due to timing differences in either the payment of claims and the collection of related recoverables
or the collection of receivables and the payment of related payable amounts. We limit our liquidity exposure
by holding funds, letters of credit and other security such that net balances due to us are less than the gross
balances shown in our condensed consolidated balance sheets.

We maintain a substantial level of cash and liquid short-term investments which are used to meet
anticipated payment obligations. Our consolidated cash and investment portfolio increased $180.3 million, or
25% during 2001, and totaled $905.4 million as of December 31, 2001, of which $355.8 million was cash and
short-term investments. The increase in investments resuited primarily from operating cash flows and the

$60.0 million in capital contributions we made to our insurance companies in 2002. Total assets increased to
$3.2 billion as of December 31, 2001.

Our investment portfolio includes a high percentage of liquid investments and generates a significant
amount of investment income, which serves as a source of cash flow. The average tax equivalent yield on
investments was 5.6% in 2001, compared to 7.1% in 2000. The weighted average duration of the portfolio was
four years as of December 31, 2001. Over 98% of our fixed income securities were rated A or better by
Standard & Poor’s Corporation. The value of our portfolio of fixed income securities is inversely correlated to
changes in market interest rates. In addition, some of our fixed income securities have call or prepayment
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options. This could subject us to reinvestment risk should interest rates fall or issuers call their securities and
we reinvest the proceeds at lower interest rates. We mitigate this risk by investing in securities with varied
maturity dates, so that only a portion of our portfolio will mature at any point in time.

On March 6, 2001, we sold 6.9 million shares of our common stock in a public offering at a price of
$23.35 per share. Net proceeds from the offering amounted to $152.4 million after deducting underwriting
discounts, commissions and offering expenses and were used to pay down our bank facility.

On August 23, 2001, we issued an aggregate $172.5 million principal amount of 2% Convertible Notes
due 2021 in a public offering. Each $1,000 principal amount of notes is convertible into 31.25 shares of our
common stock, which represents an initial conversion price of $32.00 per share. The initial conversion price is
subject to change under certain conditions. Interest is to be paid by us on March 1 and September 1 each year.
Holders may surrender notes for conversion into shares of our common stock in any calendar quarter if, as of
the last day of the preceding calendar quarter, the closing sale price of our common stock for at least 20
trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the quarter is more
than 120% (currently $38.40 per share) of the conversion price per share of our common stock on the last
trading day of the quarter. We can redeem the notes for cash at any time on or after September 1, 2006.
Holders of the notes may require us to repurchase the notes on September 1, 2002, 2004, 2006, 2008, 2011 and
2016. If the holders exercise this option, we may choose to pay the purchase price in cash, in shares of our
common stock, or a combination thereof. We paid $4.4 million in underwriting discounts and expenses in
connection with the offering, which are being amortized from the issue date until September 1, 2002. We used
the proceeds from this offering to repay our remaining indebtedness under the bank facility, assist in financing
the recent acquisitions, make a $60.0 million capital contribution to our principal insurance companies and for
general corporate purposes.

On December 17, 1999, we entered into a $300.0 million Revolving Loan Facility with a group of banks.
At our request, the amount available under the facility was reduced to $200.0 million by an amendment on
June 6, 2001. We can borrow up to the maximum amount allowed by the facility on a revolving basis until the
facility expires on December 17, 2004. Outstanding advances under the facility bear interest at agreed upon
rates, which ranged between 2.6% and 3.1% as of December 31, 2001. The facility is collateralized in part by
the pledge of the stock of two of our principal insurance companies, Houston Casualty Company and Avemco
Insurance Company, and by the stock of and guarantees entered into by our principal underwriting agencies
and intermediaries. The facility agreement contains certain restrictive covenants, including minimum net
worth requirements for us and certain of our subsidiaries, restrictions on certain extraordinary corporate
actions, notice requirements for certain material occurrences and required maintenance of specified financial
ratios. We believe that the restrictive covenants and our obligations that are contained in the facility
agreement are typical for financing arrangements comparable to our facility. As of December 31, 2001, there
was no outstanding balance on this facility.

As of December 31, 2001, certain of our subsidiaries maintained revolving lines of credit with a bank in
the combined maximum amount of $20.0 million available through December 17, 2004. Advances under the
lines of credit are limited to amounts required to fund draws, if any, on letters of credit issued by the bank on
behalf of the subsidiaries and short-term direct cash advances. The lines of credit are collateralized by
securities having an aggregate market vatue of up to $25.0 million, the actual amount of collateral at any one
time being 125% of the aggregate amount outstanding. Interest on the lines is payable at the bank’s prime rate
of interest (4.75% at December 31, 2001) for draws on the letters of credit and prime less 1% on short-term
cash advances. As of December 31, 2001, letters of credit totaling $7.1 million had been issued to insurance
companies by the bank on behalf of our subsidiaries, with total securities of $8.9 million collateralizing
the lines.
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The following is a summary of our contractual cash payment obligations as of December 31, 2001
(in thousands):
Payments by Due Date

Total 2002 2003-2004 2005-2006 Thereafter
Convertible notes .................. $172,500 $§ — & — $ — $172,500
Bank facility ...................... — — — — —
Other notes payable . ............... 9,428 5,193 2,516 404 1,315
Operating leases .. ................. 26,639 6,663 11,741 7,350 885

$208,567 $11,856  $14,257 $7,754 $174,700

See preceding paragraphs and Notes (5) and (9) in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information of these obligations. The convertible notes have various put dates beginning
September 1, 2002.

The following is a summary of our various commitments and their expirations as of December 31, 2001
(in thousands):

Commitment Expiration by Period

Total 2002 2003-2004  2005-2006

Outgoing letters of credit......................... $ 7137 § — $7,137 % —
Mortgage guarantee .. ...... ... o i 11,356 — — 11,356
Investment commitments ........................ 5,600 5,600 — —
Total commitments ..................... $24,093  $5,600 $7,137 $11,356

The principal assets of HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. are the shares of capital stock of our insurance
companies. Historically, we have not relied on dividends from our insurance companies to meet the obligations
of the parent holding company, which are primarily outstanding debt and debt service obligations, dividends to
shareholders and corporate expenses, but, rather, we have had sufficient cash flow from our underwriting
agencies and intermediaries to meet our cash flow requirements. The payment of dividends by our insurance
companies is subject to regulatory restrictions and will depend on the surplus and future earnings of
these subsidiaries.

Property and casualty insurance companies domiciled in the State of Texas are limited in the payment of
dividends to their shareholders in any twelve-month period, without the prior written consent of the
Commissioner of Insurance, to the greater of statutory net income for the prior calendar year or 10% of its
statutory policyholders’ surplus as of the prior year end. Dividends may only be paid out of statutory
unassigned surplus funds. During 2002, Houston Casualty Company’s ordinary dividend capacity will be
approximately $28.5 million and U.S. Specialty Insurance Company’s ordinary dividend capacity will be zero.

Under the laws of the State of Maryland, Avemco Insurance Company may only pay dividends out of
statutory earned surplus. The maximum amount of dividends that Avemco Insurance Company may pay
without prior regulatory approval in any twelve-month period is the lesser of its statutory net investment
income excluding realized capital gains for the prior calendar year or 10% of its statutory policyholders’ surplus
as of the prior year end. During 2002, Avemco Insurance Company will have an ordinary dividend capacity of
approximately $7.2 million.

HCC Life Insurance Company is limited by the laws of the State of Indiana in the amount of dividends it
may pay in any twelve-month period, without prior regulatory approval, to the greater of its statutory net gain
from operations for the prior calendar year or 10% of its policyholders’ surplus as of the prior year end. During
2002, HCC Life Insurance Company’s ordinary dividend capacity will be approximately $15.1 million.

As of December 31, 2001, we had a net deferred tax asset of $16.5 million compared to $6.7 million as of
December 31, 2000. Due to our history of consistent earnings, expectations for future earnings and taxable
income in carry back years, we expect to be able to fully realize the benefit of our net deferred tax asset.
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We have a reserve of $5.2 million as of December 31, 2001 for potential collectibility issues related to
reinsurance recoverables and associated expenses. The adverse economic environment in the worldwide
insurance industry and the terrorist attacks on September 11 have placed great pressure on reinsurers and the
results of their operations. Ultimately, these conditions could affect reinsurers’ solvency. Historically, there
have been insolvencies following a period of competitive pricing in the industry, such as the marketplace has
experienced for the last several years. While we believe that the reserve is adequate based on currently
available information, conditions may change or additional information might be obtained that would affect
our estimate of the adequacy of the level of the reserve and which may result in a future change in the reserve.
We continually review our financial exposure to the reinsurance market and continue to take actions to
mitigate our position. -

A number of reinsurers have delayed or suspended the payment of amounts recoverable under certain
reinsurance contracts to which we are a party. Such delays have affected, although not materially to date, the
investment income of our insurance companies, but not to any extent their liquidity. We limit our liquidity
exposure by holding funds, letters of credit or other security such that net balances due are significantly less
than the gross balances shown in our consolidated balance sheets. In some instances, the reinsurers have
withheld payment without reference to a substantive basis for the delay or suspension. In other cases, the
reinsurers have claimed they are not liable to for payment to us of all or part of the amounts due under the
applicable reinsurance agreement. We believe these claims are without merit and expect to collect the full
amounts recoverable. We are currently in negotiations with most of these parties, but if such negotiations do
not result in a satisfactory resolution of the matters in question, we may seek or be involved in a judicial or
arbitral determination of these matters. In some cases, the final resolution of such disputes through arbitration
or litigation may extend over several years.

In this regard, as of December 31, 2001, our insurance companies had initiated litigation or arbitration
proceedings against five reinsurers and were involved in one arbitration proceeding initiated by a reinsurer.
These proceedings primarily concern the collection of amounts owing under reinsurance agreements. As of
such date, our insurance companies had an aggregate amount of $15.3 million which had not been paid to us
under the disputed agreements and we estimate that there could be an additional $31.2 million of incurred
losses and loss expenses under the subject agreements. In addition, because our insurance companies,
principally Houston Casualty Company, participated in facilities which were managed by one of our
underwriting agencies, they are indirectly involved in any reinsurance disputes which affect the applicable
facilities. As of December 31, 2001, Houston Casualty Company’s allocated portion of aggregate amounts
which had not been reimbursed to the applicable facilities under the disputed agreements was $4.8 million and
we estimate that there could be an additional $4.0 million of incurred losses and loss expenses under the
subject agreements allocated to Houston Casualty Company. Houston Casualty Company has no net exposure
on disputed amounts due to the non-affiliated companies who also participated in the applicable facilities.

Regulatory guidelines suggest that a property and casualty insurer’s annual statutory gross written
premium should not exceed 900% of its statutory policyholders’ surplus and net written premium should not
exceed 300% of its statutory policyholders’ surplus. However, industry standards and rating agency criteria
place these ratios at 300% and 200%, respectively. In the past, our property and casualty insurance companies
have maintained premium to surplus ratios generally lower than such guidelines and below industry norms.
For the year ended December 31, 2001, our statutory gross written premium to policyholders’ surplus was
252.8% compared to 298.0% for the year ended December 31, 2000. For the year ended December 31, 2001,
our statutory net written premium to policyholders’ surplus was 92.5% compared to 87.0% for the year ended
December 31, 2000. The gross written premium ratio increased during 2000 with the acquisition of The
Centris Group, Inc.’s book of medical stop-loss business and the increasing use of our insurance companies as
the issuing company for business written by our underwriting agencies. This ratio is expected to decrease
slowly from its current level as statutory policyholders’ surplus increases due to the retention of earnings,
capital contributions and other increases in policyholders’ surplus. As of December 31, 2001, each of our
domestic insurance companies’ total adjusted capital was significantly in excess of the authorized control level
risk-based capital level prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.
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Subsequent to the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, where possible, we canceled all terrorist
coverage, to the extent we could, under the terms of existing in-force policies, primarily in the property and
energy lines of business. All new and renewal policies are written with an appropriate terrorist exclusion except
for lines of business, such as aviation, where reinsurance for acts of terrorism is available at an economic cost
or where we feel comfortable with the net exposure.

At January 1, 2002, and February 1, 2002, respectively, our onshore energy and property reinsurance
protections were renewed without coverage for acts of terrorism. Therefore, to the extent that certain existing,
in-force policies contain such coverage, then we would have a net exposure to any applicable losses. The actual
amount of this exposure is not determinable but could represent a catastrophic loss, a risk for which we would
usually purchase reinsurance protection. We do not believe that any loss would severely impact our capital. As
each month goes by, existing in-force policies will expire and the overall exposure continues to reduce
substantially.

Impact of Inflation

QOur operations, like those of other property and casualty insurers, are susceptible to the effects of
inflation, as premiums are established before the ultimate amounts of loss and loss adjustment expense are
known. Although we consider the potential effects of inflation when setting premium rates, for competitive
reasons, such premiums may not fully offset the effects of inflation. However, because the majority of our
business is comprised of lines which have relatively short lead times between the occurrence of an insured
event, reporting of the claims to us and the final settlement of the claims, the effects of inflation are
minimized.

A significant portion of our revenue is related to healthcare insurance and reinsurance products that are
subject to the effects of the underlying inflation of healthcare costs. Such inflation in the costs of healthcare
tends to generate increases in premiums for medical stop-loss coverage, resulting in greater revenue, but aiso
higher claim payments. Inflation may have a negative impact on insurance and reinsurance operations by
causing higher claim settlements than may originally have been estimated without an immediate increase in
premiums to a level necessary to maintain profit margins. We do not specifically provide for inflation when
setting underwriting terms and claim reserves, although we do consider trends. We continually review claim
reserves to assess their adequacy and make necessary adjustments. Also, the market value of our investments
vary depending on economic and market conditions and interest rates. Any significant increase in interest rates
could have a material adverse effect on the market value of our investments. In addition, the interest rate
payable under our $200.0 million bank loan fluctuates with that of the market. Any significant increase in
interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our earnings, depending on the amount borrowed on our
bank facility.

Foreign Exchange Rate Fluctuations

We underwrite risks which are denominated in a number of foreign currencies. As a result, we have
receivables and payables in foreign currencies and we establish and maintain loss reserves with respect to our
insurance policies in their respective currencies. Our net earnings could be impacted by exchange rate
fluctuations affecting these balances. Our principal area of exposure is with respect to fluctuations in the
exchange rate between the major European currencies and the U.S. Dollar. We constantly monitor the
balance between our receivables and payables and loss reserves to mitigate the potential exposure should an
imbalance be expected to exist for other than a short period of time. For the year ended December 31, 2001,
our gain from currency conversion was $0.3 million compared to a loss of $0.3 million in 2000 and a gain of
$0.4 million in 1999.

On a limited basis, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts as a hedge against foreign currency
fluctuations. RML has revenue streams in U.S. Dollars and Canadian Dollars but incurs expenses in British
Pound Sterling (“GBP”). To mitigate the foreign exchange risk, we have entered into foreign currency
forward contracts expiring at staggered times through December, 2002. As of December 31, 2001, we had
forward contracts to sell US $6.0 million for GBP at an average rate of GBP 1.00 equals US $1.43. The
foreign currency forward contracts are used to convert currency at a known rate in an amount which either
approximates or is less than average monthly expenses. Thus, the effect of these transactions is to limit the
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foreign currency exchange risk of the recurring monthly expenses. We utilize these foreign currency forward
contracts strictly as a hedge against existing exposure to foreign currency fluctuations rather than as a form of
speculative or trading investment. The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts December 31, 2001 was
immaterial.

Significant Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted account-
ing principles requires us to make estimates and assumptions when applying our accounting policies. Those of
our accounting policies that we consider to be most significant and the estimates and assumptions we make in
the application of those accounting policies are discussed below.

Earned Premium and Policy Acquisition Costs

All of the property and casualty policies written by our insurance companies qualify as short-duration
contracts as defined by current accounting literature. Written premium, net of reinsurance, is primarily
included in earnings on a pro rata basis over the lives of the related policies. However, for certain types of
business, it is recognized over the period of risk in proportion to the amount of insurance risk provided. Policy
acquisition costs, including commissions, taxes, fees and other direct costs of underwriting policies, less ceding
commissions allowed by reinsurers, including expense allowances, are deferred and charged or credited to
earnings proportionate to the premium earned. Historical and current loss and loss adjustment expense
experience and anticipated investment income are considered in determining premium deficiencies and the
recoverability of deferred policy acquisition costs.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense

Loss and loss adjustment expense payable by our insurance companies is based on estimates of payments
to be made for reported and incurred but not reported losses and anticipated receipts from salvage and
subrogation receipts. All reserves are recorded on an undiscounted basis, except for an immaterial amount of
reserves acquired in a transaction recorded using the purchase method of accounting. Estimates for reported
losses are based on all available information, including reports received from ceding companies on assumed
business. Estimates for incurred but not reported losses are based both on our experience and the industry’s
experience. While we believe that amounts included in our financial statements are adequate, such estimates
may be more or less than the amounts ultimately paid when the claims are settled. We continually review the
estimates with our actuaries and any changes are reflected in the period of change.

Reinsurance Recoverables

We constantly review the collectibility of the reinsurance recoverables of our insurance companies and
record a reserve for uncollectible reinsurance. Qur estimates utilized to calculate the reserve are subject to
change and this could affect the level of the reserve required.

Management Fees and Commission Income

When there is no significant future servicing obligation, management fees and commission income from
our underwriting agencies and intermediaries, respectively, are recognized on the revenue recognition date,
which is the later of the effective date of policy, the date when the premium can be reasonably established, or
the date when substantially all the services relating to the insurance placement have been rendered to the
client. Profit commissions based upon the profitability of business written are recorded as revenue at the end of
each accounting period based upon the respective formula calculation. Such amounts are adjusted should
experience change. When additional services are required, the service revenue is deferred and recognized over
the service period. We also record an allowance for estimated return commissions which may be required to be
paid upon the early termination of policies. These policies are consistent with policies that have become
generally accepted accounting principles for insurance agents and brokers and with Securities and Exchange
Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin Number 101 entitled “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.”
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Deferred Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. We regularly review our deferred tax assets for
recoverability and establish a valuation allowance based on our history of earnings, expectations for future
earnings, taxable income in carry back years and the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary
differences. Although realization is not assured, we believe it is more likely than not that we will be able to
realize the benefit of our deferred tax assets. If there is a material change in the tax laws such that the actual
effective tax rate changes or the time periods within which the underlying temporary differences become
taxable or deductible change, we will need to reevaluate our assumptions which could result in a change in the
valuation allowance required.

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We assess the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could trigger an
impairment review include the following:

» significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
» significant changes in the strategy for our overall business; and
o significant negative industry or economic trends.

When we determine that the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets may not be
recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, we will reduce the carrying value of the asset to estimated fair
value, which is most often based on projected discounted cash flows using a discount rate we determine to be
commensurate with the risk. Utilization of different assumptions to project cash flows and changes in interest
rates could yield different estimates of discounted cash flow and fair value.

Effects of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133 entitled “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” effective January 1, 2001. The cumulative effect adjustment
due to this change in accounting is not material to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. -
Since we utilize derivatives or hedging strategies on a limited basis, we do not expect the adoption of SFAS
No. 133 to be material on an ongoing basis. SFAS No. 141 entitled “Business Combinations” was issued in
June, 2001 and became effective July 1, 2001. SFAS No. 141 requires that all business combinations be
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, which requires that acquisitions be recorded at fair
value as of the date of acquisition. The pooling-of-interests method of accounting allowed under prior
standards, which reflected business combinations using historical financial information, is now prohibited.

SFAS No. 142 entitled “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’ was also issued in June, 2001, in concert
with SFAS No. 141. SFAS No. 142 becomes effective for us on January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 142 requires
goodwill to be tested for impairment at a level referred to as a reporting unit, which could be either our
reportable segments or one level lower than our reportable segments. SFAS No. 142 requires us to perform the
first goodwill impairment test on all reporting units within six months of adoption. The first step is to compare
the fair value with the book value of a reporting unit. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its book
value, the second step will be to calculate the impairment loss, if any. We will recognize any impairment loss
from the initial adoption of SFAS No. 142 as a change in accounting principle. After the initial adoption,
goodwill of a reporting unit will be tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests if an
event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit
below its carrying amount. SFAS No. 142 is not expected to have a material effect on our financial position or
cash flows, but it will impact our results of operations. Based upon our preliminary review of the impact of
SFAS No. 142 to determine the effect, if any, of the initial goodwill impairment testing, we do not believe that
we will have to record an impairment charge. However, we are still in the process of completing the valuations,
so our tentative conclusion could change.
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SFAS No. 142 also requires the discontinuance of the amortization of goodwill effective January 1, 2002
and that goodwill recognized for acquisition which were consummated after July 1, 2001 not be amortized.
Amortization of goodwill charged to operations, net of tax effect, in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $11.0 million,
$11.5 million and $5.5 million, respectively. We did not amortize the goodwill related to our acquisitions
consummated in October, 2001.

SFAS No. 144 entitled “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” was issued in
August, 2001 and will become effective for us on January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144 resolves implementation
issues being experienced under previously existing accounting literature but does not change previous
requirements to (a) recognize an impairment loss if the carrying amount for an asset is not recoverable from
its undiscounted cash flows, and (b) measure the impairment loss as the difference between carrying amount
and fair value of the asset. SFAS No. 144 also retains the basic provisions of discontinued operations found in
previous accounting literature but broadens the separate income statement presentation of discontinued
operations from a reporting segment to a component of the entity which has clearly distinguishable operations
and cash flows. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 144 to have a material effect on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Euro Conversion

On January 1, 1999, certain member countries of the European Union irrevocably fixed the conversion
rates between their national currencies and a common currency, the Euro, which became the common legal
currency of those countries on that date. The participating countries’ former national currencies continued to
serve as legal tender and as denominations of the Euro until January 1, 2002. The conversion to the Euro is
scheduled to be completed on July 1, 2002, when the national currencies will cease to exist. The introduction
of the Euro has not had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

Our principal assets and liabilities are financial instruments which are subject to the market risk of
potential losses from adverse changes in market rates and prices. Our primary market risk exposures are:
interest rate risk on fixed income securities and interest expense on variable rate debt, equity risk on
marketable equity securities, credit risk on reinsurance recoverables and foreign currency exchange rate risk.

To manage the exposures of our investment risks, we generally invest in investment grade securities with
characteristics of duration and liquidity to reflect the underlying characteristics of the insurance liabilities of
our insurance companies. We have not historically used derivatives to manage any of our investment related
market risks.

Caution should be used in evaluating overall market risk from the information below. Actual results could
differ materially from estimates below for a variety of reasons, including, among other things:

> amounts and balances on which the estimates are based are likely to change over time;
= assumptions used in the models may prove to be inaccurate;
» market changes could be different from market changes assumed below; and

o not all factors and balances are taken into account.

Interest Rate Risk

The value of our portfolio of fixed income securities is inversely correlated to changes in the market
interest rates. In addition, some of our fixed income securities have call or prepayment options. This could
subject us to reinvestment risk should interest rates fall or issuers call their securities and we reinvest the
proceeds at lower interest rates. We attempt to mitigate this risk by investing in securities with varied maturity
dates, so that only a portion of the portfolio will mature at any point in time. The fair value of our fixed income
securities as of December 31, 2001 was $525.4 million and was $433.8 million as of December 31, 2000. If
market interest rates were to change 1%, (e.g. from 5% to 6%) the fair value of our fixed income securities
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would change approximately $21.0 million as of December 31, 2001. This compares to change in value of
$17.9 million as of December 31, 2000 for the same 1% change in market interest rates. The change in fair
value was determined using duration modeling assuming no prepayments.

QOur $200.0 million bank loan is subject to variable interest rates. Thus, our interest expense on this loan is
directly correlated to market interest rates. As of December 31, 2000, we had $207.5 million in debt
outstanding under the bank loan. At that debt level, the 1% change in market interest rates (e.g. from 8.0% to
7.0%) would have changed interest expense by $2.1 million. As of December 31, 2001, there was no balance
outstanding under our bank loan and our 2% convertible notes are not subject to interest rate changes.

Equity Risk

Our portfolio of marketable equity securities is subject to equity price risk due to market changes. The
fair value of our marketable equity securities as of December 31, 2001 was $16.6 million, compared to
$6.3 million as of December 31, 2000. The balance at December 31, 2001 includes mutual fund securities with
a value of $12.8 million. These mutual funds are invested heavily in fixed income securities but represent
marketable equity securities for reporting purposes. If the market price of all marketable equity securities were
to change by 10% as of these dates, the fair value of our equity portfolio would have changed $1.7 million as of
December 31, 2001 and $0.6 million as of December 31, 2000.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The table below shows the net amounts of significant foreign currency balances at December 31, 2001
and 2000 converted to U.S. Dollars. It also shows the expected dollar change in fair value that would occur if
exchange rates changed 10% from exchange rates in effect at those times (in thousands):

2001 2000
Hypothetical Hypothetical
U.S. Dollar 10% change in U.S. Deollar 10% change in
Equivalent fair value Equivalent fair value
British Pound Sterling ................. $2,366 $237 $7,486 $749
Canadian Dollar . ..................... 1,651 165 65 7
Euro and 12 national currencies......... 313 31 1,345 135
Cape Verde Escudo ................... 762 76 1,685 169

See Foreign Exchange Rate Fluctuations section contained in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and
Notes (1) and (9) in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and financial statement schedules listed in the accompanying index are filed as
part of this Report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

For information regarding Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant, reference is made to the
Registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2001, and which is incorporated
herein by reference.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

For information regarding Executive Compensation, reference is made to the Registrant’s definitive proxy
statement for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2001, and which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
For information regarding Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management, reference
is made to the Registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2001, and which is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
For information regarding Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, reference is made to the
Registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2001, and which is incorporated
herein by reference.

PART IV

Ttem 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits are filed as part of this Report.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules

The financial statements and financial statement schedules listed in the accompanying index are filed as
part of this Report.

(c) Reports on Form 8-K
On QOctober 10, 2001, we reported on Form 8-K two items:
= Qur announcement as to the status of our two planned acquisitions.

‘= Qur announcement confirming our estimate of our losses from to the September 11 terrorist attacks
and the anticipated impact on our third quarter results.

On November 9, 2001, we reported on Form 8-K our announcement of financial results for the third
quarter of 2001.

On November 13, 2001, we reported on Form 8-K the text materials used to a presentation at an
investors’ conference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC.
{Registrant)

By: /s/ STEPHEN L. WAy
- (Stephen L. Way)
' Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 29, 2002

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/  STEPHEN L. Way Chairman of the Board of Directors March 29, 2002
(Stephen L. Way) and Chief Executive Officer (Principal

Executive Officer)

/s/  FRANK J. BRAMANTI* Director March 29, 2002
(Frank J. Bramanti)

/s/  MAaRvIN P, Busu* Director March 29, 2002
(Marvin P. Bush)

/s/ Patrick B. CoLLINS* Director March 29, 2002
(Patrick B. Collins)

/s/ JaMmes R. CRANE* Director March 29, 2002
(James R. Crane)

/s/ J. ROBERT DICKERSON* Director March 29, 2002
(J. Robert Dickerson)

/s/ EbpwarD H. ErL1s, JR. Director, Senior Vice President and March 29, 2002
(Edward H. Ellis, Jr.) Chief Financial Officer (Chief
Accounting Officer)

[T

/s/  James C. FLAGG, PH.D.* Director March 29, 2002
(James C. Flagg, Ph.D.)

/s/  EbpwiN H. Frank, ITI* Director March 29, 2002
(Edwin H. Frank, III)

53




Name

/s/ ArLAN W. FULKERSON*

(Allan W. Fulkerson)

/s/  WALTER J. Lack*

(Walter J. Lack)

/s/  STEPHEN J. LoCcKwoOD*

(Stephen J. Lockwood)

/s/  JoHN N. MOLBECK, JR.

(John N. Molbeck, Jr.)

/s/  JoHN N. MOLBECK, JR.

John N. Molbeck, Jr.,
Attorney-in-fact

Title

Director

Director

Director and Vice Chairman

Director, President and Chief
Operating Officer
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

(Items denoted by a letter are incorporated by reference to other documents previously filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission as set forth at the end of this index. Items not denoted by a letter are
being filed herewith.)

Exhibit
Number

A3.1 — Bylaws of HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc., as amended.
3.2 — Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of HCC

Insurance Holdings, Inc., filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on July 23, 1996 and
May 21, 1998, respectively.
Al — Specimen of Common Stock Certificate, $1.00 par value, of HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.
€10.1 — Share Purchase Agreement dated January 29, 1999, among HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. and

Gerald Axel, Barry J. Cook, Gary J. Lockett, Christopher F.B. Mays, Mark E. Rattner,
Marshall Rattner, Inc., John Smith and Keith W. Steed.

P10.2 — Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 11, 1999 among HCC Insurance Holdings,
Inc., Merger Sub of Delaware, Inc. and The Centris Group, Inc.

£10.3 — Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of January 19, 2001 among HCC Insurance Holdings,
Inc., HCC Employee Benefits, Inc. and James Scott Schanen, Lisa Rae Schanen, Conor
Schanen gsst, Austin Schanen gsst, Kevin Tolbert and Schanen Consulting Corporation.

F10.4 — Loan Agreement ($300,000,000 Revolving Loan Facility) dated as of December 17, 1999
among HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.; Wells Fargo Bank (Texas), National Association; Bank
of America, N.A.; Bank of New York; Bank One, N.A.; First Union National Bank; and
Dresdner Bank AG, New York and Grand Cayman Branches.

10.5 — Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of August 11, 2000 among HCC Insurance Holdings,
Inc.; Wells Fargo Bank (Texas), National Association; First Union National Bank; Bank of
America, N.A.; The Bank of New York; Bank One, N.A.; and Dresdner Bank AG, New York

and Grand Cayman Branches.

10.6 — Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of June 6, 2001 among HCC Insurance
Holdings, Inc.; Wells Fargo Bank (Texas), National Association; First Union National Bank;
Bank of America, N.A.; and The Bank of New York.

©10.7 — HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. 1994 Nonemployee Director Stock Option Plan.

'10.8 — HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. 1992 Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated.
'10.9 — HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. 1995 Flexible Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.
'10.10 — HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. 1997 Flexible Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.

'10.11 — HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. 1996 Nonemployee Director Stock Cption Plan, as amended and
restated.

10.12 — HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. 2001 Flexible Incentive Plan.

10.13 — Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. 2001

Flexible Incentive Plan.

€10.14 — Employment Agreement effective as of January 1, 1999, between HCC Insurance Holdings,
Inc. and Stephen L. Way.

H10.15 — Employment Agreement effective as of January 5, 2000, between HCC Insurance Holdings,
Inc. and John N. Molbeck, Jr.

£10.16 — Employment Agreement effective as of January 5, 2000, between HCC Insurance Holdings,
Inc. and Benjamin D. Wilcox.

£10.17 — Employment Agreement effective as of January 5, 2000, between HCC Insurance Holdings,
Inc. and Frank J. Bramanti.

10.18 — Employment Agreement effective as of January 1, 2002, between HCC Insurance Holdings,
Inc. and Edward H. Ellis, Jr.
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Exhibit
Number

10.19 — Employment Agreement effective as of October 1, 2000 between HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.
and Christopher L. Martin as amended effective as of January 1, 2002.

12— Statement Regarding Computation of Ratios

21 — Subsidiaries of HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.

23— Consent of Independent Accountants -PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated March 29, 2002.
24  — Powers of Attorney

A Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-48737) filed Cctober 27, 1992.

B Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-61687) filed August 17, 1998.

€ Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 1999.

P Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Schedule 14D-1 Tender Offer
Statement in respect to shares of The Centris Group, Inc. filed October 18, 1999.

* Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2000.

F Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K filed December 20,
1999.

S Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (Registration No. 33-94472) filed July 11, 1995.

" Incorporated by reference to Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2000.

! Incorporated by reference to Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Form 10-X for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1999,

T Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits to HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement for
the May 24, 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed April 26, 2001.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
earnings, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2001
and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1, effective January 1, 2000 the Company changed its method of revenue
recognition for certain contracts as prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101 entitled “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Houston, Texas
March 19, 2002




HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSQOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,

2001 2000
ASSETS
Investments:
Fixed income securities, at market (cost: 2001 $513,674; 2000 $422,821).... $ 525428 $ 433,844
Marketable equity securities, at market (cost: 2001 $16,431; 2000 $8,896) . .. 16,569 6,282
Short-term investments, at cost, which approximates market............... 338,904 263,805
Other investments, at estimated fair value (cost: 2001 $8,007; 2000 $7,182) 7,565 7,182
Total INVESTMENTS . . .o\ v e et et e 888,466 711,113
Cash . 16,891 13,991
Restricted cash and cash investments .. ............. ittt 138,545 101,738
Premium, claims and other receivables . ........ . ... ... . .. . i, 665,965 609,716
Reinsurance recoverables . ........ ... e 899,128 789,412
Ceded unearned Premium . ... ..o e 71,140 114,469
Ceded life and annuity benefits ........ ... ... .. ... 83,013 86,760
Deferred policy acquisition costs .. .......... i 32,071 39,108
Property and equipment, net......... i e 52,486 39,438
Goodwill and intangible @ssets ............ i 328,815 266,015
OthEr ASSETS o .ottt e e e 42,600 18,995
Total aSSets . ... o $3,219,120  $2,790,755
LIABILITIES
Loss and loss adjustment expense payable ......... ... ... ... .. ... ... .... $1,130,748 § 944,117
Life and annuity policy benefits .............. . ... i 83,013 86,760
Reinsurance balances payable. ........ ... oo 88,637 130,746
Unearned premillm .. ...t 179,530 190,550
Deferred ceding cCOmmiSSIONS . . ... ..\ttt e e 16,681 30,013
Premium and claims payable ....... ... ... 717,159 617,847
Notes payable . ... ... e 181,928 212,133
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities............... ... ... ... . ... .. 57,971 47,659
Total labilities .. ... 2,455,667 2,259,825
Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock, $1.00 par value; 250.0 million shares authorized; (shares
issued and outstanding: 2001 61,438; 2000 51,342) ........... ... . ..., 61,438 51,342
Additional paid-in capital ........ ... ... 402,089 196,999
Retained €armnings. . . ... ..ot e 293,426 277,876
Accumulated other comprehensive income. . ..., 6,500 4,713
Total shareholders’ equity . ...... ... i 763,453 530,930
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .......... ... ... ... iun.. $3,219,120  $2,790,755

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSCLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(in thousands, except per share data)

For the years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
REVENUE
Net earned Premillll . ... ..vvvttre ittt et $342,787  $267,647  $141,362
Management fees .......... . 61,795 96,058 90,713
CommiSSION INCOME . . ..t vttt ittt e et e e 43,412 49,886 58,233
Net Investment ICOME . . ...ttt i 39,638 39,836 30,946
Net realized investment gain (loss) ...........o .. 393 (5,321) (4,164)
Other operating income . .......... ... it 17,436 25,497 28,475
Total revenue . . ... oot 505,461 473,603 345,565
EXPENSE
Loss and loss adjustment expense, net .. ........oooneeniinnana.. 267,390 198,470 109,650
Operating expense:
Policy acquisition COStS, Mt .. ... v ottt iia e 27,923 23,743 8,177
Compensation EXPEMSE . .. ..ot v ettt et e 69,762 83,086 79,196
Provision for reinsurance .............. i — —_— 43,462
Other operating eXpense . . .....vut vt 71,119 53,274 53,273
Total operating €Xpemse . . .« ..vvu ittt 168,804 160,103 184,108
Interest CXPeIISE . . ot ittt e 8,884 20,347 12,964
Total expense. . .. . e 445,078 378,920 306,722
Earnings before income tax provision......................... 60,383 94,683 38,843
Income tax provision .......... ... .. i e 30,186 37,202 12,271
Earnings before cumulative effect of accounting change ......... 30,197 57,481 26,572
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of deferred tax effect of
B, 335 e — (2,013) —
Net @armImES . ..o ottt $ 30,197 $ 55468 §$ 26,572
Basic earnings per share data:
Earnings before accounting change........................... $ 052 $ 113 $§ 033
Cumulative effect of accounting change....................... — (0.04) —
NEt CAIMINES . ..ottt ettt it e aes $ 052 $§ 109 § 053
Weighted average shares outstanding . ........................ 58,321 50,742 50,058
Diluted earnings per share data:
Earnings before accounting change........................... $ 051 §$§ 111§ 052
Cumulative effect of accounting change.................... ... — {0.04) —
NEt Carnings .. ...ttt e $ 051 §$§ 107 $ 0.52
Weighted average shares outstanding . ........................ 59,619 51,619 50,646

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Net Carmings . ...ttt e $30,197  $55,468  $26,572
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment. ............ ... .. ... ... ... (279) (172) 167
Gain in fair value of foreign currency forward contracts recorded as a
cash flow hedge, net of income tax charge of $13 ................. 24 — —

Investment gains (losses):

Investment gains (losses) during the year, net of income tax charge
(benefit) of $1,137 in 2001, $2,386 in 2000, and $(8,042) in 1999 2,297 4,118  (15,271)

Less reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses included in net
earnings, net of income tax (charge) benefit of $(138) in 2001,

$1,862 in 2000, and $1,457in 1999 .. ... ... ... ... . o (255) 3,439 2,707
Other comprehensive income (10s8) . ........c. it 1,787 7,405  (12,397)
Comprehensive IDCOMIE . . . ..o\ttt e ettt et ie e $31,984 $62,873 $14,175

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHCLDERS’ EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2060 and 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Accumulated
Additional other Total
Commeon paid-in Retained comprehensive sharcholders’
stock capital earnings  income (loss) equity

Balance as of December 31, 1998 . .................. $49,249 $161,106 $220,370 $ 9,705 $440,430
Net €arnings . .. .ooovroei e — — 26,572 — 26,572
Other comprehensive income (loss) ................. — — — (12,397) (12,397)
506 shares of common stock issued for exercise of

options, including tax benefit of $1,156..... e 506 4,277 — — 4,783
101 shares of common stock issued for purchased _

COMPATIES -« v vttt ettt e ie e e e 101 1,899 — — 2,000
414 shares of common stock contractually issuable in

the future . ... ... .. ... .. — 8,271 — — 8,271
Dividends to shareholders of pooled company prior to

ACQUISILION . . ..ot — — (1,005) — (1,005)
Cash dividends declared, $0.20 per share .......... ... — — (9,733) — (9,733)
Contractual adjustments to previous acquisitions . ...... (20) (190) (272) — (482)
Balance as of December 31, 1999 . .................. 49,836 175,363 235,932 (2,692) 458,439
Net earmings . . ... vttt i — — 55,468 — 55,468
Other comprehensive income . ...................... - — — 7,405 7,405
1,267 shares of common stock issued for exercise of . ‘

options, including tax benefit of $3,627............. 1,266 19,596 — .= 20,862
Issuance of 145 shares of contractually issuable common

SEOCK oo 145 (145) — — —
Issuance of 95 shares of contingently issuable common

STOCK Lo 95 1,145 — — 1,240
Contractual grant of pooled company common stock by

a shareholder prior to acquisition.................. — 1,040 — — 1,040
Dividends to shareholders of pooled company prior to

ACQUISIHON . . ... — — (2,593) — (2,593)
Cash dividends declared, $0.22 per share . ............ — —  (10,931) — (10,931)
Balance as of December 31, 2000 . .................. 51,342 196,999 277,876 4,713 530,930
Netearnings . . ...t — —_ 30,197 — 30,197
Other comprehensive income . ...................... — — — 1,787 1,787
6,900 shares of common stock issued in public offering,

net of CoStS .. ..o 6,900 145,505 — — 152,405
2,715 shares of common stock issued upon exercise of : :

options including income tax benefit of $12,312...... 2,715 50,023 —_ — 52,738
300 shares of common stock issued for purchased

COMPANIES . o .ottt ettt et L 300 8,031 — —_ 8,331
Issuance of 114 shares of contractually issuable common

StoCK .. 114 (114) — — —
Issuance of 67 shares of contingently issuable common

StOCK oot 67 1,645 — — 1,712
Cash dividends declared, $0.245 per share ............ — — (14,647) — (14,647)
Balance as of December 31,2061 ................... $61,438 $402,089 $293,426 $ 6,500 $763,453

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

Cash flows from operating activities:
NeEt CaArMINGS .. v vttt ettt et $ 30,197 $ 55468 $§ 26,572

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Change in premium, claims and other receivables ........... (33,976) 30,501 (92,206)
Change in reinsurance recoverables ....................... (191,552) (52,007)  (284,504)

Change in ceded unearned premium ...................... 28,254 19,188 31,408

Change in loss and loss adjustment expense payable ......... 262,056 72,311 264,360
Change in reinsurance balances payable ................... (29,837) 17,052 (15,098)
Change in unearned premium .............c.ooiueennen .. (1,676) 2,689 (31,138)

Change in premium and claims payable, net of restricted cash 22,530 (20,727) 102,114
Gains on sales of other operating investments............... (8,171) (5,739) (5,523)

Provision for reinsurance ............ ..o, — — 43,462

Depreciation, amortization and impairments ................ 34,926 19,908 13,420
Other, met. ... o (7,011) (820) (9,693)

Cash provided by operating activities . ................... 105,740 137,824 43,174

Cash flows from investing activities:

Sales of fixed income securities. . ......... ... ... 140,763 137,175 131,485

Maturity or call of fixed income securities.................... 45,754 34,341 17,050

Sales of equity securities . .............vuiieiiiiinann... 5,408 7,969 2,886

Dispositions of other operating investments................... 19,965 27,803 . 15,905

Change in short-term investments ...................c....... (43,986) (69,400) (14,935)
Cash paid for companies acquired, net of cash received ........ (95,952) (8,909) (186,923)
Cost of investments acquired.................. e (292,926)  (244,586) (70,736)
Purchase of property and equipment and other................ (12,283) (9,535) (9,114)

Cash used by investing activities........................ (233,257)  (125,142)  (114,382)

Cash flows from financing activities:

i Proceeds from notes payable, net of costs .................... 174,058 26,700 547,000
i Sale of common stock, net of costs ........... ... ... .. ..... 192,831 17,235 3,627
i Payments on notes payable ........ ... ... ... ... ... ... (222,116) (57,042)  (458,600)
] Dividends paid. . ....... .o (14,356) (12,409) (10,226)
Cash provided (used) by financing activities.............. 130,417 (25,516) 81,801
Netchangeincash.......... ... ... .. ... .. ... .... 2,900 (12,834) 10,593

Cash as of beginning of year ........................... 13,991 26,825 16,232

Cashasofendofyear ............. .. .. ... ... .. ... $ 16,891 § 13991 § 26,825

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)

(1) General Information and Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies

HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“we” or “‘our”), include domestic and foreign
property and casualty and life insurance companies, underwriting agencies and intermediaries. Through our
subsidiaries, we provide specialized property and casualty and life and health insurance to commercial
customers in the areas of life, accident and health; general aviation; marine, energy and property; and other
specialty lines of insurance. Our principal insurance companies are Houston Casualty Company in Houston,
Texas, and London, England; HCC Life Insurance Company in Houston, Texas; U.S. Specialty Insurance
Company in Houston, Texas; and Avemco Insurance Company in Frederick, Maryland. Cur underwriting
agencies provide underwriting management and claims servicing for insurance and reinsurance companies, in
specialized lines of business within the life, accident and health and property and casualty areas. Cur principal
agencies are HCC Benefits Corporation in Atlanta, Georgia, Costa Mesa, California, Wakefield, Massachu-
setts, Minneapolis, Minnesota and Dallas, Texas; ASU International, LLC in Woburn, Massachusetts, and
London, England; and Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. in Mount Kisco, New York. Effective January 1,
2001 and 2002, we consolidated the operations of three and one of our agencies, respectively, with certain of
our insurance companies. Our intermediaries provide brokerage, consultmg and other intermediary services to
insurance and reinsurance companies, commercial customers and ifdividuals in the same lines of business as
the insurance companies and underwriting agencies operate. Cur principal intermediaries are HCC In-
termediaries, Inc. in Houston, Texas; HCC Employee Benefits, Inc. in Houston, Texas and Atlanta, Georgia;
and Rattner Mackenzie Limited in London, England. During 2001, we sold the last of our service operations.
Our service companies performed various insurance related services for insurance companies.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions. This affects amounts reported in our financial
statements and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

A description of the significant accounting and reporting policies we utilize in preparing our consolidated
financial statements is as follows:

Principles of Consolidation

Qur consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all our subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Our -consolidated financial
statements have been restated for all periods presented to include the accounts and operations of a group of
companies acquired on January 19, 2001 in a transaction accounted for using the pooling-of-interests method
of accounting. (See Note 2.)

Investments

Fixed income securities and marketable equity securities are classified as available for sale and are carried
at quoted market value, if readily marketable, or at management’s estimated fair value, if not readily
marketable. The change in unrealized gain or loss with respect to these securities is recorded as a component
of other comprehensive income, net of the related deferred income tax effects, if any. Fixed income securities
available for sale are purchased with the original intent to hold to maturity, but they may be available for sale
if market conditions warrant, or if our investment policies dictate, in order to maximize our investment yield.
Short-term investments and restricted short-term investments are carried at cost, which approximates market
value.

For the asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities portion of the fixed income portfolio, we recognize
income using a constant effective yield based on anticipated prepayments and the estimated economic life of
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HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued, in thousands)

the securities. When actual prepayments differ significantly from anticipated prepayments, the estimated
economic life is recalculated and the remaining unamortized premium or discount is amortized prospectively
over the remaining economic life. Some of our asset-backed securities are subject to re-evaluation and
additional specialized impairment tests. Under this guidance, these securities have to be written down in value
if certain tests are met. Any write down is recouped prospectively through net investment income. The total
amount of securities held by us as of December 31, 2001 that would be subject to these tests and potential
write downs is immaterial.

The realized gain or loss on investment transactions is determined on an average cost basis and included
in earnings on the trade date. When impairment of the value of an investment is considered other than
temporary, the decrease in value is reported in earnings as a realized investment loss and a new cost basis is
established.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is
provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Amortization of
leasehold improvements is provided using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life
or the term of the respective lease. Upon disposal of assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are
removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss is included in earnings.

Costs incurred in developing or purchasing management information systems are capitalized and included
in property and equipment. These costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives from the dates the
systems are placed in service.

Earned Premium, Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs and Ceding Commissions

All of the property and casuaity policies written by our insurance companies qualify as short-duration
contracts as defined by current accounting literature. Written premium, net of reinsurance, is primarily
included in earnings on a pro rata basis over the lives of the related policies. However, for certain types of
business, it is recognized over the period of risk in proportion to the amount of insurance risk provided. Policy
acquisition costs, including commissions, taxes, fees and other direct costs of underwriting policies, less ceding
commissions allowed by reinsurers, including expense allowances, are deferred and charged or credited to
earnings proportionate to the premium earned. Historical and current loss and loss adjustment expense
experience and anticipated investment income are considered in determining premium deficiencies and the
recoverability of deferred policy acquisition costs.

Management Fees and Commission Income

When there is no significant future servicing obligation, management fees and commission income from
our underwriting agencies and intermediaries, respectively, are recognized on the revenue recognition date,
which is the later of the effective date of policy, the date when the premium can be reasonably established, or
the date when substantially all the services relating to the insurance placement have been rendered to the
client. Profit commissions based upon the profitability of business written are recorded as revenue at the end of
each accounting period based upon the respective formula calculation. Such amounts are adjusted should
experience change. When additional services are required, the service revenue is deferred and recognized over
the service period. We also record an allowance for estimated return commissions which may be required to be
paid upon the early termination of policies.

Effective January 1, 2000, we changed certain of our revenue recognition methods for our agencies and
intermediaries to agree with guidance contained in Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101 entitled “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” Previously, our agencies and
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intermediaries recognized revenue in conformity with principles that historically had been considered
generally accepted accounting principles for insurance agents and brokers. We had recognized return
commissions when the event occurred that caused the return and accrued a liability for future servicing costs,
when significant, instead of deferring revenue. The after-tax cumulative non-cash charge resulting from the
adoption of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 was $2.0 million. The effect of the change was not material to
earnings before cumulative effect of accounting change for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 or 1999.

Other Operating Revenue

Historically, we have had two primary sources of other operating revenue, which are included in our other
operations segment. The first source is a variety of insurance related services, principally claims adjusting
services. This source is not expected to be significant in future years as our last remaining service subsidiary
was sold in September, 2001. These revenues are recorded when the service is performed. The second source is
income from and gains or losses from the disposition of investments made in this segment. The income is
recognized as earned and the gains or losses from the sale of investments are recognized upon consummation
of a sale transaction.

Premium and Other Receivables

~ We use the gross method for reporting receivables and payables on brokered transactions. We review the
collectibility of our receivables on a current basis and provide an allowance for doubtful accounts if we deem
that there are accounts which are doubtful of collection. The amount of the allowance as of December 31,
2001 and 2000 was $2.8 million and $3.3 million, respectively. Our estimate of the level of the allowance could
change as conditions change in the future.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Payable

Loss and loss adjustment expense payable by our insurance companies is based on estimates of payments
to be made for reported and incurred but not reported losses and anticipated receipts from salvage and
subrogation receipts. Reserves are recorded on an undiscounted basis, except for an immaterial amount of
reserves acquired in a transaction recorded using the purchase method of accounting. Estimates for reported
losses are based on all available information, including reports received from ceding companies on assumed
business. Estimates for incurred but not reported losses are based both on our experience and the industry’s
experience. While we believe that amounts included in our financial statements are adequate, such estimates
may be more or less than the amounts ultimately paid when the claims are settled. We continually review the
estimates with our actuaries and any changes are reflected in the period of the change.

Reinsurance

We record all reinsurance recoverables and ceded unearned premiums as assets and deferred ceding
commissions as a liability. All such amounts are recorded in a manner consistent with the underlying reinsured
contracts. We also record a reserve for uncollectible reinsurance. Our estimates utilized to calculate the
reserve are subject to change and this could affect the level of the reserve required.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In connection with our acquisition of subsidiaries prior to July 1, 2001, accounted for as purchases, the
excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired is being amortized using the straight-line method over
periods from twenty to forty years. Goodwill resulting from acquisitions completed on or after July 1, 2001 is
not being amortized in accordance with new accounting pronouncements. Other identified intangible assets
are amortized over their respective useful lives. Accumulated amortization of goodwill and intangible assets as
of December 31, 2001 and 2000, was $37.9 million and $24.9 million, respectively.

F-9




HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued, in thousands)

Our current accounting policy regarding the assessment of the recoverability of the carrying value of long-
lived assets, including goodwill and other intangibles and property and equipment, is to review the carrying
value of the assets if the facts and circumstances suggest that they may be impaired. If this review indicates
that the carrying value will not be recoverable, as determined based on projected undiscounted future cash
flows, the carrying value is reduced to its estimated fair value. Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets
charged to income for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $13.0 million, $13.0 million
and $6.7 million, respectively. During 2001, we also recorded a charge of $15.0 million for impairment of
goodwill related to an operation being exited.

Cash and Short-term Investments

Cash consists of cash in banks, generally in operating accounts. We classify certificates of deposit,
corporate demand notes receivable, commercial paper and money market funds as short-term investments.
Short-term investments are classified as investments in our consolidated balance sheets as they relate
principally to our investment activities.

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000 we included $189.2 million and $158.3 million, respectively, of certain
fiduciary funds in short-term investments. These are funds held by underwriting agencies or intermediaries for
the benefit of insurance or reinsurance clients. We earn the interest on these funds.

We generally maintain our cash deposits in major banks and invest our short-term investments in
institutional money-market funds and in investment grade commercial paper and repurchase agreements.
These securities typically mature within ninety days and, therefore, bear minimal risk. We have not
experienced any losses on our cash deposits or our short-term investments.

Restricted Cash and Cash Investments

Our agencies withhold premium funds for the payment of claims. These funds are shown as restricted
cash and cash investments in our consolidated balance sheets. The corresponding liability is included within
premium and claims payable in our consolidated balance sheets. These amounts are considered fiduciary funds
and interest earned on these funds accrues to the benefit of the insurance companies for whom the agencies
write business. Therefore, we do not include these amounts as cash in our consolidated statements of cash
flows.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of most foreign subsidiaries and branches is the U.S. Dollar. Assets and liabilities
recorded in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. Dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet
date. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange in effect on the date the
transaction occurs. Transaction gains and losses are recorded in earnings and included in other operating
expenses. Our foreign currency transactions are principally denominated in British Pound Sterling and other
European currencies. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the gain (loss) from currency
conversion was $0.3 million, $(0.3) million and $0.4 million, respectively.

A foreign branch of one subsidiary has a functional currency of Canadian Dollars. The cumulative
translation adjustment, representing the effect of translating this branch’s assets and liabilities into
U.S. Dollars, is included in the foreign currency translation adjustment within accumulated other comprehen-
sive income.

To the extent the foreign exchange forward contracts qualify for hedge accounting treatment, the gain
(immaterial as of December 31, 2001), or loss due to changes in fair value is not recognized in our statement
of earnings until realized, at which time the gain or loss is recognized along with the offsetting loss or gain on
the hedged item. To the extent the foreign currency forward contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting
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treatment, the gain or loss due to changes in fair value is recognized in our consolidated statements of
earnings, but is generally offset by changes in value of the underlying exposure.

Income Tax

We file a consolidated Federal income tax return and include the foreign subsidiaries’ income to the
extent required by law. Deferred income tax is accounted for using the liability method, which reflects the tax
impact of temporary differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
such bases as measured by tax laws and regulations. Due to our history of earnings, expectations for future
earnings and taxable income in carry back years, we expect to be able to fully realize the benefit of our net
deferred tax asset.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the year divided into net earnings. Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding plus the potential common shares outstanding during the year divided into net
earnings. Outstanding common stock options, when dilutive, are considered to be potential common stock for
the purpose of the diluted calculation. The treasury stock method is used to calculate potential common stock
outstanding due to options.

Contingent shares to be issued are included in the earnings per share computation when the underlying
conditions for issuance have been met.

Guarantee Fund and Other Assessments

Certain of our insurance companies are subject to guarantee fund and other assessments in states where
we are licensed. In some cases, the states allow for recoveries of assessments as premium tax offsets, but only
over a period of years. We generally accrue the liability when an insolvency or other event occurs that
indicates a liability exists and the premium on which the assessment will be based has been written. We
recognize an asset for the premium tax offset based on in-force policies. During the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, we incurred a net expense for guarantee fund and other assessments of $4.5 million,
$1.0 million and $0.3 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, accrued guarantee fund and
other assessments were $2.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, and recognized future premium tax offsets
were $0.8 million and $0.0 million, respectively.

Effects of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133 entitled “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” effective January 1, 2001. The cumulative effect adjustment
due to this change in accounting is not material to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Since we utilize HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries derivatives or hedging strategies on a limited
basis, we do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 133 to be material on an ongoing basis.

SFAS No. 141 entitled “Business Combinations” was issued in June, 2001 and became effective July 1,
2001. SFAS No. 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting, which requires that acquisitions be recorded at fair value as of the date of acquisition. The
pooling-of-interests method of accounting allowed under prior standards, which refiected business combina-
tions using historical financial information, is now prohibited.

SFAS No. 142 entitled “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” was also issued in June, 2001, in concert
with SFAS No. 141, SFAS No. 142 becomes effective for us on January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 142 requires
goodwill to be tested for impairment at a level referred to as a reporting unit, which could be either our
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reportable segments or one level lower than our reportable segments. SFAS No. 142 requires us to perform the
first goodwill impairment test on all reporting units within six months of adoption. The first step is to compare
the fair value with the book value of a reporting unit. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its book
value, the second step will be to calculate the impairment loss, if any. We will recognize any impairment loss
from the initial adoption of SFAS No. 142 as a change in accounting principle. After the initial adoption,
goodwill of a reporting unit will be tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests if an
event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit
below its carrying amount. SFAS No. 142 is not expected to have a material effect on our financial position or
cash flows, but it will impact our results of operations. Based upon our preliminary review of the impact of
SFAS No. 142 to determine the effect, if any, of the initial goodwill impairment testing, we do not believe that
we will have to record an impairment charge. However, we are still in the process of completing the valuations,
so our tentative conclusion could change.

SFAS No. 142 also requires the discontinuance of the amortization of goodwill effective January 1, 2002
and that goodwill recognized for acquisitions which were consummated after July 1, 2001 not be amortized.
Amortization of goodwill charged to operations, net of tax effect, in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $11.0 million,
$11.5 million and $5.5 million, respectively. We did not amortize the goodwill related to our acquisitions
consummated in October 2001.

SFAS No. 144 entitled “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” was issued in
August, 2001 and will become effective for us on January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144 resolves implementation
issues being experienced under previously existing accounting literature but does not change previous
requirements to (a) recognize an impairment loss if the carrying amount for an asset is not recoverable from
its undiscounted cash flows, and (b) measure the impairment loss as the difference between carrying amount
and fair value of the asset. SFAS No. 144 also retains the basic provisions of discontinued operations found in
previous accounting literature but broadens the separate income statement presentation of discontinued
operations from a reporting segment to a component of the entity which has clearly distinguishable operations
and cash flows. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 144 to have a material effect on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Unusual Loss Events

During 2001, we experienced three significant gross losses. The largest loss was as a result of the terrorist
attacks on September 11, which produced the biggest loss to our insurance company operations in our history.
Although we had no involvement in the insurance coverages of the airlines involved, we had significant
exposure in our accident and health reinsurance account. Our estimates of ultimate exposure were developed
through a review of policy coverages, consideration of the effect on the estimate if the attacks were considered
multiple events rather than a single event and communications from our clients and producers. We also have
participations in property coverage on the World Trade Center and some of the surrounding buildings. In
addition, we anticipate some claims from other business written in the New York City area. We also received
some reported claims and estimates of losses for others. We have utilized this information together with
known coverage and reinstatement premium information to establish our gross and net losses reserve of
$141.0 million and $35.0 million, respectively. A charge for the net amount has been included in our 2001
consolidated financial statements. We continue to monitor the reserve and believe our estimates to be
reasonable, but they may be subject to adjustment as we receive additional information, which could take
several years to finalize. In addition, we have reviewed the estimated reinsurance recoverables related to this
loss and believe that they are collectible in the normal course of business. Over 95% of the total amount of
reinsurance recoverables from this loss are due from 38 companies and Lloyds’ syndicates, each of which is
rated “A—" or better by either A.M. Best Company, Inc. or Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. The other two
losses were the Petrobras (Brazilian offshore energy production platform) and Total (chemical factory near
Toulouse, France) incidents, which produced gross losses of $55.0 million and $49.0 million, respectively.

F-12




HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Centinued, in thousands)

Because these policies were substantially reinsured, the net losses were not material to our results of
operations. The Petrobras loss was paid during the third quarter of 2001 and all reinsurance recoverables
related to it have been collected. We expect the reinsurance recoverables related to the Total loss to be
collected in due course once the original claim is settled.

Other Information

During 2001, we recorded a charge totaling $37.3 million related to lines of business that we are exiting,
mainly our primary workers’ compensation line of business. The composition of this charge is $18.8 million for
loss and loss adjustment expense, $2.2 million for net policy acquisition costs and $16.3 million for other
operating expense. Included in other operating expense is $15.0 million related to the impairment of goodwill
associated with the primary workers’ compensation line of business. The fair value of this line of business was
calculated based upon the present value of future expected cash flows.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2000 and 1999 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to
conform with the 2001 presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on our shareholders’ equity, net
earnings or cash flows. '

(2) Acquisitions
Pooling-of-Interests

On January 19, 2001, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Schanen Consulting Corporation and
its operating subsidiary, The Schanen Consulting Group, LLC, which provides employee benefit consulting
and retail insurance intermediary services. Consideration given was approximately 1.0 million shares of our
common stock. This business combination has been recorded using the pooling-of-interests method of
accounting. Our consolidated financial statements have been restated to include the accounts and operations
of The Schanen Consulting Group, LLC for all periods presented. The table below shows revenue and net
earnings of the entities being combined for the two years ended December 31, 2000:

2000 1999
Revenue:
Amounts as previously reported . ....... ..o $466,167  $341,871
The Schanen Consulting Group, Inc. .......... ... ... .. ... .... 7,436 3,694
Restated total revenue . . ... .. o $473,603  $345,565
Net earnings:
Amounts as previously reported ... ....... . .. i $ 53,431 § 25,123
The Schanen Consulting Group, Inc. .......... ..., 2,037 1,449
Restated net earnings . ..............ouuiinieuiiuunnanenoin. $ 55468 $ 26,572

Purchase Acquisitions

During 2001, we completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of two specialty underwriting
agencies: ASU International, LLC. and Marshall Rattner, Inc., which is the holding company for Professional
Indemnity Agency, Inc. These business combinations have been recorded using the purchase method of
accounting. The agencies, which were established in 1982 and 1977, respectively, are recognized as leaders in
their respective lines of business and were acquired to expand our agency operations and diversify into new
specialty lines. They both have a long and profitable history, a market leadership position and workforces with
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significant expertise and reputation to justify the goodwill recorded. The results of operations of these
businesses have been included in our consolidated financial statements beginning on the effective date of each
transaction. The following table provides some additional information on these transactions as well as the
acquisitions during 1999 that were recorded using the purchase method of accounting:

Consideration Goodwill
Shares of Goodwill Deductible for
Effective our Goodwill Amortization  Income Tax
Date Common Stock Cash Recognized Period Purposes
ASU International LLC 10/30/2001 — $ 29.2 million $ 23.7 million — Yes
Professional Indemnity
Agency, Inc. 10/22/2001 0.3 million 63.0 million 53.6 million — No
The Centris Group, Inc. 12/31/1999 — 149.5 million  101.9 million 20 Years No
Midwest Stop Loss
Underwriting 01/28/1999 0.1 million 3.0 million 4.8 million 20 Years Yes
Rattner Mackenzie
Limited 01/01/1999 0.4 million 64.6 million 70.8 million 30 Years No

The value of our common stock given as consideration was determined based on closing market price on
the days the acquisitions were completed. In addition, we will pay up to a maximum of $20.4 million with
respect to one of the acquisitions made during 2001 if certain earnings targets are reached during 2002 through
2004. Any such contingent consideration paid will be recorded as an increase to goodwill. We are still in the
process of completing the purchase price allocations for the 2001 acquisitions, as we are still gathering some of
the information needed to make the required calculations. Any subsequent net adjustment will result in a
change to recorded goodwill.

The following table summarizes the combined estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the respective dates of acquisition:

) 2001 1999

Total INVESTMENTS . o o ot e e et e e $ 47,650 $142,794
Premium and other receivables .. ....... ... ... . .. . 30,506 134,167
Reinsurance recoverables .. ....... ... .. — 122,771
Other policy related assets ..........co i — 115,714
Goodwill and intangible assets .............. ... i 83,957 181,721
All Other asSelS . . ..t 33,710 29,813

Total assets acquired .................. ... 195,823 726,980
Loss and loss adjustment expense payable ........................... — 146,233
Premium and claims payable .......... ... ... .. . .. ... 44,883 145,860
Other policy related liabilities. .. ....... ... .. — 156,703
Notes payable . . ... 12,735 25,000
All other labilities . . . ... .. o 37,724 26,029

Total liabilities . .. ... ... . e 95,342 499,825

Net assets acquired .. ......... .. i i, $100,481  $227,155
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Identified intangible assets from the two acquisitions of 2001 consisted of the following:

Average

Value Assigned Amortization Period
Employment and non-compete agreements . ................ $3,222 3 years
Other contractual items .. ....... ...t 3,505 S years
Total identified intangible assets .................. $6,727 4 years

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents information as if the purchase acquisitions
completed during 2001 had occurred at the beginning of each year presented after giving effect to certain
adjustments, including amortization of goodwill and intangible assets, increased interest expense from debt
issued to fund the acquisitions and Federal income taxes. The pro forma summary is for information purposes
only, does not necessarily reflect the actual results that would have occurred, nor is it necessarily indicative of
future results of the combined companies. Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. paid approximately $33.0 mil-
lion in bonuses to employees and related employment taxes immediately prior to the completion of the
acquisition.

For the years ended
December 31,

Unaudited Pro forma Information 2001 2000

REVEIUE oottt e e $546,566  $516,162
Earnings before accounting change ............. ... ... i, 12,475 53,324
Net earnings . . ..o e e [ 12,475 51,311
Basic earnings per share before accounting change .................... 0.21 1.04
Basic earnings per share . ...t e 0.21 1.01
Diluted earnings per share before accounting change ............... ... 0.21 1.03
Diluted earnings pershare ........... ... 0.21 0.99
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(3) Investments

Substantially all of our fixed income securities are investment grade; 98% are rated “A” or better. The
cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized gain or loss and estimated market value of investments in fixed income
and marketable equity securities, all of which are classified as available for sale, are as follows:

Cost or Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gain Loss Value
December 31, 2001:
Marketable equity securities . .......... ... . ool $ 16,431 $ 176 $ (38) $ 16,569
US Treasury seCUrities. . . .....ovvvvereunenneennn, 70,235 1,242 (109) 71,368
Obligations of states, municipalities and political
subdivisions . .. ... .. e 200,790 5,513 (645) 205,658
Corporate fixed income securities. ..................... 140,702 4,999 (416) 145,285
Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities ........... 97,684 1,504 (560) 98,628
Foreign government securities. ................. .. ..., 4,263 226 — 4,489
Total securities. ..............c.oiiiin... $530,105  $13,660 $(1,768) $541,997
December 31, 2000:
Marketable equity securities ............c.oo i $ 8896 § 264 $(2,878) $ 6,282
US Treasury SeCUrti€s. . ... .vvvinern e 71,155 1,482 (23) 72,612
Obligations of states, municipalities and political
subdivisions .. ... ... . e 203,768 5,961 (414) 209,315
Corporate fixed income securities. . .................... 100,881 3,008 (189) 103,700
Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities ........... © 39,722 1,183 (113) 40,792
Foreign government securities. .. ...................... 7,295 132 (2) 7,425
Total securities. . ........... .. .. un.. $431,717 $12,030 $(3,621) $440,126

The amortized cost and estimated market value of fixed income securities at December 31, 2001, by
contractual maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because
borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. The
weighted average life of our asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities is five years.

Estimated

Amortized Market

Cost Value
Duein 1 year or €8s . ..ottt e $ 18,111 § 18,416
Due after 1 year through Syears ..........coo i, 188,642 194,022
Due after 5 years through 10 years ........... ... ... .. ... ........ 91,828 94,184
Due after 10 years through 15 years ........ ... .. ... ... .. ... ..... 75,233 76,721
Due after 15 years .. ... 42,176 43,457
Securities with fixed maturities ........ ... ... i 415,990 426,800
Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities ........... ... ... ... 97,684 98,628
Total fixed income securities .. ...t nen... $513,674  $525,428
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As of December 31, 2001, our insurance companies had deposited fixed income securities with an
amortized cost of approximately $30.4 million (market: $31.2 million) to meet the deposit requirements of
various insurance departments.

All investments in fixed income securities and other investments were income producing for the twelve
months preceding December 31, 2001, except for one security valued at $0.4 million and included in other
investments. The sources of net investment income for the three years ended December 31, 2001, are detailed

below:
2001 2000 1999
Fixed InCOME SECUMIES .. ..ttt $27,234  $22,074  $20,098
Short-term investments ................uiiiriiiinnnnan.. 12,789 18,085 10,928
Marketable equity securities ..............oiiiiiiiiiiny 294 59 36
Other IMVeSTMENtS . . oottt 4 4 —
Total investment inCoOme . ........covrienenenneenn. 40,321 40,222 31,062
Investment eXpense. ... ...t (683) - (386) (116)
Net investment IMCOME . . .. .o v v v e e et $39,638  $39,836  $30,946

Realized pre-tax gain (loss) on the sale or write down of investments is as follows:

Gain Loss Net

For the year ended December 31, 2001:
Fixed income Securities . ... ... ..ottt $3,099  $(1,452) $ 1,647
Marketable EqUILY SECUTILIES ... .ottt en s 1,224 (1,848) (624)
Other investments .. ........ P 145 (773) (630)

Realized gain (10SS) ... .......oovvv... e $4,468  $(4,075) $ 393
For the year ended December 31, 2000: N
Fixed Income SECUITtIES . ... ... v ittt i e $1,173 $§ (970) $§ 203
Marketable equily SECUTIHES . ...\ v eeree e 567 (6,195)  (5,628)
Other INVeSTMENTS . . ... oo e e i 104 — 104

Realized gain (loss)........... .ot .. $1.844  $(7,165) $(5,321)
For the year ended December 31, 1999:
Fixed income Securities ............oouuiiiiiinnniinnrnnn. $1,226  $(1,390) $ (164)
Marketable equity securities ........... ... i 450 (4,391)  (3,941)
Other investments . ... ... e e 120 (179) (59)

Realized gain (loss)........ .. ... i, $1,796  $(5,960) $(4,164)
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Unrealized pre-tax net investment gains (losses) on investments for three years ended December 31,
2001 are as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Fixed income securities .. .............iuiiieneeriniinnnnn. $ 731  $11916  $(19,024)
Marketable equity securities ............. ... 2,752 (91) (3,025)
Strategic operational investments ............. ... .. ... . ... — — 2,900
Other investments . ... ... ... e et (442) — —
Net unrealized investment gain (loss)............... $3,041  $11,825  $(19,149)

(4) Property and Equipment

The following table summarizes property and equipment at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

Estimated
2001 2000 Useful Life
Buildings and improvements . . ........... ... 0., $ 25773 § 19,332 30 to 45 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment ................... 22974 - 17,516 3 to 20 years
Management information systems ................... 40,874 34,078 3 to 10 years
Total property and equipment .............. 89,621 70,926
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . .. ... (37,135)  (31.488)
Property and equipment, met ............... $ 52,486 $ 39,438

Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment was approximately $7.0 million,
$6.9 million and $6.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

(5) Notes Payable

Notes payable as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 are shown in the table below. The estimated fair value
of our 2% convertible notes ($185.9 million at December 31, 2001) is based on its trading market value. For
the remainder of our notes payable, the estimated fair value is based on current rates offered to us for debt
with similar terms and conditions and approximates the carrying value at both balance sheet dates.

2001 2000
2% Convertible NOTES . . . v v v e et $172,500 $ —
Bank facility . .. ..o — 207,500
MoOTtgage note . . ..ot 2,325 —
ACqUISTHION NOTES .. ..ot i e e e 3,365 4,633
Other short-term debt .. .. ... .. .. . 3,738 —
Total motes payable ... ... ... .. i $181,928  $212,133

On August 23, 2001, we issued an aggregate $172.5 million principal amount of 2% Convertible Notes
due 2021 in a public offering. Each $1,000 principal amount of notes is convertible into 31.25 shares of our
common stock, which represents an initial conversion price of $32.00 per share. The initial conversion price is
subject to change under certain conditions. Interest is to be paid by us on March 1 and September 1 each year.
Holders may surrender notes for conversion into shares of our common stock in any calendar quarter if, as of
the last day of the preceding calendar quarter, the closing sale price of our common stock for at least 20
trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the quarter is more
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than 120% (currently $38.40 per share) of the conversion price per share of our common stock on the last
trading day of the quarter. We can redeem the notes for cash at any time on or after September 1, 2006.
Holders of the notes may require us to repurchase the notes on September 1, 2002, 2004, 2006, 2008, 2011 and
2016. If the holders exercise this option, we may choose to pay the purchase price in cash, in shares of our
common stock, or a combination thereof. We paid $4.4 million in underwriting discounts and expenses in
connection with the offering, which are being amortized from the issue date until September 1, 2002. We used
the proceeds from this offering to repay our remaining indebtedness under the bank facility described below,
assist in financing the recent acquisitions, make a $60.0 million capital contribution to our principal insurance
company subsidiary and for general corporate purposes.

On December 17, 1999, we entered into a $300.0 million Revolving Loan Facility with a group of banks.
At our request, the amount available under the facility was reduced to $200.0 million by an amendment on
June 6, 2001. Interest expense for 2001 includes a charge of $0.6 million related to the write off of prepaid loan
fees in connection with the amendment. We can borrow up to the maximum allowed by the facility on a
~ revolving basis until the facility expires on December 17, 2004. Qutstanding advances under the facility bear
interest at agreed upon rates, which ranged between 2.6% and 3.1% at December 31, 2001. The facility is
collateralized in part by the pledge of the stock of Houston Casualty Company and Avemco Insurance
Company, and by the stock of and guarantees entered into by our principal underwriting agencies and
intermediaries. The facility agreement contains certain restrictive covenants, including minimum net worth
requirements, restrictions on certain extraordinary corporate actions, notice requirements for certain material
occurrences and required maintenance of specified financial ratios. We believe that the restrictive covenants
and our obligations that are contained in the facility agreement are typical for financing arrangements
comparable to our facility.

The mortgage note is payable in fixed monthly installments though June 1, 2013 and is collateralized by
the land and building occupied by Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. The stated interest of the mortgage
note is 7.4%. However, the fair value of the note balance was imputed at 4.1% as of the date we acqulred
Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc., based on interest rates offered to us at that time.

The acquisition notes are payable to former owners of Rattner Mackenzie Limited. Most of the
outstanding balance, $2.5 million, is due or callable during 2002, with the remaining balance, $0.9 miilion due
in 2003. Most of the acquisition notes carry no stated interest rate, but were discounted for financial reporting
purposes when the acquisition of Rattner Mackenzie Limited was recorded. The weighted average interest
rate of the acquisition notes as of December 31, 2001 is 6.0%.

The other short-term debt is payable to a former shareholder of Professional Indemnity Agency, Inc. and
was assumed by us upon the completion of the acquisition. The notes are due in two installments totaling
$4.0 million but were recorded at fair value by imputing a 4.1% interest rate.

At December 31, 2001, certain of our subsidiaries maintained revolving lines of credit with a bank in the
combined maximum amount of $20.0 million available through December 17, 2004. Advances under the lines
of credit are limited to amounts required to fund draws, if any, on letters of credit issued by the bank on behalf
of the subsidiaries and short-term direct cash advances. The lines of credit are collateralized by securities
having an aggregate market value of up to $25.0 million, the actual amount of collateral at any one time being
125% of the aggregate amount outstanding. Interest on the lines is payable at the bank’s prime rate of interest
(4.75% at December 31, 2001) for draws on the letters of credit and prime less 1% on short-term cash
advances. As of December 31, 2001, letters of credit totaling $7.1 million had been issued to insurance
companies by the bank on behalf of our subsidiaries, with total securities of $8.9 million collateralizing the
lines.
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(6) Income Tax

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, we had income taxes receivable of $32.0 million and $13.2 million,
respectively, included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. The components of the income tax
provision for the three years ended December 31, 2001 are as follows:

2001 2000 1999
CUITENt . . o e e $35,055 $26,948  $12,963
DEfErTed . . .o v oo e e (4,869) 8919 (692)
Total income tax provision ..................c..nnn $30,186  $35,867  $12,271

The net deferred tax asset is included in other assets in our consolidated balance sheets. The composition
of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, is as follows:

2001 2000
Tax net operating loss carryforwards ................................. $ 15,581 $ 9,698
Excess of financial unearned premium over tax ..............ccovvunn... 6,555 4,919
Effect of loss reserve discounting and salvage and subrogation accrual for tax 9,897 7,434
Excess of financial accrued expenses over tax ............. ... 4918 5,520
Allowance for bad debts, not deductible fortax........................ 2,788 2,484
Foreign branch net operating loss carryforwards ....................... 2,568 1,912
Valuation allowancCe . ... ...ttt i e (10,435)  (9,666)
Total @SSELS . v ot 31,872 22,301
Unrealized gain on increase in value of securities available for sale
(shareholders’ equity) ......... . i 3,717 2,400
Deferred policy acquisition costs, net of ceding commissions, deductible for
L=< 2,256 5,237
Amortizable goodwill . .. ... ... . 5,256 3816
Property and equipment depreciation and other items................... 4,165 4,183
Total labilities .. ..ot 15,394 15,636
Net deferred tax asset. . ... it $ 16,478 $ 6,665

Changes in the valuation allowance account applicable to the net deferred tax asset for the three years
ended December 31, 2001 are as follows:

2001 2060 1999

Balance, beginning of year.......... ... . ... i i $ 9,666 $12,091 $ 50

Increase (decrease) charged (credited) to income............. (536) — 453

Increase (decrease) charged (credited) to capital ............. 1,305 — —
Valuation allowance related to acquired net operating loss

carryforwards . ... ... e — 3,262 11,588
Reduction in valuation allowance resulting from waiver of

previously acquired net operating loss carryforwards. ......... — (5,687) —

Balance, end of year................. ... .. ....... $10,435 $ 9,666 $12,091

As of December 31, 2001, we have Federal tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$30.4 million that will expire in varying amounts through the year 2021. Future use of these carryforwards is

F-20




HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued, in thousands)

subject to statutory limitations due to prior changes of ownership. There are valuation allowances in the
amount of $9.5 million recorded with respect to these loss carryforwards that would reduce goodwill if the
carryforwards are realized. In addition, we have approximately $7.3 million of tax loss carryforwards,
principally from a recently established foreign branch of one of our insurance companies, that can be used only
against future taxable income of the branch. Based upon our history domestically of taxable income in our
insurance and other operations and our projections of future taxable income domestically and in our foreign
branch insurance operations as they mature, we believe it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets
related to our loss carryforwards for which there are no valuation allowances will be realized.

The following table summarizes the differences between our effective tax rate for financial statement
purposes and the Federal statutory rate for the three years ended December 31, 2001:

2001 2000 1999
Statutory tax rate . ...t e 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Federal tax at statutory rate. .........ooviiienineeneneeennns $21,134  $31,967  $13,595
Nontaxable municipal bond interest and dividends received
deduction ... .. . e (3,314) (3,545)  (5,460)
Other non deductible expenses .......... ... oo, 512 620 622
Non deductible goodwill amortization ....................... 7,781 2,497 475
State INCOME tAXES . .ttt et e e et e 3,259 4,202 3,011
Foreign inCOmMEe taXxes ... .. vvivr it eiaans 2,915 1,537 4,793
Foreign tax credit . ....... ... ... it (2,968)  (1,826)  (4,354)
Other, net. ... 867 415 (411)
Income tax provisiom ............ ... .. ... ... . ..., $30,186  $35,867 $12,271

Efective taX TAE. « oo vttt e oo e e e e 50.0% 39.3% 31.6%

(7) Segment and Geographic Data

We have classified our activities into four operating business segments based upon services provided: 1)
insurance company operations, 2) underwriting agency operations, 3) intermediary operations, and 4) other
operations. See Note 1 for a description of the services provided by and the principal subsidiaries included in
our insurance company, underwriting agency and intermediary segments. Our other operations segment
performed various insurance related services and contains insurance related investments made from time to
time. During 2001, we sold the last of our service operations, which will result in a decrease in other operating
income in future years. Corporate includes general corporate operations, and those minor operations not
included in an operating segment. Inter-segment revenue consists primarily of management fees of our
underwriting agency segment, commission income of our intermediary segment and service revenue of our
other operations charged to our insurance company segment on business retained by our insurance companies.
Inter-segment pricing (either flat rate fees or as a percentage premium) approximates what is charged to
unrelated parties for similar services.

The performance of each of our segments is evaluated by our management based upon net earnings. Net
earnings is calculated after tax and after all corporate expense allocations, amortization of goodwill, interest
expense on debt incurred at the purchase date and intercompany eliminations have been charged or credited to
our individual segments. The following tables show information by business segment and geographic location.
Geographic location is determined by physical location of our offices and does not represent the location of
insureds or reinsureds from whom the business was generated.
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All segment information for 2000 and 1999 has been restated to include the accounts and operations of
The Schanen Consulting Group, Inc. in the intermediary segment.

Effective January 1, 2001, we consolidated the operations of three of our underwriting agencies into the
operations of our insurance companies. Policies incepting on or after January 1, 2001, along with associated
expenses, will be reported in our insurance company segment. The administration of all policies incepting
before January 1, 2001, which are now in run off, along with associated expenses, will continue to be reported
in our underwriting agency segment. This consolidation will affect the comparability of segment information
between periods.

Insurance  Underwriting Other
Company Agency Intermediary Operations Corporate Total
For the year ended December 31, 2001:
Revenue:
DomestiC.............oviiin... $330,724  $64,848 $23,518 $14,885  $1,426 $435,401
FOreign .........vvvieveeeinnns 45,098 2,312 22,650 — — 70,060
Inter-segment ................... — 22,619 491 1,967 — 25,077
Total segment revenue.......... $375,822  $89,779 $46,659 $16,852  $1,426 530,538
Inter-segment revenue .. ............ (25,077)
Consolidated total revemue ...... $505,461
Net earnings (loss):
Domestic...............ccov... $ 1,020 $16,075 $ 4382 §$ 7,149 $(979) $ 27,647
Foreign ............. ... ... .. (3,923) 1,137 4,280 — — 1,494
Total segment net
earnings (loss) ............. $ (2,903) $17,212 $ 8,662 § 7,149 $(979) 29,141
Inter-segment eliminations ........ 1,056
Consolidated met earmings....... $ 30,197
Other items:
Net investment income ........... $ 30,766 $ 5,202 $ 2,771 $ 85 § 814 $ 39,638
Depreciation, amortization and
impairments .................. 20,685 9,783 3,723 256 479 34,926
Interest expense ................. 37 5,198 3,534 15 100 8,884
Capital expenditures. ............. 3,049 1,048 1,627 107 6,452 12,283
Income tax provision ............. 2,432 15,604 3,054 3,692 4,756 129,538
Inter-segment eliminations ........ 648
Consolidated income tax provision $ 30,186

During 2001, our insurance company segment recorded two large unusual items: 1) a $22.8 million (net
of income tax) loss due to the terrorist attacks on September 11 and 2} a $29.4 million charge (net of income
tax) related to lines of business being exited. Included in the latter amount, was a $15.0 million charge for the
impairment of goodwill, which is not deductible for income tax purposes. Also during 2001, earnings (loss)
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before income taxes was $60.4 million for our domestic subsidiaries and $(0.1) million for our foreign
subsidiaries and branches.

Insurance  Underwriting Other
Company Agency Intermediary Operations Corporate Total
For the year ended December 31, 2000:
Revenue:
Domestic....................... $276,240  $ 99,808 $31,525 $23,826 $ 1,035 $432,434
Foreign ........... ... ... ... 15,054 4,446 21,669 — — 41,169
Inter-segment ................... — 16,404 345 1,468 — 18,217
Total segment revenue.......... $291,294  $120,658 $53,539 $25,294 $ 1,035 491,820
Inter-segment revenue .............. (18,217)
Consolidated total revenue ... ... $473,603
Net earnings (loss):
Domestic .........oovvviininn.n. $ 27,289 § 20,771 $ 9,846 $ 5960 $(4,710) $ 59,156
Foreign ........................ (3,094) 672 1,366 — — (1,056)
Total segment net earnings (loss) $ 24,195 § 21,443 $11,212 $ 5960 $(4,710) 58,100
Inter-segment eliminations ........ (619)
Cumulative effect of accounting
change ............... ... ..., (2,013)
Consolidated net earnings....... $ 55,468
Other items:
Net investment income .. ......... $ 27,948 § 7,547 $ 3,333 $ 476 $ 530 § 39,836
Depreciation and amortization . . ... 3,662 11,926 3,567 385 368 19,908
Interest expense ................. 103 9,222 4,846 2 6,174 20,347
Restructuring expense . ........... 749 798 (789) 3 — 761
Capital expenditures.............. 3,124 4,651 1,082 219 1,074 10,150
Income tax provision (benefit) ... .. 8,308 20,900 6,402 3,578 (1,604) 37,584
Inter-segment eliminations ........ (382)
Cumulative effect of accounting
change ....................... (1,335)
Consolidated income tax provision $ 35,867

Our insurance company segment increased its policy issuance fees on certain 2000 contracts to reflect
current market conditions, which had the effect of reducing our underwriting agencies’ management fees
$11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, but, as our insurance company segment reduced its net
policy acquisition costs by a like amount, there was no effect to consolidated net income. For 2000, earnings
(loss) before income taxes was $92.7 million for our domestic subsidiaries and $(1.4) million for our foreign
subsidiaries and branches.
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Insurance  Underwriting Other
Company Agency Intermediary Operations Corporate Tetal
For the year ended December 31, 1999:
Revenue:
Domestic....................... $151,044  $91,385 $35,472 $27,364 $ 681 $305,946
Foreign ..........c..vvunaon.. 10,676 3,699 25,244 — — 39,619
Inter-segment ................... — 3,170 594 1,133 — 4,897
Total segment revenue.......... $161,720  $98,254 $61,310  $28,497 $ 681 350,462
Inter-segment revenue . ............. (4,897)
Consolidated total revenue . ..... $345,565
Net earnings (loss):
Domestic............oooviinn.. $ (8,631) $17,129 $10,491 $ 7,643  $(2,279) $ 24,353
Foreign .............ccovvvivnn.. (2,078) 21 4,575 — — 2,518
Total segment net earnings (loss) $(10,709) $17,150 $15,066 3 7,643 $(2,279) 26,871
Inter-segment eliminations .......... (299)
Consolidated net earnings. . ... .. $ 26,572
Other items:
Net investment income ........... $ 23,400 § 4,186 $ 2,504 $ 424 § 432 $ 30,946
Depreciation and amortization . . ... 2,880 5,898 3,798 264 580 13,420
Interest expense ................. 19 3,809 4,640 — 4,496 12,964
Restructuring expense ............ 687 3,278 1,453 — 71 5,489
Capital expenditures.............. 2,405 5,339 148 '585 637 9,114
Income tax provision (benefit) .. ... (13,324) 13,969 8,608 4,454 (1,242) 12,465
Inter-segment eliminations ........ (194)
Consolidated income tax provision $ 12,271

The insurance company segment incurred a provision for reinsurance totaling $28.3 million, net of
income tax, during 1999. Also during 1999, earnings before income taxes was $33.7 million for our domestic
subsidiaries and $5.1 million for our foreign subsidiaries and branches.
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The following tables present revenue by line of business within each of our operating segments for the
three years ended December 31, 2001:

2001 2000 1999
Insurance company:
Life, accident and health .......... ... ... . ... .. .... $186,188  $148,039 $ 50,919
Aviation . ... ... 91,377 73,695 62,784
Marine, energy and property .. ........ ..., 23,748 10,163 12,779
Other specialty lines .. .......... ... .. ... 15,124 14,552 9,072
316,437 246,449 135,554
Exited and discontinued lines of business ............... 26,350 21,198 5,808
Total net earned premimm .......................... $342,787  $267,647  $141,362
Underwriting agency:
Life, accident and health ............ ... ..covviiioin. $ 47,857 $ 70,536 $ 66,127
Property and casualty ............. ... ... i 13,938 25,522 24,586
Total management fees ............................ $ 61,795 $ 96,058 $ 90,713
Intermediary:
Life, accident and health ........... ... .. i, $ 33,739  $ 36,795 $ 39,354
Property and casualty . ...... ... ... i 9,673 13,091 18,879
Total commission INCOME . ........c.ourvrireinn .. $ 43,412 $ 49,886 § 58,233

Assets by business segment and geographic location are shown in the following table:

Insurance Underwriting Other

Company Agency Intermediary Operations Corporate Total
“““ December 31, 2001:
Domestic...................... $1,696,823  $742,739  $ 75,162  $5,790  $32,875 $2,553,389
Foreign ........ ... ... . ... 290,597 36,936 338,198 — — 665,731
Total assets ........oouvun.. $1,987,420 $779,675  $413,360  $5,790  $32,875 $3,219,120
December 31, 2000:
Domestic . ..................... $1,613,412 $582,644  $ 89,836  $6,908  $34,299 $2,327,099
Foreign ............ ... ....... 146,825 37,729 279,102 — — 463,656
Total assets ................ $1,760,237  $620,373  $368,938  $6,908  $34,299 $2,790,755

(8) Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, our insurance companies cede a portion of their premium to non-
affiliated domestic and foreign reinsurers through treaty and facultative reinsurance agreements. Although the
ceding of reinsurance does not discharge the primary insurer from liability to its policyholder, our insurance
companies participate in such agreements for the purpose of limiting their loss exposure, protecting them
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against catastrophic loss and diversifying their business. The following table represents the effect of such
reinsurance transactions on net premium and loss and loss adjustment expense:

Loss and Loss

Written Earned Adjustment
Premium Premium Expense
For the year ended December 31, 2001:
Direct business . .......oviii $783,124  $789,893 $612,455
Reinsurance assumed. . ... i 226,951 218,234 451,390
Reinsurance ceded . ........ .. ... i (637,117) (665,340) (796,455)
Net amoumts . . ... ..ot $372,958  $342,787 $267,390
For the year ended December 31, 2000:
Direct buSIness . .. ..o e $676,730  $663,458 $493,647
: Reinsurance assumed . .. ...... ... 290,727 311,137 279,999
; Reinsurance ceded ....... ... ... ... .. . o L., (683,669) (706,948) (575,176)
] Net amoumS . .. ..ottt et $283,788  $267,647 $198,470
For the year ended December 31, 1999:
Direct business .. ..ot $291,513  $294,130 $261,696
Reinsurance assumed.............. ... ... 276,818 294,103 423,763
Reinsurance ceded .. ..... ... ... .. .. il (428,407) (446,871) (575,809)
Net amOUIES . . o'ttt et e $139,924  $141,362 $109,650

Ceding commissions netted with policy acquisition costs in the consolidated statements of earnings are
$185.2 million, $214.7 million, and $117.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999,
respectively.

The table below represents the composition of reinsurance recoverables in our consolidated balance

sheets:
2001 2000
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses . ............ .. i $ 86,653 $ 99,224
Reinsurance recoverable on outstanding losses . ....................... 414,428 376,778
Reinsurance recoverable on incurred but not reported losses .. .......... 403,223 317,467
Reserve for uncollectible reinsurance.............. ... .. i (5,176) (4,057)
Total reinsurance recoverables . .. ....... ... ... ... ... . .. .. ... $899,128  $789,412

Our insurance companies require reinsurers not authorized by their respective states of domicile to
collateralize their reinsurance obligations to us. The table below shows amounts held by us as collateral plus
other credits available for potential offset as of December 31, 2001 and 2000:

2001 2000
Payables to reinsurers .......... ...t e $199,581  $200,591
Letters of credit . ... ... . 145,796 142,494
Cash deposits ...ttt 14,851 23,813
Total eredits . . .. ... $360,228 ° $366,898
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In order to reduce our exposure to reinsurance credit risk, we evaluate the financial condition of our
reinsurers and place our reinsurance with a diverse group of companies and syndicates, which we believe to be
financially sound. The following table shows reinsurance balances relating to our reinsurers with a net
recoverable balance greater than $15.0 million as of December 31, 2001 and 2000. The total recoverables
column includes paid loss recoverable, outstanding loss recoverable, incurred but not reported losses
recoverable and ceded unearned premium.

Letters of Credit,

Current Total Cash Deposits and

Reinsurer Rating Location Recoverables  Other Payables Net
December 31, 2001:

Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 1101 ......... NR  United Kingdom  $40,913 $1,532 $39,381
Canada Life Assurance Company ........ A+ Canada 28,956 — 28,956
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 1206 ......... C+ United Kingdom 27,251 351 26,900
AXA Corporate Solutions Reinsurance Co. A+ Delaware 26,582 680 25,902
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 2488 .. ... ... A— United Kingdom 25813 1,187 24,626
American Re-Insurance Company........ A++ Delaware 24,674 1,697 22,977
SCOR Reinsurance Company ........... A New York 21,883 — 21,883
American Fidelity Assurance Company ... A+  Oklahoma 19,881 12 19,869
Transatlantic Reinsurance Company ... ... A++ New York 20,543 849 19,694
Federal Insurance Company ............. A++ Indiana 26,902 8,971 17,931
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 0957 ......... NR  United Kingdom 17,653 — 17,653
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 0510 ......... A— United Kingdom 17,647 1,500 16,147
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 0055 ......... NR  United Kingdom 16,168 305 15,863
December 31, 2000:

GE Reinsurance Corporation ............ A++ TIlinois $38,152 $4.881 $33,271
AXA Corporate Solutions Reinsurance Co. A+ Delaware 40,886 9,131 31,755
Underwriters Indemnity Company........ A—  Texas 33,912 2,416 31,496
SCOR Reinsurance Company ........... A New York 28,419 734 27,685
Lloyd’s Syndicate Number 1101 ......... NR  United Kingdom 27,645 1,142 26,503
American Re-Insurance Company........ A++ Delaware 23,487 2,249 21,238
Lioyd’s Syndicate Number 1206 ......... C+ United Kingdom 18,357 147 18,210
Transamerica Occidental Life Insurance Co. A+ California 17,056 151 16,905

Ratings for companies are published by A.M. Best Company, Inc. Ratings for individual syndicates are
published by Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. “INR” indicates that the indicated Lloyd’s syndicate has not
been rated. Lioyd’s of London is an insurance and reinsurance marketplace composed of many independent
underwriting syndicates financially supported by a central trust fund.

HCC Life Insurance Company previously sold its entire block of life insurance and annuity business to
Life Reassurance Corporation of America (rated A++ by A.M. Best Company, Inc.) in the form of an
indemnity reinsurance contract. Ceded life and annuity benefits amounted to $83.0 million and $86.8 million
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

We have a reserve of $5.2 million as of December 31, 2001 for potential collectibility issues related to
reinsurance recoverables and associated expenses. The adverse economic environment in the worldwide
insurance industry and the terrorist attacks on September 11 have placed great pressure on reinsurers and the
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results of their operations. Ultimately, these conditions could affect reinsurers’ solvency. Historically, there
have been insolvencies following a period of competitive pricing in the industry, such as the marketplace has
experienced for the last several years. While we believe that the reserve is adequate based on currently
available information, conditions may change or additional information might be obtained that would affect
our estimate of the adequacy of the level of the reserve and which may result in a future change in the reserve.
We continually review our financial exposure to the reinsurance market and continue to take actions to
mitigate our position.

A number of reinsurers have delayed or suspended the payment of amounts recoverable under certain
reinsurance contracts to which we are a party. Such delays have affected, although not materially to date, the
investment income of our insurance companies, but not to any extent their liquidity. We limit our liquidity
exposure by holding funds, letters of credit or other security such that net balances due are significantly less
than the gross balances shown in our consolidated balance sheets. In some instances, the reinsurers have
withheld payment without reference to a substantive basis for the delay or suspension. In other cases, the
reinsurers have claimed they are not liable for payment to us of all or part of the amounts due under the
applicable reinsurance agreement. We believe these claims are without merit and expect to collect the full
amounts recoverable. We are currently in negotiations with most of these parties, but if such negotiations do
not result in a satisfactory resolution of the matters in question, we may seek or be involved in a judicial or
arbitral determination of these matters. In some cases, the final resolution of such disputes through arbitration
or litigation may extend over several years.

In this regard, as of December 31, 2001, our insurance companies had initiated litigation or arbitration
proceedings against five reinsurers and were involved in one arbitration proceeding initiated by a reinsurer.
These proceedings primarily concern the collection of amounts owing under reinsurance agreements. As of
such date, our insurance companies had an aggregate amount of $15.3 million which had not been paid to us
under the disputed agreements and we estimate that there could be an additional $31.2 million of incurred
losses -and loss expenses under the subject agreements. In addition, because our insurance companies,
principally Houston Casualty Company, participated in facilities which were managed by one of our
underwriting agencies, they are indirectly involved in any reinsurance disputes which affect the applicable
facilities. As of December 31, 2001, Houston Casualty Company’s allocated portion of aggregate amounts
which had not been reimbursed to the applicable facilities under the disputed agreements was $4.8 million and
we estimate that there could be an additional $4.0 million of incurred losses and loss expenses under the
subject agreements allocated to Houston Casualty Company. Houston Casualty Company has no net exposure
on disputed amounts due to the non-affiliated companies who also participated in the applicable facilities.

During 1999, we recorded -a provision for reinsurance totaling $29.5 million in connection with the
insolvency of a reinsurer. We continue to expect this provision to be sufficient. We also recorded a
$14.0 million provision following a commutation (the contractual settlement of outstanding and future
liabilities) with another reinsurer, the majority of which represents the present value discount of ceded losses.

(9) Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

In addition to the matters discussed in Note (8), Reinsurance, we are party to numerous lawsuits and
other proceedings that arise in the normal course of our business. Many of such lawsuits and other proceedings
involve claims under policies that we underwrite as an insurer or reinsurer, the liabilities for which, we believe
have been adequately included in our loss reserves. Also, from time to time, we are party to lawsuits and other
proceedings which relate to disputes over contractual relationships with third parties, or which involve alleged
errors and omissions on the part of our subsidiaries. We believe the resolution of any such lawsuits will not
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Foreign Currvency Forward Contracts

Cn a limited basis, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts as a hedge against foreign currency
fluctuations. Rattner Mackenzie Limited has revenue streams in U.S. Dollars and Canadian Dollars but incurs
expenses in British Pound Sterling (“GBP”). To mitigate the foreign exchange risk, we have entered into
foreign currency forward contracts expiring at staggered times through December, 2002. As of December 31,
2001, we had forward contracts to sell US $6.0 million for GBP at an average rate of GBP 1.00 equals
US $1.43. The foreign currency forward contracts are used to convert currency at a known rate in an amount
which either approximates or is less than average monthly expenses. Thus, the effect of these transactions is to
limit the foreign currency exchange risk of the recurring monthly expenses. We utilize these foreign currency
forward contracts strictly as a hedge against existing exposure to foreign currency fluctuations rather than as a
form of speculative or trading investment. The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts as of
December 31, 2001 was immaterial.

Catastrophe Exposure

We write business in areas exposed to catastrophic losses and have significant exposures to this type of
loss in California, the Atlantic Coast of the United States, certain United States Gulf Coast states, particularly
Florida and Texas, the Caribbean and Mexico. We assess our overall exposures to a single catastrophic event
and apply procedures that we believe are more conservative than are typically used by the industry to ascertain
our probable maximum loss from any single event. We maintain reinsurance protection which we believe is
sufficient to cover any foreseeable event.

Terrovist Exposure

Subsequent to the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, where possible, we canceled all terrorist
coverage, under the terms of existing in-force policies, primarily in the property and energy lines of business.
All new and renewal policies are written with an. appropriate terrorist exclusion except for lines of business,
such as aviation, where reinsurance for acts of terrorism is available at an economic cost or where we feel
comfortable with the net exposure.. .

At January 1, 2002, and February 1, 2002, respectively, our energy and property reinsurance protections
were renewed without coverage for acts of terrorism. Therefore, to the extent that certain existing, in-force
policies contain such coverage, then we would have a net exposure to any applicable losses. The actual amount
of this exposure is not determinable but could represent a catastrophic loss, a risk for which we would usually
purchase reinsurance protection. As each month goes by, existing in-force policies will expire and the overall
exposure continues to reduce substantially. '

Leases

We lease administrative office facilities under long-term non-cancelable operating lease agreements
expiring at various dates through September, 2007. In addition to rent, the agreements generally require the
payment of utilities, real estate taxes, insurance and repairs. We recognize rent expense on a straight-line basis
over the terms of these leases. In addition, we lease computer equipment and automobiles under operating
leases expiring at various dates through the year 2004. Rent expense under operating leases amounted to
$7.1 million, $7.3 million, and $5.9 million, for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999,
respectively.
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At December 31, 2001, future minimum annual rental payments required under long-term, non-
cancelable operating leases, excluding certain expenses payable by us, are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31, Amount Due
20002 e e $ 6,063
20003 6,383
2004 . . 5,358
20005 L e 4,402
2006 . o 2,948
Thereatter ... o e 885

Total future minimum annual rental payments due .......... .. .. ... .. .. ...... $26,639

Loan Guarantee

We guaranteed the mortgage debt of a partnership in which we are a limited partner. The total amount of
the loan is $11.4 million as of December 31, 2001. We invested in the partnership, which owns a building
which is rented to unaffiliated parties, as a long-term investment.

(10) Related Party Transactions

Certain of our Directors are officers, directors or owners of business entities with which we transact
business. Balances with these business entities and other related parties included in our consolidated balance
sheets are as follows:

2001 2000
Marketable equity securities . . ... .. . S — $2,725
Other INVESTMENTS .« ..ottt et ettt e e e e e e e 7,124 7,182
Premiums, claims and other receivables ......... ... .. ... . ... .. .. .. .. .. 776 435

Transactions with these business entities and other related parties included in our consolidated statements
of earnings are as follows:

2001 2000 1599
Management fees. ... ... . e $ %8 § — § —
INVESTMENt INCOME . . . oottt et et e a e — 112 206
Net realized investment gain (losS) . ........ ..o, 53 (5,067)  (4,521)
Other operating income (loss) ...... ... i, (508) 89 5,221
Other operating eXpense ... .........ouiuiiineiiiiarnr e, — 112 28
Interest eXpense .. ...t e 217 74 418

Additionally, we had $15.7 million and $4.6 million payable at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
and sold assets in 2000 for proceeds of $0.6 million to former owners of businesses we have acquired who are
now officers of certain of our subsidiaries. Such payables represent payments due under the terms of the
acquisition agreements or liabilities that existed prior to the acquisitions and the sale of assets was in
accordance with the terms of an acquisition agrement.

We also have entered into an agreement with an entity owned by an officer and Director, pursuant to
which we rent equipment for providing transportation services to our employees, our Directors and our clients.
We provide our own employees to operate the equipment and pay all expenses related to its operation. For the
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years ended Pecember 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, we paid rental of $1.0 million, $0.6 million and $0.9 million,
respectively, to this entity.

We have committed to invest $5.0 million in an investment partnership managed by a company which is
partially owned by a Director. As of December 31, 2001, $4.4 million had been invested under this
commitment. We also committed to invest $5.0 million in another business with which this Director is
affiliated. This investment was funded by us in January, 2002.

(11) Employee Benefit Plans

We have a defined contribution retirement plan under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code
which covers substantially all of our employees residing in the United States who meet specified service
requirements. The contributions are discretionary and are determined by our management as of the beginning
of each calendar year. We currently match each of our employee’s contribution to the 401 (k) plan up to 6% of
the employee’s salary. Employees who reside outside the United States receive comparable benefits under
different plans. We contributed $2.7 million, $3.2 million, and $3.1 million to the plans for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, which is included in compensation expense in our
consolidated statements of earnings.

(12) Shareholders’ Equity

On March 6, 2001, we sold 6.9 million shares of our common stock in a public offering at a price of
$23.35 per share. Net proceeds from the offering amounted to $152.4 million after deducting underwriting
discounts, commissions and offering expenses and were used to pay down our bank facility.

Under the Texas Insurance Code, Houston Casualty Company and U.S. Specialty Insurance Company
must each maintain minimum statutory capital of $1.0 million and minimum statutory surplus of $1.0 million,
and can only pay dividends out of statutory unassigned surplus funds. In addition, they are limited in the
amount of dividends which they may pay in any twelve-month period, without prior regulatory approval, to the
greater of their statutory net income for the prior calendar year or ten percent (10%) of their statutory
policyholders’ surplus as of the prior calendar year end. During 2002, Houston Casualty Company’s ordinary
dividend capacity will be approximately $28.5 million and U.S. Specialty Insurance Company’s ordinary
dividend capacity will be zero.

Avemco Insurance Company is limited by the State of Maryland in the amount of dividends which it
may pay in any twelve-month period, without prior regulatory approval, to the lesser of its statutory net
investment income excluding realized capital gains for the prior calendar year or ten percent (10%) of its
statutory policyholders’ surplus as of the prior year end. During 2002, Avemco Insurance Company’s ordinary
dividend capacity will be approximately $7.2 million.

HCC Life Insurance Company is limited by the laws of the State of Indiana in the amount of dividends it
may pay in any twelve-month period, without prior regulatory approval, to the greater of its net gain from
operations for the prior calendar year or ten percent (10%) of its statutory capital and surplus as of the prior
year end. During 2002, HCC Life Insurance Company’s ordinary dividend capacity will be approximately
$15.1 million.
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The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

Unrealized Accumulated Other

Foreign Currency Unrealized Hedge Investment Comprehensive

Translation Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss) Income (LLoss)
Balance December 31, 1998 ....... ... $(650) $ — $ 10,335 $ 9,705
Net change foryear................. 167 — (12,564) (12,397)
Balance December 31, 1999.......... (483) — (2,209) (2,692)
Net change foryear................. (172) — 7,577 7,405
Balance December 31, 2000.......... (655) — 5,368 4,713
Net change for year................. (279) 24 2,042 1,787
Balance December 31, 2001 .......... $(934) $ 24 $ 7,410 $ 6,500

(13) Stock Options

During 2001, we replaced all previous option plans with our 2001 Flexible Incentive Plan, which is
administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Each option may be used to
purchase one share of our common stock. Options cannot be repriced under the plan. As of December 31,
2001, 5.8 million shares of our common stock were reserved for the exercise of options, of which 3.3 million
shares were reserved for options previously granted and 2.5 million shares were reserved for future issuances of
options. ‘

Options vest over a zero to five year period and expire four to ten years after grant date. All options have
been granted at fixed exercise prices at the market price of our common stock con the grant date. If the fair
value method of valuing compensation related to options would have been used, pro forma net earnings and
pro forma diluted earnings per share would have been $25.8 million, or $0.43 per share, for the year ended
December 31, 2001; $50.8 million, or $0.98 per share, for the year ended December 31, 2000; and
$22.2 million, or $0.44 per share, for the year ended December 31, 1999. The fair value of each option grant
was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes single option pricing model with the- following
weighted average assumptions: a) risk free interest rate of 4.4% for 2001, 6.4% for 2000, and 5.7% for 1999,
b) expected volatility factor of .3, ¢) dividend yield of 0.91% for 2001, 0.89% for 2000, and 1.52% for 1999, and
d) expected option life of five years for 2001 and four years for 2000 and 1999. The average fair value of
options granted during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $7.66, $4.51 and $4.16,
respectively.

The following table provides an analysis of stock option activity during the three years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001:

2001 2000 1999

Average Average Average
Number Exercise Number Exercise Number Exercise

of Shares Price of Shares Price of Shares Price

Outstanding, beginning of year ........... 5494  $15.54 5,470  $16.08 5,460  $16.73
Granted at market value ................ 797 24.54 1,745 13.59 1,869 13.48
Forfeitures and expirations .............. (251) 17.73 (434) 18.32 (1,327) 18.36
Exercised ... (2,735) 15.68 (1,287) 14,34 (532) 7.88
Qutstanding, end of year ................ 3,305 $17.39 5,494 $15.54 5,470 $16.08
Exercisable, end of year................. 1,100 $16.70 2,717 $16.59 2,983 $16.84
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Options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2001 are shown on the following schedule:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Average Average Average
Range of Number of Remaining Exercise Number of Exercise
Exercise Prices Shares Contractual Life Price Shares Price
Under $11.00 .............. ... .. 470 2.8 years $10.52 223 $10.35
$11.00-812.25 ... 834 4.5 12.02 214 12.00
$12.26-820.00 ... ... 788 3.0 16.76 307 16.42
$20.01-$26.00 ....... ... 802 4.5 22.17 306 23.28
Over $26.00. ... ... oo 411 5.8 27.99 50 26.56
Total options .. ..o, 3,305 4.1 years $17.39 1,100 $16.70

(14) Earnings Per Share

The following table provides reconciliation of the denominators used in the eamnings per share
calculations for the three years ended December 31, 2001:

2001 2000 1999

Net earnings .............. S $30,197  $55,468  $26,572
Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding: -
Shares of common stock outstanding at yearend ...................... 61,438 51,342 49,836
Changes in common stock due to issuance .. ... e (3,272) (908) (241)
Contingent shares to be issued ............. e — 39 49
Common stock contractually issuable in the future .................... 155 269 414
Weighted average common stock .outstanding ......................... 58,321 50,742 50,058
Additional dilutive effect of outstanding options (as determined by the

application of the treasury stock method) ......... ... ... . ....... 1,298 877 588

Weighted average common stock and potential common stock outstanding 59,619 51,619 - 50,646

As of December 31, 2001, there were approximately 0.2 million options that were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share because to do so would have been antidilutive.

(15) Statutory Information

Our insurance companies file financial statements prepared in accordance with statutory accounting
practices prescribed or permitted by domestic or foreign insurance regulatory authorities. The differences
between statutory financial statements and financial statements prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles vary between domestic and foreign jurisdictions. The principal differences are
that for statutory financial statements deferred policy acquisition costs are not recognized, only some of the
deferred income tax assets are recorded, bonds are generally carried at amortized cost, certain assets are non-
admitted and charged directly to surplus, a liability for a provision for reinsurance is recorded and charged
directly to surplus, and outstanding losses and unearned premium are presented net of reinsurance. In
addition, under statutory accounting rules, life insurance companies recognize two investment related
liabilities, the asset valuation reserve and interest maintenance reserve. Statutory policyholders’ surplus, and
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net income for the three years ended December 31, 2001, after intercompany eliminations, of our insurance
companies included in those companies’ respective filings with regulatory authorities are as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Statutory policyholders’ surplus. .. ... $401,393  $326,249  $315,474
Statutory net income (1oss) ........ ... 16,555 13,749 (8,707)

Our statutory policyholders’ surplus has been adversely affected by statutory adjustments for reinsurance
recoverables which, although required statutorily, have no effect on net earnings or shareholders’ equity in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our statutory net income for 2001 has been reduced
by $22.8 million (net of income tax) from the September 11 terrorist attacks and $8.1 million (net of income
tax) from charges related to lines of business being exited. Our statutory net loss for 1999 includes a
$25.5 million loss (net of income tax) from the provision for reinsurance.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners adopted Statements of Statutory Accounting
Principles in March, 1998, which became effective on January 1, 2001, through their adoption by the
individual states. The cumulative effect of codification was to increase statutory policyholders’ surplus of our
insurance companies by approximately $8.9 million. Our use of statutory accounting practices prescribed by
state regulatory authorities caused a $3.2 million reduction in statutory surplus as of December 31, 2001
compared to amounts that would have been recorded under the codification rules of the National Association
of Insurance Commissioners. The statutory surplus of each of our insurance companies is significantly in
excess of regulatory risk-based capital requirements.

(16) Supplemental Information

Supplemental cash flow information for the three years ended December 31, 2001, is summarized below:

2001 2000 1999
Interest paid. ... ... o e $ 7,980 $17,418 $13,694
Income tax paid ..... ... e 28,411 11,859 23,116
Dividends declared but not paid at yearend .......................... 3,848 3,557 2,442

The unrealized gain or loss on securities available for sale, deferred taxes related thereto, and the issuance
of our common stock for the purchase of subsidiaries are non-cash transactions which have been included as
direct increases or decreases in our shareholders’ equity. The cumulative effect of accounting change due to
our adoption of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 during 2000 was a non-cash charge to our earnings.
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(17) Liability for Unpaid Less and Less Adjustment Expense

The following table provides a reconciliation of the liability of loss and loss adjustment expense for the
three years ended December 31, 2001:

2001 2000 1999

Reserves for loss and loss adjustment expense at beginning of the

VAT + ottt e e et e e e e $ 944,117  $871,104  $460,511
Less reinsurance recoverables . . ... i 694,245 597,498 341,599
Net reserves at beginning of theyear ........... ... ... ....... 249,872 273,606 118,912
Net reserve adjustments from acquisition and disposition of

SUBSIAIAMIES .. .ot 285 514 55,523
Effect on loss reserves of write off of ceded outstanding and incurred

but not reported reinsurance recoverables...................... —_ — 82,343
Provision for loss and loss adjustment expense for claims occurring in

the current year ...... ... .. . . . 278,103 208,055 105,036
Increase (decrease) in estimated loss and loss adjustment expense

for claims occurring in prior years ..............cooiiiiin... (10,713) (9,585) 4,614
Incurred loss and loss adjustment expense, net of reinsurance. . ... .. 267,390 198,470 109,650
Loss and loss adjustment expense payments for claims occurring

during:
CUITENt YEAT o ot e 102,206 76,725 36,770
PriOr years. .. .. 102,244 145,993 56,052
Loss and loss adjustment expense payments, net of reinsurance ... .. 204,450 222,718 92,822
Net reserves at end of the year .......... ... .. ... ... .. ...... 313,097 249,872 273,606
Plus reinsurance recoverables . .......... it 817,651 694,245 597,498
Reserves for loss and loss adjustment expense at end of the year .... $1,130,748  $944,117  $871,104

During 2001, we had net loss and loss adjustment expense redundancy of $10.7 million relating to prior
year losses compared to a redundancy of $9.6 million in 2000 and a deficiency of $4.6 million in 1999. The
deficiencies and redundancies in the reserves result from our continued review with our actuaries of our loss
reserves and the increase or reduction of such reserves as losses are finally settled and claims exposures are
reduced. We believe we have provided for all material net incurred losses.

We have no material exposure to environmental pollution losses, because Houston Casualty Company
only began writing business in 1981 and its policies normally contain pollution exclusion clauses which limit
pollution coverage to “sudden and accidental” losses only, thus excluding intentional (dumping) and seepage
claims. Policies issued by HCC Life Insurance Company, Avemco Insurance Company and U.S. Specialty
Insurance Company, because of the types of risks covered, are not considered to have significant environmen-
tal exposures. Therefore, we do not expect to experience any material development in reserves for
environmental pollution claims.
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(18) Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000
Total revenue ............... ... $132,192 $110,170 $137,621 $120,539 $120,556 $120,947 $115,092 $121,947

Earnings (loss) before accounting change .. $ 23,837 § 13,135 §$(29,076) $ 17,762 § 20,258 § 13,180 $ 15,178 $ 13,404

Cumulative effect of accounting change . . .. — — — — — — — (2,013)

Net earnings (loss) ..................... $ 23,837 $ 13,135 $(29,076) $ 17,762 §$ 20,258 §$ 13,180 $ 15178 $ 11,391

Basic earnings (loss) per share data:
Earnings (loss) before accounting change .. $§ 039 § 026 $§ (049)$ 035 $ 034 $ 026 $ 028 § 027

Cumulative effect of accounting change .. .. — — — — — — — (0.04)
Earnings (loss) pershare ................ $§ 035 § 026 § (049)$ 035 § 034 § 026 $ 028 $§ 023
Weighted average shares outstanding . ..... 61,021 51,181 59,399 50,739 58,998 50,525 53,720 50,400

Diluted earnings (loss) per share data:
Earnings (loss) before accounting change .. $§ 038 $§ 025 § (049) $ 034 $ 034 $ 026 $ 028 § 026

Cumulative effect of accounting change .. .. — — — — — — — (0.04)
Earnings (loss) pershare ................ $ 038 3§ 025 § (049)$ 034 $ 034 § 026 $ 028 $ 022
Weighted average shares outstanding . ... .. 62,051 52,530 59,399 52,037 60,470 51,083 55,070 50,706

During the fourth quarter of 2000, we recorded a $2.9 million (net of income tax) increase in reserves of
exited lines of business that were part of the 1999 The Centris Group, Inc. acquisition and a $1.0 million (net
of income tax) restructuring expense. During the third quarter of 2001, we recorded two large unusual items:
1) a $22.8 million (net of income tax) loss due to the terrorist attacks on September 11; and 2) a
$29.6 million charge (net of income tax) related to lines of business being exited. Included in the latter
amount was a $15.0 million charge for the impairment of goodwill, which is not deductible for income tax
purposes. The sum of the quarters earnings (loss) per share may not equal the annual amounts due to
rounding.
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Report of Independent Accountants on Financial Statement Schedules

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.:

Cur report on the consolidated financial statements of HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc., which included an
emphasis paragraph related to a change in the Company’s method of revenue recognition for certain contracts,
effective January 1, 2000, is included on page F-1 of this Form 10-K. In connection with our audits of such
financial statements, we have also audited the financial statement schedules listed in Item 14(b) of this
Form 10-K. These financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

In our opinion, these financial statement schedules present fairly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.
/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Houston, Texas
March 19, 2002
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SCHEDULE 1

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC.

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS
OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES
December 31, 2001

Column A Column B Column C Column D

Amount at which
shown in the
Type of investment Cost Value balance sheet

(in thousands)

Fixed maturities:
Bonds — United States government and government agencies

: and authorities . ....... ... . . .. $ 70,235 § 71,368 $ 71,368
. Bonds — states, municipalities and political subdivisions ...... 52,834 53,918 53,918
Bonds —special revenue ... ... vt 147,956 151,740 151,740
E BOndS — COTPOTALE . . ..o\ et e e e et e oo 140,702 145,285 145,285
- Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities ............... 97,684 98,628 98,628
1 Bonds — foreign government .......................o.o.... 4,263 4,489 4,489
Total fixed maturities. ......... ..o 513,674  $525,428 525,428

Equity securities:
Common stocks — banks, trusts and insurance companies . . ... 738§ 700 700
Common stocks — industrial, miscellaneous and all other ... .. 13,057 13,065 13,065
Non-redeemable preferred stocks . ........... ... ... . ..., 2,636 2,804 2,804
Total equity securities . ..., 16,431 §$ 16,569 16,569
Short-term INVEStMents . .. ...ttt 338,904 338,904
Other INVEStMENTS . ..ottt e e e 8,007 7,565
Total ImveStments . . ... ...ttt $877,016 $888,466

S-2




SCHEDULE 2

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

December 31,

2001 2000
ASSETS
Cash oo $ 8719 $ 58
Short-term INVESIMENTS . . ottt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e e 1,497 3,488
Investment in subsIdiaries . . . .. .. oottt e 734,067 616,031
Receivable from subsidiaries. . . ..ottt e 12,754 1,437
Intercompany loans to subsidiaries. ........ ... ... ..o i 190,167 126,325
Deferred Federal Income tax .. ... i e — 1,711
Other ASSEtS .« oot e 5,732 3,974
Total assets ............. S U $952,936  $753,024
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
Notes payable . . ... e $173,198  $207,500
Note payable to related party .. ...t 2,667 4,633
Deferred Federal income tax . ... ..ottt e e 1,652 —
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. .. ...... ... ... i 11,966 9,961
Total Habilities . .. ... .. o e e 189,483 222,094
Total shareholders’ equity . ...... ... .. e 763,453 530,930
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ................ ... ... ..... $952,936 $753,024

See Notes to Condensed Financial Information.
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SCHEDULE 2

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries ......... ... .. ... ... o $37,439  $62,416  $32,397
Interest income from subsidiaries . ......... ... i e 5,019 9,160 4,165
INterest IMCOME . . . oottt e e e e 764 343 146
O1hET INCOMIE . .« o v ittt ettt et et e e et 13 146 73
TOtal TEVEIIUE . « . v ot e et et et e e e e e e e 43,235 72,065 36,781
INEETESt EXPEIISE. . v ot vttt e e et e et e e e e e 8,737 20,249 12,907
Other Operating €XpPemSE . . . . .o ottt 1,600 1,582 266
Total EXPEISE . . ottt t e i 10,337 21,831 13,173
Earnings before income tax benefit. ................ ... ... ... .. 32,898 50,234 23,608
Income tax expense (benefit) ...... ... ... .. i 2,701 (5,234)  (2,964)
Net @AFMIMES . . .\ v vttt ettt e e $30,197  $55,468  $26,572

See Notes to Condensed Financial Information.
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SCHEDULE 2

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Net  arnings . ..o ovviv ettt e e $30,197 $55,468 $ 26,572
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment. ............................ (279) (172) 167
Gain in fair value of subsidiaries’ foreign currency forward contracts
recorded as a hedge, net of income tax charge of $13 ............... 24 — —

Investment gains (losses):
Consolidated subsidiaries’ investment gains (losses) during the year,
net of deferred tax charge (benefit) of, $1,137 in 2001; $2,386 in
2000; and $(8,042) in 1999 .. ... ... 2,297 4,118 (15,271)

Less consolidated subsidiaries’ reclassification adjustments for
(gains) losses included in net earnings, net of deferred tax (charge)

benefit of $(138) in 2001; $1,862 in 2000; and $1,457 in 1999 .. ... © (255) 3,459 2,707
Other comprehensive income (loss) .......... ..o ... 1,787 7,405 (12,397)
Comprehensive ICOME . .. ... ..., $31,984 $62,873 §$ 14,175

See Notes to Condensed Financial Information.
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SCHEDULE 2

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net €aMMINgS - o oo oottt ettt $ 30,197 § 55468 $§ 26,572

Adjustment to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities:

Undistributed net income of subsidiaries ................... . (37,439) (62,416) (32,397)
Change in deferred Federal income tax, net of tax effect of
unrealized gain or loss ........ ... . . . 2,636 (885) 687
Changes in other assets and other....................... . ... (636) (222) 1,768
Amortization and depreciation .......... ... .. ool 2,586 526 513
Increase in accrued interest receivable added to intercompany loan
DalanCES .. i e (835) (5,160) (4,035)
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities ............. 1,181 (5,286) (7,819)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options..................... 12,312 3,628 1,156
Cash provided (used) by operating activities .............. 10,002 (14,347) (13,553)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Sales of other operating investments. . ........................ — 307 —
Cash contributions to subsidiaries............................ (84,151) (1,130) (36,030)
Purchase of subsidiaries . ........... ... .. i i, (96,405)  (10,345)  (201,947)
Change in short-term investments ...................cc.ooo... 1,991 (3,093) 4,144
Cost of investment acquired ......... ... ... ... .. L — — {(2,898)
Change in receivable from subsidiaries ....................... (11,317) 4,403 10,084
Intercompany loans to subsidiaries ........................... (1,275)  (16,509) (27,404)
Payments on intercompany loans to subsidiaries................ 34,674 42,838 66,595
Cash dividends from subsidiaries ............................ 17,255 21,598 93,228
Cash provided (used) by investing activities . . ............. (139,228) 38,069 (94,228)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from note payable, netof costs . ............ .. ... ... 175,401 26,470 547,000
Payments on notes payable ........ ... . ... .. ... il (216,523)  (57,042)  (433,600)
Sale of common stock ... .. . 192,831 17,235 3,627
Dividends paid. . ... ... (13,822)  (10,350) (9,221)
Cash provided (used) by financing activities............... 137,887 (23,687) 107,806
Netchangeincash...... ... ... . o i, 8,661 35 23
Cash as of beginning of year . .............. .. ... ... .. .... 58 23 —
Cashasofend of year........ .. ... ... .. ... . cciveiiin... $ 8,719 § 58 $ 23

See Notes to Condensed Financial Information.
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(1)

(2)

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC,
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The accompanying condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto of HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. and
Subsidiaries. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method. Certain
amounts in the 2000 and 1999 condensed financial information have been reclassified to conform
with the 2001 presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on our shareholders’ equity, net
earnings or cash flows. ‘

Intercompany loans to subsidiaries are demand notes issued primarily to fund the cash portion of
acquisitions. They bear interest at a rate set by management, which approximates the interest rate
charged to us for similar debt. As of December 31, 2001, the interest rate on intercompany loans was
5.0%.
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SCHEDULE 4

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC.

REINSURANCE
(dollars in thousands)

Column A Cofumn B Column C Celumn D Column E Column F
Percent of
Direct Ceded to other Assumed from amount
amount companies other companies Net amount assumed to net

For the year ended December 31,

2001:
Life insurance in force ......... $597,886 $597,310 $ 0 $ 576 0%
Earned premium:
Property and liability insurance .. $284,488 $229,791 $ 95,342 $150,039 64%
Accident and health insurance. . . 505,405 435,549 122,892 192,748 64%
Total ..., $789,893 $665,340 $218,234 $342,787 _64%
For the year ended December 31,
2000:
Life insurance in force ......... $633,988 $633,851 $ 0 $137,000 0%
Earned premium:
Property and liability insurance .. $290,928 $285,020 $ 92,253 $ 98,161 94%
Accident and health insurance... 372,530 421,928 218,884 169,486 129%
Total ......... ... .. $663,458 $706,948 $311,137 $267,647 116%
For the year ended December 31,
1999:
Life insurance in force ......... $832,305 $799,573 $ 0 $ 32,732 0%
Earned premium:
Property and liability insurance .. $230,879 $277,089 $127,495 $ 81,285 157%
Accident and health insurance. . . 63,251 169,782 166,608 60,077 277%
Total ..., $294,130 $446,871 $294,103 $141,362 208%

S-9




SCHEDULE 5

HCC INSURANCE HOLDINGS, INC.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

2001 2000 1999
Reserve for uncollectible reinsurance:
Balance as of beginning of year. ........... ... i i i, $ 4,057 $ 5541 § 2,499
Total provision charged t0 €Xpense . ...........c.oovieiiinninniin.. 1,119 465 43,650
Total amounts written off . ... ... . . . — (1,949)  (40,608)
Balance as of end of year ..... ... ... .. .. i $ 5176 $ 4,057 $ 5,541
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Balance as of beginning of year. ......... ... ... it $3325 $ 1,729 § 284
Acquisitions of subsidiaries ........... .. ... o il 453 — 629
Total provision charged toexpense................. .o i, 2,366 2,815 1,171
Total amounts written off . .. .. P (3,365) (1,219) (353)
Balance as of end of year .. .......oviiiitrt i $ 2779 $3325 $ 1,729
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FINANCIAL REPORTING RESPONSIBILITY

The management of HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc. has the responsibility for the preparation and
fair presentation of its consolidated financial statements and for their integrity and objectivity.
The statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States applied on a consistent basis. The financial statements include amounts that are
based on management’s best estimates and judgments. Management also prepared the annual
report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.

The Company's financial statements have been audited by independent auditors,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as discussed in their report included herein. The independent
auditors have unrestricted access to each member of management in conducting their audit.
Management has made available to the independent auditors all the Company's financial records
and related data, as well as the minutes of shareholders’ and directors’ meetings. Furthermore,
management believes that all representations made to the independent auditors during their
audits were valid and appropriate.

Management of the Company has established and maintains a system of internal control that
provides reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, the
protection of assets from unauthorized use or disposition and the prevention and detection of
fraudulent financial reporting.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed of directors who are not officers of
the Company and who oversee management’s financial reporting responsibilities. The Audit
Committee meets periodically with management, the internal auditors and the independent
auditors regarding accounting policies and procedures, audit results and internal accounting
controls. The internal auditors and the independent auditors have free access to the Audit
Committee, without management's presence, to discuss the scope and results of their audit work.

@y rstec) =

John N. Molbeck, Jr. Edward H. Ellis, Ir.
President and Executive Vice President
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Stephen L. Way’®

Chairman of the Board

and Chief Executive Officer
HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.
Houston, Texas

Frank J. Bramanti?
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HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.
Houston, Texas

Marvin P. Bush "3

President

Winston Capital Management, LLC
McLean, Virginia

(Investment Management Firm)

Patrick B. Collins ?

Partner (retired)
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas

(International Accounting Firm)

James R. Crane '

Chairman of the Board

and Chief Executive Officer

EGL, Inc.

Houston, Texas

(International Freight Forwarder)

]. Robert Dickerson 2
Houston, Texas
(Attorney)

Edward H. Ellis, Jr. 3
Executive Vice President and
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Houston, Texas
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Stephen L. Way
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Chief Executive Officer

HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.
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HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.

Edward H. Ellis, Jr.
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HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.
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Mark A. Buechler
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HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.

Barry J. Cook
Chief Executive Officer
Rattner Mackenzie Limited

Michael ]J. Donovan
Senior Vice President
Aviation Division

Houston Casualty Company

Duane R. Dyckman

Senior Vice President
Claims

Houston Casualty Company

Anthony S. Feasey

Senior Vice President
Accident and Health
Houston Casualty Company

Ricardo A. Gijon
Controller
HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.

Annette J. Goodreau
Chief Actuary
HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.

Susan L. Howie

Executive Vice President
Corporate Services

HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.

Craig ]. Kelbel

Executive Vice President
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HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.

William F. Hubbard
Chief Executive Officer
ASU International, LLC

John N. Kane, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
HCC Benefits Corporation

john L. Kavanaugh

Chief Executive Officer
Houston Casualty Company
London Branch
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Houston Casualty Company
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Michael L. Onslow
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Houston Casualty Company
London Branch

Mark E. Rattner
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HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.
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PRINCIPAL OPERATICNS

Insurance Companies

Houston Casualty Company
13403 Northwest Freeway
Houston, Texas 77040
Telephone: (713) 462-1000
Facsimile: (713) 462-4210

Houston Casualty Company
London Branch

40 Lime Street

London, England EC3M 5BS
Telephone: (0207) 929-3223
Facsimile: (0207) 929-2524

Intermediaries

HCC Employee Benefits, Inc.

5847 San Felipe
Houston, Texas 77057
Telephone:(713) 783-2900
Facsimile: (713) 783-3405

Underwriting Agencies

ASU International, LLC

500 Unicorn Park Drive
Woburn, Massachusetts 01801
Telephone: (781) 994-6000
Facsimile: (781) 994-6001
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Avemco Insurance Company
Frederick Municipal Airport
411 Aviation Way

Frederick, Maryland 21701
Telephone: (301) 694-5700
Facsimile: {301) 694-4242

HCC Life Insurance
Company

13403 Northwest Freeway
Houston, Texas 77040
Telephone: (713) 996-1200
Facsimile: (713) 996-1201

HCC Intermediaries, Inc.
13403 Northwest Freeway
Houston, Texas 77040

Telephone:(713) 690-5000
Facsimile: (713) 690-6688

HCC Benefits Corporation
3 Townpark Commons

225 Townpark Drive
Kennesaw, Georgia 30144
Telephone: (770} 973-9851
Facsimile: (770} 509-1373

HCC Reinsurance Company Ltd.
10 Queen Street

Hamilton HM CX, Bermuda
Telephone: (713) 690-7300
Facsimile: (713) 462-2401

U.S. Specialty Insurance
Company

13403 Northwest Freeway
Houston, Texas 77040
Telephone: (713) 744-3700
Facsimile: (713) 744-3701

Rattner Mackenzie Limited
Walsingham House

35 Seething Lane

London, England EC3N 4AH
Telephone:(0207) 480-5511
Facsimile: {0207) 481-3616

Professional Indemnity
Agency, Inc.

37 Radio Circle Drive

Mount Kisco, New York 10549
Telephone: (914) 241-8900
Facsimile: (914) 241-8098




SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Transfer Agent and Registrar:

Annual Meelting:

Price Range of Common Stock:

WMarket Information:

Dividend [nformation:

First Union National Bank

1525 W. WT Harris Blvd.
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288
(800) 829-8432

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at
8:30a.m. on May 23, 2002 at The Houstonian Hotel,
Houston, Texas.

2001 2000
High Low High Low
First Quarter $2688 $2050 $1500 S11.50
Second Quarter 29.65 23.26 19.69 1094
Third Quarter 2667 21.21 2294  18.69
Fourth Quarter 2920 2515 27.19 1763

HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.’s Common Stock is traded on
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "HCC". As
of March 15, 2002, there were approximately 1,000
shareholders of record of the Company’s Common Stock
and the Company believes there are in excess of 15,000
beneficial owners of its Common Stock.

Dividends declared on the Company’s Common Stock are:

2001 2000 1999
First Quarter 50.06 $0.05 $0.05
Second Quarter 0.06 0.05 0.05
Third Quarter 0.0625 0.06 0.05
Fourth Quarter 0.0625 0.06 0.05
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CORPORATE INFORMATICN

Address:

Auditer

Legal Counsel:

HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc.
13403 Northwest Freeway
Houston, Texas 77040
Telephone: (713) 690-7300
Facsimile: (713) 462-2401
Website:  www.hcch.com

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1201 Louisiana

Houston, Texas 77002
Telephone: (713) 356-4000
Facsimile: (713) 356-4717

Haynes and Boone, LLP
1000 Louisiana

Houston, Texas 77002
Telephone: (713) 547-2000
Facsimile: (713) 547-2600







HCC INsUrRaNCE HOLDINGS, INC.

13403 NORTHWEST FREEWAY
Houston, Trxas 77040-6004
TriFeHONT . 17131 090-7300

www hcch.com




